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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Chinese People
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and all of its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present the Group’s annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2013 to the shareholders.

ANNUAL RESULTS

With the dedication and hard work of the management and our staff,
the results of the Group recorded a steady growth for the year 2012-
2013. The Group contributed a turnover of approximately HK$1.52
billion for the year, representing an increase of approximately HK$0.40
billion as compared to the corresponding period of last year. Loss for
the year amounted to approximately HK$0.40 billion while the profit
for 2012 amounted to approximately HK$0.31 billion. Such loss was
mainly attributable to (i) the substantial impairment loss in respect of
intangible assets — exclusive rights of operation of lottery sales of the
Group as a result of the longer than expected time required for the
development of lottery business in the PRC; and (ii) no other income
such as re-measurement of interest in an associate to fair value on
business combination is recognised in this reporting period. Excluding
impairments and other one-off non-cash items, profit before tax
increase 25.8% to approximately HK$0.14 billion (2012: HK$0.11
billion).

SUMMARY OF THE CHINA'S
ECONOMY AND REVIEW AND
PROSPECT OF THE INDUSTRY

Both domestic and overseas economic situations became increasingly
complicated in 2012. It is a year which China’s economy appeared
to have stabilised from continuous downturn, while it is also a year
full of complications. Since 2012, as the European debt crisis has
been deteriorated persistently, global economic growth has slowed
down substantially. The Chinese government controlled the real estate
market and resolved the financing platform risk proactively, which
resulted in the stronger headwinds for its economic growth. By acting
on the major vision — striving for progress while maintaining stability,
the national economy has shown generally stable momentum of
development in China. According to the “Statistical Report on the
National Economy and Social Development of China 2012" announced
by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the annual GDP of China
for 2012 amounted to approximately RMB51.9322 trillion, representing
an increase of 7.8% as compared to last year.
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NATURAL GAS INDUSTRY

In 2012, the overall natural gas market in China maintained a rapid
growth. The aggregate national production of natural gas was
approximately 106.71 billion m?, representing an increase of 6.7% as
compared to last year. Since the early winter in 2012, low temperature
and snows emerged in a wide range of areas across the nation. The
rate of decrease in temperature and the frequency of snows were
also higher than that of the previous year. In this situation, there was
increased demand on providing warm-air heating, which led to the
fast-paced growth in natural gas consumption in China. In 2012, the
annual gas consumption amounted to approximately 144.57 billion
m3, representing an increase of 12.8% as compared to last year.
Following the development of natural gas industry in China, natural
gas infrastructure has also experienced unprecedented development.
The framework of the nationwide natural gas pipeline network has
been fundamentally formed, the total length of which is approximately
50,000km with deliver capacity of 150 billion m3per year. A
nationwide natural gas pipeline network, which comprises various
connection lines including the No. 1 and 2 West-East Pipeline, the No.
1, 2 and 3 Shaanxi-Beijing Pipeline, Zhongxian-Wuhan Pipeline, Sebei-
Xining-Lanzhou Pipeline, Sichuan-East Transmission, Qinhuangdao-
Sheyang Pipeline, Hebei-Nanjing Pipeline and Huai-Wu Pipeline as
the main framework, has been basically formed. In addition, the
productions of Sino-Burma Pipeline, Zhong-Gui Pipeline, Hong Kong
Extension, Nanning Extension and Shanghai Extension of No. 2 West-
East Pipeline have duly commenced. The local pipeline networks in
Guangxi, Jiangxi, Shandong and the northeast are also well in progress.
The natural gas pipeline network will cover Guangxi, Yunnan, Fujian
and Hong Kong in the near future and the scope of the market will
further expand. The construction work of the No. 3 West-East Pipeline
was commenced on 16 October 2012. It will deliver 30 billion m* of
natural gas annually to the markets along the pipeline and will increase
the share of natural gas in primary energy consumption in China by
1%. It will further promote the development of natural gas market.

To guide and support the solid and effective development of natural
gas industry in China, the Chinese government and government
authorities issued programmatic and guiding documents such as
“the "Twelfth Five-Year” Plan on Urban Gas Development in China”,
“the Natural Gas Utilising Policy”, “the "Twelfth Five Year” Plan for
Natural Gas Development”, “the “Twelfth Five Year” Plan for Energy
Development” and “the China’s Energy Policy (2012)" white paper.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

NATU RAL GAS I N D U STRY(C0/7z‘/m/ed)

According to the plan of the Chinese government, during the “Twelfth
Five Year” period, the exploration and development works in the four
major gas production areas, being Ordos Basin, Sichuan Basin, Tarim
Basin and South China Sea, will be intensified in order to strengthen
the national resource foundation. It will also strive for forming four
large scale natural gas production areas of annual production over 20
billion m* at the end of the “Twelfth Five Year” period. It is estimated
that over 40,000 km of natural gas pipeline will be newly constructed
and will increase new trunk pipeline transportation capacity of
approximately 150 billion m? per year; approximately 20 billion m? of
new gas storage tanks, representing 9.0% of the total natural gas
consumption in 2015; The storage capacity for emergency needs and
peak shaving will reach 1.5 billion m3. It is estimated that the annual
average growth rate of natural gas consumption in China will exceed
20 billion m? and natural gas consumption in China will reach 230
billion m? in 2015. Regarding the gas penetration, by 2015, urban
population in China to consume natural gas will reach approximately
250 million population, representing 18.0% of the total population.
The share of natural gas in primary energy consumption will increase
from 4.6% to 7.5%. To enhance efficiency, during the “Twelfth Five
Year” period, 1,000 natural gas diversified energy demonstrating
projects and 10 diversified energy demonstrating areas will be
established.

LPG INDUSTRY

LPG (including but not limited to liquefied petroleum gas (LPG);
Butane; Propane; DME and other clean energy) is less polluting, easy to
transport and is extensively used in various aspects and therefore has
been significant in the market. With the rapid development of natural
gas, the LPG market in China is growing continuously at the same
time. Among that, In 2012, the national consumption of LPG reached
approximately 24.40 million tons, representing a slight increase of
1.2% as compared to 2011, of which 3.36 million tons were imported,
representing a decrease of 1.5% as compared to last year; national
production reached 22.30 million tons, representing an increase of 2%
as compared to last year; 1.26 million tons were imported, representing
an increase of 7.7% as compared to last year.

FRERERAT

4 2012-2013% %

BEPBEBRFNEE [+ -7 SRS 450
ZETE M )| & BB ARF IR SEEH AR
EHEREIE SEERER B[+=2H] KX
SHEUE A PO B F B 2200183 75 K A By KA R AR
REER -EAREEREEAREHBHAIER
B oIRGB B 41,5008 K, F 2R
ERETIIFREMRB200EN HKAL 49152015
FRARHEEHLRENI0% WM EZMALEER
BENEENSE A K - BRI P B F YLK ARTHE
BEEBIE2008 7K - 22015 Z F2,3001E37
FoKeFERARENERTE 220154 3 B A
BHAATARAOBRELER2E HIELEA
O0/18.0%  AARMGEE — KR EELERE
M4 6%IRSHN7.5% - HIRSERHE
[+—F ] BRI 241,000 X AR D B ER R
#I8 B A101E 2 B A TR 7= i [@ 15 -

RIERATEE

BER (BREETERBEABRR A T E&
CHRBREFRER) SR BRI FAEE
Bz BEEEMNMBMA ERATAREREN
B ZERCEKTMSHETEK R EFH - 2012
F2EREAMTHEE 42,4408 1 - £2011F
WIBR1.2% o ErhyE 133685 0E - At 2% 181.5%
NES2,23081 FALIBRE2.0%: H 01268
W - [EILEIE AN7.7% ©



LPG I N D U STRY(Com/nued)

Although there are various substitutes for LPG, the rapid growth of
China’s economy will contribute to the enormous demand for energy.
Accordingly, shortage of energy supply will still exist. A huge room of
development for LPG is determined by the diversification of energy and
the needs for complement among energies. The Chinese LPG market
has long been in line with the international market. Following the
natural gas price reform introduced by the government, the difference
between natural gas price and LPG price will continuously be narrowing
in the future. This will be advantageous for LPG to participate in market
competition. On the other hand, the development of natural gas is
restricted by transmission pipelines and resource supply amount, LPG
enjoys a large market scale in medium and small towns, large scale
rural areas and city borders where natural gas pipelines cannot be
reached. With the urbanisation progress of China, the demand for
LPG will also be increasing continuously. As the demand for LPG is
increasing, gas enterprises are also gradually improving infrastructure.
Therefore, the potential of growth in LPG demand will be substantial.

Therefore, the Group will take the full advantages, seize the
opportunity and improve the LPG industry chain, so as to enhance its
influence on the LPG market and promote the sustainable development
of the LPG market.

LOTTERY INDUSTRY

2012 is a transitional year for welfare lottery in China. Sales of all types
of lottery boosted and reached a record high. The national lottery sales
reached approximately RMB261.524 billion, representing an increase
of approximately RMB39.942 billion or 18.0% as compared to last
year. Among this, the sales of welfare lottery organisations amounted
to approximately RMB151.032 billion, representing an increase of
approximately RMB23.235 billion or 18.2% as compared to last year.
Leveraging the opportunities arising from the fast-growing lottery
market in China, the Group will proactively accelerate the development
of its lottery business.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

LOTTE RY I N D U STRY(Com‘/nued)

Looking forward to 2013, China will continue to execute the "Twelfth
Five Year” Plan intensively. With the lead of the new leaders, it is
expected that the rapid growth momentum in China’s economy
will continue. Apart from ensuring the former development of its
existing business, the Group will fully take its own advantages and
facilitate comprehensive development across all the business segments.
Dedicating its contribution for the national welfare, environmental
protection and energy undertakings, the Group aimed to maximise
the long-term benefits for its shareholders, customers, employees, the
society and enterprise.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby gratefully acknowledge the staunch
support of all the shareholders and the community over the year.

Mr. Yang Songsheng
Chairman
Shenzhen, 24 July 2013
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEEIERE S

For the year ended 31 March 2013, under the leadership of the
Directors and management of the Group, all of our staff executed the
development strategies of the Group proactively and unswervingly and
worked through some difficulties, thus successfully completing various

tasks for the year.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BB RE
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B TAR(ERS -

For the year ended 31 March

Items EHE HZE3A31BLLEE
2013 2012 25
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT T BT T BT T
Turnover: EHERE:
Provision of piped Gas Fuel 1 JEE BN AETS 927,385 787,951 139,434
Transportation, distribution and bottled & - 7 MR E TSR
retail of LPG RER 589,351 330,619 258,732
Lottery agency TERIBER 2,153 432 1,721
Total A&t 1,518,889 1,119,002 399,887
Segment results: DEBHEE
Provision of piped Gas Fuel ﬁif%‘?u@fﬁiiﬂ 172,513 134,095 38,418
Transportation, distribution and B DHEHIAEZTERL
bottled retail of LPG RE 28,458 12,732 15,726
Lottery agency HENREEY (844,686) (29,518) (815,168)
Total A&t (643,715) 117,309 (761,024)
Re-measurement of interest in an REBEHEHEEE RG]
associate to fair value on business BRIEARBENTE
combination - 235,663 (235,663)
Fair value change of contingent HAREZ
consideration NhEE 74,154 - 74,154
Bargain purchase gain for acquisition of UK B HEEHI T 2
jointly controlled entities B U Y s 27,441 - 27,441
Other income and expenses (net) HEeWARMEZ CF8E) (622) (3,816) 3,194
(Loss) profit before tax BREAT (&) & A (542,742) 349,156 (891,898)
(Loss) profit attributable to owners of RARVEE ANEWL (EBE)
the Company i A (421,502) 296,815 (718,317)
(Loss) earnings per share Sk (FE1E) BT
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) HEAREE (BB (7.25) 5.84 (13.09)
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Management Discussion

m N AT
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)

ERE 2

and Analysis

For the year ended 31 March

Items |HE BE3R831BLEE
2013 2012 25
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T

(Loss) profit before tax BRELAT (BB &N (542,742) 349,156 (891,898)
Adjustments for: MTHIEEER TR
Re-measurement of interest in an R EBEE O

associate to fair value on /NS o 3

business combination BARBEENTE = (235,663) 235,663
Fair value change of contingent HAREBZ

consideration NREE (74,154) = (74,154)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of B REFEERRZ

intangible assets WA EE 740,538 - 740,538
Impairment loss recognised in respect of & %t 2R 2B EE B

goodwill 41,301 - 41,301
Impairment loss recognised in respect of EM¥WE BB LR EERZ

property, plant and equipment VERIEN SR 5,243 - 5,243
Bargain purchase gain for acquisition of U B8 H EHEHI T EE 2

jointly controlled entities Bl e (27,441) - (27.441)
Profit before tax excluded BRA N —RMEFER £ HE Al

one-off non-cash items S A 142,745 113,493 29,252
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

2] oh
=EFE
For the year ended
31 March
HZE3A3MBLEE Growth  Growth rate
38R LI
Items HE 2013 2012 R (%)
No. of projects BEE#HE (@)
Piped Gas Fuel(note 1) BEMEER (K1) 40 39 1 2.56
LPG &AL R IE B 20 20 - -
Lottery (note 2) FRIER (MF2) 4 2 2 100.00
Others (note 3) He (ME3) 2 2 - -
Total no. of projects THE 8% 66 63 3 4.76
No. of connected customers for the MEHAEERP
reporting period
Household (unit) ERAR(F) 98,266 88,620 9,646 10.88
Commercial & industrial (unit) IE¥RF(F) 756 449 307 68.37
Total no. of connected customers (unit) BEEEAFEE(F) 99,022 89,069 9,953 11.17
Accumulated no. of connected customers Z:t T EE AP
Household (unit) ERAF(F) 563,476 465,210 98,266 21.12
Commercial & industrial (unit) IEERF (P) 4,067 3,311 756 22.83
Accumulated no. of connected ZHEERBAPEH
customers (unit) (F) 567,543 468,521 99,022 21.14
Sales of piped Gas Fuel EEMAEEE
(10,000 m?) (B HXK)
Household ERAP 5,896 5,072 824 16.25
Commercial & industrial IHERF 24,273 21,518 2,755 12.80
Total sales of piped Gas Fuel EEMRRBEHES 30,169 26,590 3,579 13.46
Sales of LPG (tons) BILREES (BE) 95,509 36,993 58,516 158.18
No. of lottery stations/lottery FEEERE R
betting stores B 79 22 57 259.10

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEF W R

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS (continvea)

Notes:

1. New piped Gas Fuel projects, Datian An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.("Datian An
Ran") was added as compared with the corresponding period of last year
(Please refer to the section headed “New Projects During the Reporting
Period” for details);

2. New lottery projects, Shenzhen Cai Cai Le Electronic Entertainment
Technology Development Ltd (“Cai Cai Le”) and Shenzhen Le Cai
Technology Development Co. Ltd., Guizhou branch (“Shenzhen Le Cai
Guizhou Branch”) were added as compared with the corresponding
period of last year. Two other lottery projects refer to “Shenzhen Le Cai”
and “Shenzhen Jin Cai”;

3. Other projects refer to “Huaihua Gas Appliances” and “Yan Bian

Zhongmin”; and

4. Operation statistics are calculated according to the entire interest of the
projects.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Provision of piped Gas Fuel business

Being the major business of the Group, the provision of piped Gas
Fuel is our major income source. During the reporting period, through
the development, construction and maintenance of urban piped Gas
Fuel network, the Group has always been dedicated to supply piped
Gas Fuel to the vast urban household and industrial & commercial
customers. The Group also strengthened the safety management
on piped Gas Fuel supply and further optimised the process of gas
construction management in order to enhance overall construction
efficiency. During this financial year, the Group achieved a rapid
development progress in expanding its customer base and increasing its
coverage of piped Gas Fuel.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group achieved piped
Gas Fuel sales exceeding 300.00 million cubic meters (“m3") to
301.69 million m? in total, representing a growth of 13.46% over
the corresponding period of last year. Among the total sales, 58.96
million m*® were made to the household customers, which represented
a growth of 16.25% over the corresponding period of last year, and
242.73 million m* were made to the industrial & commercial customers,
which represented a growth of 12.80% over the corresponding period
of last year. A comparison of the Group's sales of piped Gas Fuel
among 2011 to 2013 is shown in Graph 1.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)
3 ACI)-E00

Provision of piped Gas Fuel business (Continued)

HEEERRER (7

Graph 1: Comparison of sales of piped Gas Fuel for the latest 3 years
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During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group had an addition
98,266 units of household customers and 756 units of commercial &
industrial customers. As at the end of the reporting period, the Group
had an accumulated number of connected household customers of
563,476 units and commercial & industrial customers of 4,067 units,
representing an increase of 21.12% and 22.83% respectively as
compared to the corresponding period of last year. A comparison of
the accumulated number of connected customers of the Group among
2011 to 2013 is shown in Graph 2.

Financial Year
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENW&R D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Provision of piped Gas Fuel business (Continued)

HEEERRER &)

Graph 2:  Comparison of accumulated number of connected units for the latest 3 years
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During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group recorded an
income of approximately HK$927,385,000 from the provision of
piped Gas Fuel, representing a growth of 17.70% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year, accounting for approximately
61.06% of the Group’s annual turnover. Gross profit margin
maintained at around 30% to 33%.

Transportation, distribution and bottled retail of
liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") business

The business of transportation, distribution, and bottled retail of LPG
(including but not limited to LPG; Butane; Propane; DME and other
clean energy) has achieved swift development and become one of the
principal businesses of the Group. During the reporting period, the
Group further standardised the technical regulations and management
standard of LPG companies, proactively promoted the construction of
informisation management platform of LPG companies and has been
continuously strengthening its partnership with upper stream resource
corporations. These actions will undoubtedly boost the development of
Group's LPG business and lay out a foundation for the enhancement of
the Group’s management level and core competitiveness.

FRERERAT

12 2012-2013% %

ZEERIEERP

HZE2013F3A31HEFE AEERETERT
EBEHUWA LB 927,385,000t B = F A H
BRI17.70% HETBERRABRAGAEE2FZE
K FEX61.06% ° EF XL HE30%E33% .2 °

BEw 7 &GRARFERER ([R1L
Rl =%

AEEOER DEREETERLER (RFEF
BRECABR Ak TRE-FHEERER)
EBBETRERR ZEBEXATEENEE
¥Rz — AREHN AREE—SH— TR
RIAE DA RITR B E BIRE  REHE R
FEABDAAMEERT AR WA NSRS E
HEREEEIE ZEREBANREREER
EREBORR  BRASEBERIENL LB
FHBEETER:



BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Transportation, distribution and bottled retail of
liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") business (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2013, sales of LPG by the Group
reached 95,509 tons in total. The Group realised a total income
from sales of LPG of approximately HK$589,351,000, representing
an increase of 78.26% over the corresponding period of last year.
Income from the transportation, distribution and bottled retail of LPG
accounted for approximately 38.80% of the Group’s annual turnover.
A comparison of the Group's sales of LPG between 2011 to 2013 is
shown in Graph 3.
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Graph 3: Comparison of sales of LPG for the latest 3 years
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Lottery agency business

Shenzhen Le Cai Technology Development Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Le Cai”) is a company invested and established in Shenzhen, the
PRC, which exclusively engaged in the lottery related businesses. In
particular, Shenzhen Le Cai is principally engaged in the commissioned
sales of “Keno Games Lottery” (TR£4% ) and China Welfare Lottery
(including but not limited to “Shenzhen Feng Cai” CEIIAR),
“Shuang Se Qiu”" (& @Ek), "Qi Le Cai"(£%£F) and “3D" etc.). As
at the end of the reporting period, Shenzhen Le Cai was operating
76 lottery betting branches and 3 betting stations in Shenzhen; and
was contemplating to continuously expand its distribution points in
Shenzhen and explore the new markets in Guizhou Province.
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B USI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Lottery agency business (Continued)

It was the expectation of the management that lottery agency business
would be an important revenue source of the Group. However, the
Group's lottery agency business is not performed as planned which
was mainly due to, including among others, (i) the growth rate of
the nationwide welfare lottery sales in 2012 has slowed down from
approximately 32% in 2011 to approximately 18% in 2012, while
the average growth rate during the period from 2008 to 2012 was
approximately 26%, according to the statistics published by the
Ministry of Finance of China; and (ii) Shenzhen Le Cai expected that
the lottery betting stores ()£ 3k) (relatively smaller in size) would be
consolidated by the PRC government and gradually into lottery betting
stations (855 EZ), where Shenzhen Le Cai will deploy Keno Games
Lottery betting machines for selling Keno Games Lottery. However, the
sales of lottery tickets through lottery stations were much less than
expected and the lottery betting stores remain as the major revenue
originator for the lottery agency sales business of Shenzhen Le Cai
for the year ended 31 March 2013. Also, Keno Games Lottery is a
new kind of computer-based and high frequent lotteries of China
welfare lotteries, the official launch of which was only commenced
in Shenzhen, on 27 November 2011. Keno Games Lottery requires to
devote time and resources to develop its customer base. In response
to this, the management of Shenzhen Le Cai has adopted a rather
prudent operating approach during the initial stage, by slowing
down its investment in the establishment of new stations. Currently
Shenzhen Le Cai has also adopted a complex lottery distributing
approach, through which, the distribution of Keno Games Lottery,
China welfare lotteries and paper-based instant lotteries (such as Gua
Gua Le) have been available in every lottery betting station/store, so
as to help increase sales and enhance the popularity of Keno Games
Lottery. During the year ended 31 March 2013, the segment result
of lottery agency sales business recorded a loss of approximately
HK$844,686,000 (2012: approximately HK$29,518,000), which was
mainly due to impairment loss recognised in respect of intangible
assets (exclusive rights of operation of lottery sales); goodwill and
property, plant and equipment in the aggregate of approximately
HK$776,364,000 and the amortisation charge from the intangible
assets of approximately HK$39,278,000 (2012: approximately
HK$16,350,000). The Company has disclosed the segment results and
its recent development of lottery agency business in its interim and
annual reports since the commencement of lottery agency business
and the Company published the profit warning announcement on 8
May 2013 to inform the shareholders promptly. Notwithstanding the
historical unsatisfactory performance of lottery agency sales business,
the management is optimistic about the future growth potential in
the China’s lottery market. Indeed, Shenzhen Le Cai has successfully
entered into, among others, a few material cooperation agreements
which are summarised as below:
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Lottery agency business (Continued)

On 1 August 2011, Shenzhen Le Cai and Shenzhen Welfare Lottery
Issuing Centre entered into a framework agreement in relation to the
appointment of Shenzhen Le Cai by Shenzhen Welfare Lottery Issuing
Centre as (i) one of the authorised agents to distribute welfare lotteries;
and (i) the sole agent to distribute Keno Games Lottery, in Shenzhen
for a term of 20 years commencing from 1 August 2011 and ending on
31 July 2031.

On 18 December 2012, Shenzhen Le Cai entered into a supplemental
agreement with Shenzhen Welfare Lottery Issuing Centre to amend
certain terms of the Keno Games Agreement, with effect from 1
January 2013. The commission rate for Shenzhen Le Cai’s distribution
of Keno Games Lottery will be increased from 7% to 8% and the
maximum number of betting branches for the Keno Games Lottery
shall not exceed 15% of the total number of welfare lottery betting
branches in Shenzhen. The management believes that the increase in
commission rate can improve the result of lottery agency business and
it recognises the Group’s contributions in the development of welfare
lottery market in Shenzhen.

On 10 December 2012, Shenzhen Le Cai and Guizhou Province Welfare
Lottery Issuing Centre entered into an agency agreement pursuant
to which Shenzhen Le Cai shall set up 200 welfare lottery outlets to
distribute computer-based welfare lotteries and paper-based instant
lottery " 44" (Gua Gua Le) in Guizhou Province. Shenzhen Le Cai
has now set up a branch and opened part of the outlets in Guiyang
City, Guizhou Province and has commenced operations.

In addition to the existing lottery agency business, Shenzhen Le Cai
is also proactively exploring new distribution markets and is currently
under negotiations with few provincial lottery issuing centres in the
PRC for potential cooperation. Further, in early 2013, Shenzhen Le
Cai has acquired a parcel of industrial land located in Pingshan New
District, Shenzhen to construct an industrial park for the development
of prize lottery electronic engineering software, research and
development and production of high-end lottery equipment in the
PRC. The management believes that the establishment of the industrial
park would improve lottery varieties and promote Shenzhen Le Cai
becoming one of the famous lottery products, lottery machine terminal
and software services developers in the PRC. In view of the above,
the management consider that the Group is still in an advantageous
position in the PRC lottery market. As such, the management is of the
view that it is commercially viable to spend more time and effort on this
business segment.
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B USI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Lottery agency business (Continued)

Subsequent to the completion of acquisition, it was the expectation
of the management that the lottery business would be an important
revenue source of the Group. However, the Group's lottery agency
business is not performed as planned. During the year ended 31 March
2013, the segment result of lottery agency business recorded a loss of
approximately HK$844,686,000 (2012: approximately HK$29,518,000).
Accordingly, the profit guarantee (the “Profit Guarantee”) guaranteed
by Yongheng Development Corporation Limited (“Yongheng
Development”) to the Company would not be achieved (details of the
Profit Guarantee are set out in the circular of the Company dated 12
August 2011). In view of the foregoing, as a result of the negotiation
between the Company and Yongheng Development, on 8 April 2013,
the Company and Yongheng Development entered into the settlement
deed (as supplemented by the supplemental settlement deed on 16
May 2013) (details of the settlement deed are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 8 July 2013) pursuant to which, among other
matters, (i) the security created by the share charge shall be discharged
and released in the manner provided in the release; (ii) the Company
shall waive the compliance by Yongheng Development of its obligations
under the agreement in relation to the Profit Guarantee in the manner
provided in the release; (iii) Yongheng Development and the Company
shall jointly appoint the escrow agent to hold and deal with the
consideration shares (being the 1,727,729,582 Company’s shares
allotted and issued by the Company to Yongheng Development to
satisfy part of the consideration of the acquisition (the “Consideration
Shares”), details of which are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 12 August 2011) in accordance with the terms of the escrow
letter; (iv) Yongheng Development shall deposit the Consideration
Shares and other related title and other documents as provided in the
escrow letter with the escrow agent immediately after the signing of
the release and the escrow letter; and (v) the Consideration Shares shall
be held and dealt with by the escrow agent in accordance with the
settlement arrangement as stipulated in the settlement deed.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Lottery agency business (Continued)

Entering into the settlement deed, on one hand, involves the discharge and
release of share charge and waiving of Yongheng Development's obligations
under the Profit Guarantee, and on the other hand, allows the
Company to recover all of the Consideration Shares from Yongheng
Development. In the event that the performance of lottery business
is to continue to be unsatisfactory in the future, the Group will only
be able to recover the Profit Guarantee amount of RMB60,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$74,154,000) (the “Profit Guarantee
Amount”) from Yongheng Development if the Company is to simply
enforce the Profit Guarantee now, and Yongheng Development will
have no further obligation to the Company. The Directors consider
that it is in the interest of the Company for a new mechanism to be
adopted so as to allow the Company to recover more than the Profit
Guarantee Amount and up to all of the 1,727,729,582 Consideration
Shares from Yongheng Development. In order for such new mechanism
to be accepted by both the Company and Yongheng Development,
the Directors consider that enforcing the Profit Guarantee will, despite
the immediate compensation of the Profit Guarantee Amount from
Yongheng Development, release and waive the obligation of Yongheng
Development under the Profit Guarantee, and the Company will lose
the opportunity to secure a new deal with Yongheng Development
for the Company to recover anything beyond the Profit Guarantee
Amount. Therefore, the Directors consider that releasing Yongheng
Development’s obligation under the Profit Guarantee and entering into
the settlement deed (which allow the Company to recover up to all of
the 1,727,729,582 Consideration Shares from Yongheng Development
in the event that the performance of the lottery business is to continue
to be unsatisfactory in the future) is in the interest of the Company.
The Directors also consider that it is fair and reasonable to take more
time and effort to improve the performance of the lottery business,
given its future is still optimistic with the progressive development, its
advantageous position in the PRC lottery market and the prospect of
the PRC lottery market.
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B USI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Lottery agency business (Continued)

In the event that the performance of the lottery business improves
in the future, the settlement deed still allows the Group to recover
such number of Consideration Shares from Yongheng Development
that could be worth less than, equal to, or more than the Profit
Guarantee Amount depending on the actual performance of lottery
business in the coming years and the relevant formula as stipulated
in the settlement deed. While it appears that the Group could have
first enforced the Profit Guarantee and recovered the Profit Guarantee
Amount from Yongheng Development and still be able to enjoy the
future turnaround of lottery business, the Directors consider that
the solid background of Mr. Yang Songsheng (“Mr. Yang”) and Mr.
Yeung Paak Ching (“Mr. Yeung”), both are executive directors of the
Company, in the PRC lottery business is essential for the development
of the lottery business, and that if the Group is to enforce the Profit
Guarantee now which may in turn release the future obligation
and commitment of Mr. Yang and Mr. Yeung, it may increase the
uncertainties on the future growth of the lottery business. The
settlement deed, as a better alternative, allows the Group to increase
the recovery value of the Profit Guarantee Amount and / or secure the
future enhancement of Shenzhen Le Cai’s value to reach a satisfactory
level, which is in interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a
whole.
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NEW PROJECTS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Investment in the Establishment of Datian An Ran

In November 2012, Fujian Province An Ran Gas Investment Co., Ltd.,
a jointly controlled entity of the Group, established a wholly-owned
subsidiary — Datian An Ran Gas Co., Ltd. (“Datian An Ran") in Datian
County, Fujian Province with registered capital of RMB10,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,359,000). The principal business
scopes of Datian An Ran are investment, construction and operation of
the piped Gas Fuel project in Jingkou Industrial Concentration District.

Investment in the Establishment of Cai Cai Le

In August 2012, the Group established Shenzhen Cai Cai Le Electronic
Entertainment Technology Development Limited (“Cai Cai Le") in
Shenzhen. Its registered capital is RMB18,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$22,246,000). Cai Cai Le will be engaged in the
development of intelligent electronic game software technology and
equipment.

Establishment of Shenzhen Le Cai Guizhou Branch

In November 2012, Shenzhen Le Cai established a branch in Guiyang
City, Guizhou Province. The branch has currently set up 5 outlets in
Guiyang. The types of welfare lotteries sold include “Shuang Se Qiu”
(EEIK),"Qi Le Cai” (E££%), "3D", “22 Xuan 5" (223#5), “Kuai 3"
(13) and paper-based instant lottery (“Gua Gua Le") (&l &l £%).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The results of the Group recorded a steady growth for the year 2012-
2013 and contributed a turnover of approximately HK$1,518,889,000
for the year, representing an increase of approximately
HK$399,887,000 as compared to the corresponding period of last year.
Such increase is mainly due to the increase in sales volume of piped Gas
Fuel and LPG.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group's business
realised a gross profit of approximately HK$378,704,000
(2012:HK$293,244,000), representing an increase of 29.14% as
compared with the corresponding period of last year. The overall gross
profit margin was 24.93% (2012: 26.21%).

Loss in the segment of lottery agency for the year ended 31 March
2013 is mainly due to impairment loss recognised in respect of
intangible assets (exclusive rights of operation of lottery sales);
goodwill and property, plant and equipment in the aggregate of
approximately HK$776,364,000 (2012: nil) and the amortisation charge
from the intangible assets of approximately HK$39,278,000 (2012:
HK$16,350,000).

The fair value change of contingent consideration represents
compensation receivable from Yongheng Development for the
shortfall of Profit Guarantee. The amount is secured by the charge of
297,654,321 consideration shares of the Company held by Yongheng
Development. Such share charge shall be released upon the fulfilment
of the Profit Guarantee. On 8 April 2013, the Company and Yongheng
Development entered into a settlement deed (as supplemented by a
supplemental settlement deed on 16 May 2013) which waived the
Profit Guarantee obligation of Yongheng Development and released
the share charge. Upon the time when such waiver becoming effective,
the amount will be derecognised.

Loss before tax for the year amounted to approximately
HK$542,742,000 while the profit before tax for 2012 amounted to
approximately HK$349,156,000. Such loss was mainly attributable to
(i) the segment loss in lottery agency as stated above as a result of
the longer than expected time required for the development of lottery
business in the PRC; and (ii) no other income such as re-measurement
of interest in an associate to fair value on business combination is
recognised in this reporting period.

Excluding impairments and other one-off non-cash items, profit
before tax increase 25.77% to approximately HK$142,745,000 (2012:
HK$113,493,000).
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2013, the total assets of the Group was approximately
HK$2,268,701,000 (2012: HK$2,730,973,000), and current
liabilities, non-current liabilities, equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests amounted to approximately
HK$578,409,000 (2012: HK$443,368,000), HK$260,770,000 (2012:
HK$457,332,000), HK$1,319,689,000 (2012: HK$1,748,513,000)
and HK$109,833,000 (2012: HK$81,760,000), respectively.

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$388,537,000 (2012: HK$349,734,000), and the
total borrowings was equivalent to approximately HK$353,386,000
(2012: HK$284,555,000). The debt-to-capitalisation ratio, representing
the ratio of total borrowings to borrowings and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, was 21.12% (2012: 14.00%).

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital amounted to
approximately HK$212,907,000, representing an increase of 31.73%
from last year, which was mainly due to the increase in turnover of
piped Gas Fuel and LPG.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to approximately
HK$126,399,000, representing a decrease of 32.42% from last year,
which was mainly due to the cash received from the mature of held-to-
maturity investments.

Net cash generated from financing activities of approximately
HK$44,891,000 representing an increase of 56.39% from last vyear,
which was mainly due to no advance from/repayment to a joint
venturer and repayment to a shareholder of an associate in this
reporting period.
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BORROWINGS STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2013, the total borrowings of the Group were
approximately HK$353,386,000 (2012: HK$284,555,000), which
mainly comprised domestic bank borrowings denominated in Renminbi
of the project companies in the PRC. The borrowings, which carried
interest at fixed rates or the interest rates announced by People’s
Bank of China, were applied to gas pipeline construction, as general
working capital and for operating expenses. Apart from the borrowings
with an amount equivalent to approximately HK$303,864,000 (2012:
HK$238,674,000) which were secured by certain assets with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$27,335,000 (2012: HK$20,374,000),
others were unsecured. Short-term borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$137,395,000 (2012: HK$66,920,000), while
others were long-term borrowings due after one year. Details of the
commitments and pledge of assets are set out in notes 40 and 41 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s long-term capital comprised equity attributable to owners
of the Company and borrowings, which was confirmed by the sound
debt-to-capitalisation ratio stated in the section headed “Liquidity and
capital resources” above.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE RISK

All of the Group’s operations are carried out in the PRC and
substantially all of its income and expenses are denominated in RMB.
During the year ended 31 March 2013, the exchange rate of RMB had
been increasing in a state of ups and downs. The Group will closely
monitor the market exchange rates and make appropriate adjustment
when necessary.
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’'s commitments amounted to
approximately HK$235,515,000 (2012: HK$158,766,000), mainly
attributable to running district gas pipeline construction and for the
purpose of investment in Zhonghua Yongbaofu. Please refer to note 40
to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had approximately 3,400 employees,
most of them were stationed in the PRC. The employees’ salary are
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities with the
Group, the Group’s business performance, profitability and market
conditions. In addition to pension funds, individual employees may
be granted discretionary bonus and share options as rewards for their
outstanding performance.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REPURCHASE OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the reporting period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or repurchased any of the Company’s
listed securities.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to note 42 to the consolidated financial statements for
details.
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PROSPECTS

Piped Gas Fuel business

With the steady growth of the economy, the demand for resources of the
country will increase steadily. The pressure on stepping up environmental
protection will drive more districts to use natural gas for the aspects of
warming, transportation and industrial fuel instead of using coal. The
potential of natural gas demand of the country is substantial and its speed
of growth is expected to exceed that of coal and oil.

During the reporting period, certain policies which promote the
development of natural gas industry were introduced to expand the
scope of use in natural gas and enhance the orderly and healthy
development of natural gas industry.

For the utilisation of natural gas, natural gas users were divided into
prioritised class, permitted class, restricted class and prohibited class.
Urban gas users were classified as prioritised class of development,
which included gas used by urban (particularly large and medium cities)
households, gas used by public service facilities, natural gas vehicles,
industrial fuel of terminable users and natural gas diversified energy
projects (integrated energy use efficiency is over 70%, including the
integrated use with renewable energy). Most of the current consumers
of the Group are under this class.

In respect of optimising energy price mechanism, the price mechanism
was optimised and natural gas price reform continued to be intensified.
One of the means to optimise price formation mechanism was to
form a natural gas price formation mechanism which reflects the
degree of shortage in resources and changes in demand and supply
in the market. This can accelerate the rationalisation of the price
relation between natural gas and alternative energy, fully perform the
leverage of price in adjusting demand-supply relationship and lay out
a foundation for the marketisation of natural gas price. The second
means was to consider forming a price linkage mechanism among
upstream, midstream and downstream natural gas prices. The third
means was to encourage areas with larger seasonal differentiation
in natural gas use to consider implementing gas price differentiation
policies such as natural gas seasonal price difference and terminable
gas price difference. Such policies can guide reasonable consumption
of natural gas and enhance the efficiency in natural gas utilisation.
Another alternative was to encourage natural gas production
enterprises and downstream users to proactively participate in the
construction of peak shaving facilities through various ways and
support the development of terminable, convertible and adjustable
natural gas users. The fourth means was to analyse the feasibility
of establishing a national natural gas exchange market and to set a
market price for shale gas factory price.
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PROS P E CTS (Continued)

Piped Gas Fuel business (Continued)

Regarding the supplementary policies for natural gas development,
local governments can implement supportive policies for prioritised
gas projects in aspects of planning, land use, financing and charges.
The autonomy of relevant techniques and equipment for natural
gas use was encouraged. The constructions of natural gas injection
facilities and equipment for vehicles and vessels were encouraged and
supported. Local governments were also encouraged to issue specific
supportive policies such as financial, charge and heating price policies.
It was also encouraged to develop diversified energy projects for
natural gas.

In order to drive the high efficiency of natural gas utilisation, the PRC
government proactively promoted the development of diversified
energy projects for natural gas. The focus was to accelerate the
construction of diversified energy system for natural gas in energy
load centre, based on the regular supply conditions and users’ demand
for natural gas, coalbed methane and shale gas. Diversified form of
utilisation was preferentially adopted for irregular natural gases, of
which the development scale are relatively small or pipe network is
not yet available, such as shale gas and coalbed methane. Natural gas
and electricity peak shaving demand was coordinated and diversified
utilisation of natural gas was reasonably selected so that the optimised
complementary use of natural gas and electricity was achieved. The
PRC government also strengthened the research and development of
natural gas diversified utilisation to promote the autonomy level of
technical equipment.

The Group will proactively seize the opportunities according to market
demand under the support and guidance of government policies.
Among the regions where our piped gas fuel business is located, the
Group will solidify and explore the markets, with our further enhanced
service standard. It is believed that the piped gas fuel business of the
Group will step forward during the future.
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P RO S P E CTS (Continued)

LPG business

The national apparent consumption rate of LPG appears a trend of
continuous growth. In 2012, the national consumption of LPG reached
approximately 24.40 million tons, representing an increase of 1.20%
as compared to 2011. The national production was approximately
22.30 million tons, representing an increase of 2.00% as compared
to last year. According to the “Twelfth Five-Year” Plan on Urban Gas
Development in China issued by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-
Rural Construction of the PRC on 27 June 2012, by the end of the
“Twelfth Five-Year” Plan period, the total urban gas supply volume will
increase from 14.9 million tons over the end of the Eleventh Five-Year
Plan period to 18.0 million tons. Based on the characteristics of LPG
supply and the market development trend, LPG will remain one of the
main sources of urban gas during the “Twelfth Five Year” Plan period
and its market supply will gradually shift from areas covered by natural
gas pipeline network to areas which are not covered by it.

Based on the development features of LPG business and the
urbanisation reform policies to be issued by the government, the
Group will consider the development scale and market structure of LPG
market. The Group will also change the existing operation mode of
LPG distribution business and construct a modern mode of supply of
LPG. Moreover, we will consolidate and construct LPG supply facilities
and implement informatised management means. This will achieve a
reasonable allocation of gas resources, reserved resources and network
resources, and will establish and improve the system of enterprise
reserve and business reserve which can meet the characteristics and
demand of urban LPG industry. This will also drive the industry to
evolve as an efficient and high value-added modern energy service
industry.

With our persistent efforts and eagerness, the Group will extend
its reputation among its vast customer base; and expand its market
presence by intensively focusing on construction of the retail market,
expansion of retailer network and perfection of service quality.
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PROS P E CTS (Continued)

Lottery agency business

According to the statistics published by the Ministry of Finance of
China, the nationwide lottery sales in 2012 rose by RMB39.942 billion
or 18.00% to approximately RMB261.524 billion, of which the sales of
welfare lottery organisation increased by RMB23.235 billion or 18.20%
to approximately RMB151.032 billion. In November 2012, the Ministry
of Finance implemented “Measures for the Financial Management
of Lottery Organisations”, which aims at better regulating the
financial behaviours and strengthening the financial management and
supervision of lottery organisations, in order to enhance the efficiency
of the utilisation of funds. It also serves as a basis for guaranteeing a
solid development of lottery business. Seizing the great opportunities
arising from the fast-growing lottery market in the PRC, the Group will
continue to explore the market share with our best effort and promote
our service quality, so as to achieve a better result.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to maintain the constant
development of the piped Gas Fuel business, explore the LPG market
with appropriate progress, boost the development of various lottery
businesses aggressively and expand the market share with our best
effort, aiming to maximise the investment returns for the shareholders
and investors as a whole. Below Graph 4 is shown the income mix of
the Group for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013.

Graph 4:  Income Mix of the Group
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Ruixin, aged 72, is the honourable chairman of our board
of directors (“Board”) and an executive director, he joined our
Company since 11 April 2005. Mr. Xu is currently the chairman of the
China Association of Social Workers. Mr. Xu was a vice minister and
committee member of the Ministry of Civil Affairs of China. Mr. Xu is
not appointed for a specific term with our Company but is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the provision
of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Yang Songsheng, aged 51, is the chairman of our Board and an
executive director. Mr. Yang joined our Company since 19 December
2011. He is currently a director and a shareholder of Yongheng
Development Corporation Limited (“Yongheng Development”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company; the Chief Executive Officer of
FEKIEZEZES (The Chinese Yongheng Charitable Foundation®);
the Deputy Chief Secretary of the China Association of Social Workers;
the President of magazine {#t & E/Xz) (Society and Public Welfare®);
a member of Standing Executive Committee of Lottery of the China
Association of Social Workers. Mr. Yang is also a director of the major
subsidiaries of the Group that engage in lottery agency business.
Mr. Yang has extensive knowledge in lottery business as well as rich
experiences in business management of a large corporation. Mr. Yang
and Mr. Yeung Paak Ching, a director of our Company, are brothers.
Mr. Yang is not appointed for a specific term with our Company but is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Dr. Mo Shikang, aged 55, is a deputy chairman of our Board and an
executive director, Dr. Mo joined our Company since 30 April 2004.
Dr. Mo is currently the chairman of our Nomination Committee and a
member of our Remuneration Committee, the chairman of the board
of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
and acts as director posts in certain principal subsidiaries of the Group.
Dr. Mo holds a Bachelor degree in Sciences from Tianjin Education
University, a Master degree in Economics from Tianjin University of
Finance and Economics and a Doctor degree in Economic from Nankai
University in the PRC. He is currently a part-time professor of the
Faculty of Statistics of People’s University of China, and a supervising
tutor of master degree students. Dr. Mo has substantial experiences in
the development and management of natural gas projects in the PRC.
Dr. Mo is not appointed for a specific term with our Company but is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

# For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTO RS (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng, aged 59, is a deputy chairman of our Board and
an executive director, he joined our Company since 21 March 2005.
Mr. Zhang is currently a member of our Remuneration Committee. Mr.
Zhang holds a MBA degree from the La Trobe University in Australia.
In late 1980s, Mr. Zhang joined the initial financial securities industry
in the PRC, he has been engaged in provision of securities company
businesses relating to securities and financial investment; securities
brokerages; investment banking; financial research and analysis for
Wanguo Holdings Limited, Guotai Securities Company Limited and
Guotai Junan Securities Company Limited and acted as senior operation
officer. Mr. Zhang has extensive experiences in financial and capital
markets. Mr. Zhang is not appointed for a specific term with our
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the provision of our Company's Bye-laws.

Mr. Yeung Paak Ching, aged 49, is our co-managing director and an
executive director. Mr. Yeung joined our Company since 19 December
2011. Mr. Yeung is currently a director and a shareholder of Yongheng
Development. He is also a director of the major subsidiaries of the
Company that engage in lottery agency business. Mr. Yeung has
extensive knowledge in lottery business as well as rich experiences in
business management of a large corporation. Mr. Yeung and Mr. Yang
Songsheng, a director of our Company, are brothers. Mr. Yeung is
not appointed for a specific term with our Company but is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the provision
of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Jin Song, aged 42, is our co-managing director and an executive
director, he joined our Company since 11 April 2005. Mr. Jin is
currently a director and president of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company and he also acts as director posts
in certain principal subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Jin holds a MBA
degree from Oklahoma City University in United States. Mr. Jin has
substantial experiences in investment banking as well as merger and
acquisition of gas enterprises in the PRC. He was engaged in marketing
and project management by Shenzhen Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd.,
and worked for years in investment banking business with Guangzhou
Security Company Limited and Huatai Securities Co., Ltd. Mr. Jin is
not appointed for a specific term with our Company but is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the provision
of our Company’s Bye-laws.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTO RS (Continued)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, aged 49, is our executive director, Mr. Chu
join our Company since 1 December 2008. Mr. Chu was graduated
from the University of Hong Kong with a Master degree in Business
Administration. Mr. Chu is a fellow practising member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, associate member
of Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Mr. Chu has over 20 years
of professional experiences in auditing, accounting and financial
management for both private and listed corporations. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of Eyang Holdings (Group) Co.
Limited (stock code: 00117); Flyke International Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 01998); Huayu Expressway Group Ltd. (stock code: 01823); EDS
Wellness Holdings Limited (“EDS Wellness” formerly know as China AU
Group Holdings Ltd.) (stock code: 08176); China Vehicle Components
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 01269) and Telecom Service
One Holdings Limited (“Telecom Service” stock code: 08145). Mr. Chu
resigned as independent non-executive director of Sustainable Forest
Holdings Limited (stock code: 00723) on 31 August 2010. All of the
shares of the above companies are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) except
EDS Wellness and Telecom Service, the shares of which are listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Chu is not appointed for a specific term with our Company but is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. Liu Junmin, aged 63, is our independent non-executive director.
Dr. Liu joined our Company since 11 April 2005. Dr. Liu is currently
a member of our Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Dr. Liu holds a Bachelor degree, a Master
degree and a PhD degree in Economics from Nankai University in the
PRC, in which Dr. Liu is a professor of the School of Economics and an
officer of the Virtual Economics and Management Research Center. Dr.
Liu was appointed as independent director of China-Baoding Tianwei
Yingli New Energy Resources Co., Limited from June 2008. After
completion of the service term, Dr. Liu was resigned as an independent
director of Tianjin Faw Xiali Automobile Co. (stock code: 000927),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in June 2008.
Dr. Liu has awarded “Sun Yefang Economics Prize” ([ )8 75 4875 &2
#Z]) . Dr. Liu has entered into a service contract with our Company for
three years but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the provision of our Company's Bye-laws.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Tan Qinglian, aged 75, is our independent non-executive director,
he joined our Company since 11 April 2005. He is currently a member
of our Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. He is the member of the 10th National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and honourable
President of the China Civil Engineering Society. He was the vice
minister of the Ministry of Construction of China. Mr. Tan has entered
into a service contract with our Company for three years but is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Li Jialin, aged 65, is our independent non-executive director
and a member of Audit Committee, he joined our Company since 31
December 2012. He is currently the chairman of Shenzhen Property
Management Association; the dean of Shenzhen Real Estate and
Property Management Advanced Training College; a member of %
JITHREKAZAZEZ ELD (Shenzhen Decision Advisory Committee®);
and the leader of professional team of the Urban Planning Board of
Shenzhen. He has been engaged by /YT Bl + & RMEEE &
/& (Shenzhen Municipal Land Resources and Housing Administrative
Bureau®), as the deputy secretary and held senior management posts
in numbers of government bureaus in Shenzhen. Mr. Li is a Certified
Public Accountant; a registered real estate appraiser and a registered
real estate valuer in the PRC. Mr. Li has entered into a service contract
with our Company till the conclusion of the next general meeting of
our Company but is subject to re-election in such general meeting in
accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

# For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTO RS (Continued)

Prof. Zhao Yanyun, aged 56, is our independent non-executive
director, Prof. Zhao joined our Company since 24 July 2013 and he is
also members of our Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Prof. Zhao is currently the Dean; a professor
and a doctoral tutor of School of Statistics, Renmin University of China;
and act as an officer of the China Research Center for Competitiveness
and Evaluation in Renmin University of China. He had awarded the
allowance for the Government of the State Council contribution expert
allowance’ (BIFEPT 550k B B E R BAT 2 BLES &), the century talent
of Ministry of Education of the People’s Republic of China* ({5 2%
42 A7) and a national candidate of the Ministry of Personnel New
Century Hundred Thousand Talents Project* (IR A S HtE4L B T &
AA TREBIRAAE) and a candidate of the Beijing Hundred Project”
LR HE ATIEAR). Heis also a part-time tutor of Hebei University;
Henan University of Economics and Law; Lanzhou University of Finance
and Economics; Beijing University of Technology; Anhui University of
Finance and Economics; Shanxi University of Finance & Economics,
Shijiazhuang University of Economics and Anhui University and
Shandong University of Finance and Economics. Prof. Zhao has entered
into a service contract with our Company till the conclusion of the next
general meeting of our Company and is subject to re-election in such
general meeting in accordance with the provision of our Company’s
Bye-laws.

Mr. Sin Ka Man, aged 46, is our independent non-executive director.
Mr. Sin joined our Company since 23 December 2006 and he is also
the chairman of our Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
and a member of our Nomination Committee, respectively. Mr. Sin has
over 20 years of professional experiences in auditing, accounting and
financial management for both private and listed corporations. Mr.
Sin is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a certified practicing accountant of the CPA
in Australia. Mr. Sin is currently an vice-president of Huayu Expressway
Group Limited (stock code: 01823) and is responsible for the
accounting and financial management. Mr. Sin holds a Bachelor degree
in Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong, a Master degree in
Finance from the University of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom and
a Master degree in accounting from Curtin University of Technology
in Australia. Mr. Sin is an independent non-executive director of PNG
Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 00221); China Motion Telecom
International Limited (stock code: 00989); Xtep International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01368); Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (stock
code: 01106) and Fornton Group Limited (stock code: 01152), all of
the shares of the above companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Sin has entered into a service contract with our Company for
three years but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the provision of our Company's Bye-laws.

# For identification purpose only
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Report of the

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present
their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
SUBSIDIARIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the sale and distribution of natural gas and
liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") (collectively referred to as “Gas Fuel”)
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) including the sales of
LPG in bulk and cylinders, the provision of piped Gas Fuel, construction
of gas pipelines, the operation of city gas pipeline network and lottery
agency. The principal activities of its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2013
are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in notes
17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2013 are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in page 70 and note 43(c) to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2013, the Company did not have any distributable
reserves.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers taken
together accounted for 4.17% and 15.76% of the Group’s total
turnover for the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the aggregate purchase
attributable to the Group's largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers taken together accounted for 30.65% and 69.81% of the
Group's total purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or, so far as the
Directors are aware, any shareholder who owns more than 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company has any interest in any of the said
top five customers and suppliers of the Group for the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)

Mr. Yang Shongsheng' (Chairman)

Dr. Mo Shikang? (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Paak Ching (Co-managing Director)
Mr. Jin Song (Co-managing Director)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Liu Junmin

Mr. Tan Qinglian
Mr. Li Jialin®

Prof. Zhao Yanyun*
Mr. Sin Ka Man

! re-designated from Executive Chairman to Chairman on 5 September
2012

2 re-designated from Chairman to Deputy Chairman on 5 September 2012

3 appointed on 31 December 2012

4 appointed on 24 July 2013
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 28 to page
32 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
AND ROTATION

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years but subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws. Except Mr. Li Jialin and Prof. Zhao Yanyun,
independent non-executive Director, have entered into respective
service contracts with our Company until the conclusion of the next
general meeting of our Company and both Mr. Jialin and Prof. Zhao
Yanyun shall be eligible for re-election in such general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-Laws 99 of the Company, Messrs. Xu Ruixin,
Zhang Hesheng, Liu Junmin and Tan Qinglian will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting but, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Besides, in accordance with Bye-Law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Li
Jialin and Prof. Zhao Yanyun, who was an independent non-executive
director of the Company appointed on 31 December 2012 and 24
July 2013 respectively, shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Other than disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered or has
proposed to enter into any service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not expiring or determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENT

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in note
11(a) to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive directors of their independence pursuant
to the rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
the Board considered all independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’

INTERESTS IN

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2013, the interests of the Directors in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) (the

"Associated

Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

EERNRG - HERD RE
2 Em

201363 A318  RIEFEFH KA E B H 235214
RARIBATHFEZERMATR S SHiRE E i
TAEFETESFR S 2RESTA ([FESFA])
EMERRABIRBBHERFIMARAE ([BXR
Frl) BRESAARANEEMBEBEEE (E
EREFRBEGEMEXVES) (M8 ERE]) 2
- HEERDREST 2EZNOT

KATRRMGHPZHFR
Percentage
of aggregate
Number of interests to
underlying total number
shares held of shares
Number of shares under equity in issue *
RGHA derivatives ERAEE
Personal Family Corporate RERA{TET BRTROEH
interests interests interests BB ZHBR Total 2B
Name of Director EEpg fBAER RikER DRER i ag %
Mr. Yang Songsheng ("Mr. Yang") B E ([HRERE]) - - 1,727,729,582 7,500,0002  1,735,229,582 29.87
Dr. Mo Shikang (“Dr. Mo”) BtREL([EBL]) 427,841,375 - - 750,002 428,591,375 7.38
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RMELE 227,788,793 3 - - 7,500,002 235,288,793 4.05
Mr. Yeung Paak Ching BEERE(REERE]) 600,000 * - 1,727,729,582 1 5,000,0002  1,733,329,582 29.83
("Mr. Yeung")
Mr. Jin Song gt - - - 7,500,000 2 7,500,000 0.13
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus REEEE ([REE]) - 9,840,000¢ - 9,000,000 2 18,840,000 0.32
("Mr. Chu")
Dr. Liu Junmin AERET - - - 2,700,000 2 2,700,000 0.05
Mr. Sin Ka Man ERERE - - - 2,700,000 2 2,700,000 0.05
TRERERAT
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTU RES (Continued)

Notes:

1. This represents interests legally, beneficially and equally held by Mr. Yang
and Mr. Yeung through Yongheng Development Corporation Limited
(“Yongheng Development”). Mr. Yang and Mr. Yeung are brother and
directors of Yongheng Development. On 8 April 2013, the Company and
Yongheng Development entered into a settlement deed (as supplemented
by the supplemental settlement deed on 16 May 2013), details of
which may refer to the circular of the Company dated 8 July 2013. The
settlement deed was approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company in the special general meeting of the Company held on 24 July
2013.

2. This represents interests in share options held by the relevant Directors as
a beneficial owner to subscribe for the relevant underlying shares granted
by the Company under the Share Option Scheme, details of which is set
out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

3. This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial owner.

4. This represents interests legally and beneficially held by Ms. Woo Sau
Kuen, she is the spouse of Mr. Chu.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of
the Company in issue as at 31 March 2013 (i.e. 5,809,954,136 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, none of the Directors
had any other interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its Associated
Corporations which had been entered in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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2013F7ABH Z MM - B ERIEMN20135F7 524
HRTZARABEREFIAEG LEADRB LK
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2013, the number of outstanding option shares
granted by the Company under the 2006 Share Option Scheme
(defined under section headed “Share Option” below) for the Directors
to subscribe the shares of the Company, as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code is set out in the section headed “Share Option” under
Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the Company,
its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE
SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2013, the interests of those persons (other than the
Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

ESBERODKES 2R

201363 A318  RIEBEFFH KA E BKH 235214
AABFEZ ELMALE SR EIZESFRIZA
MERQNT) KRBT AR BARIFE2006F AT HE T
Bl (EER T BEBRE] —fHR)EMESRHA
REARBBRGBZATEBERERECHNAE
HEESWRE [BRE] /-

B bt E SN RAFEAEMERE NAF - HHME
N ER R B A R SR A R AT S A
R BEEFAEEARNRBRTAEMEE
B RESF MR-

RNRRRAR 2 EERER

M2013F3 8318 IRIEFE & M H B &0 53361K
KRABIEEZELM ZEALT (BRESIN)E
BEARRBRMD 2T

Approximate
% of the issued
share capital*

Nature of Number of b B
Name Capacity Interest shares held BITRA
£ 514 EEME EERMEE BHOBED*
Yongheng Development Beneficial owner Corporate 1,727,729,5822 (L) 29.74%
I ER EnEA A NG

(L) = long positiontf &
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SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE
SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Notes:

1. The entire issued share capital of Yongheng Development is legally,
beneficially and equally owned by Mr. Yang and Mr. Yeung. They are
brother and directors of Yongheng Development.

2. On 8 April 2013, the Company and Yongheng Development entered
into a settlement deed (as supplemented by the supplemental settlement
deed on 16 May 2013), details of which may refer to the circular of the
Company dated 8 July 2013. The settlement deed was approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company in the special general meeting
of the Company held on 24 July 2013.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of
the Company in issue as at 31 March 2013 (i.e. 5,809,954,136 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, the Company had not
been notified of any interests and short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which had been recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICTS

None of the Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company or
any of their respective associates has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the business of the Group or has any
other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
as at the date of this annual report and within the knowledge of
the Directors, there was sufficiency of public float of the Company’s
securities as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION

On 3 October 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2006 Share
Option Scheme”). On 27 September 2007 and 29 August 2011, the
shareholders of the Company approved the resolution for refreshment
of 10% limit on the grant of options under the 2006 Share Option
Scheme, respectively. On 28 August 2008, the shareholders of the
Company approved the resolution for the amendments to the terms
of the 2006 Share Option Scheme, details of which may refer to the
circular of the Company dated 31 July 2008.

As at 31 March 2013 and the date of this annual report, 201,600,000
option shares and 174,600,000 option shares were outstanding under
the 2006 Share Option Scheme, respectively.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2006 Share
Option Scheme:

Provide incentives to the eligible persons
to contribute to the Group, to enable
the Group to recruit and retain quality
employees to serve the Group on a long-
term basis and to attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group.

Purpose

Eligible person include any executive,
employee (whether full-time or part-
time), Director (including non-executive
director and independent non-executive
director), consultant, adviser, partner,
joint-venture partner, service provider,
customer and/or agent of the Company or
any of its subsidiary or any person, who
in the absolute discretion of the Board,
has contributed or may contribute to
the Group at the time when an option is
granted to such person (Note).

Participants
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Price of Shares

Total number of shares

available for issue
and the percentage
of the issued share
capital that it
represents as at the
date of this annual
report

Determined by the Board and shall at least
be the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of the share of
the Company;

(b) the closing price of the share of
the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of offer, which must be
a trading day; and

(0) the average closing price of
the share of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the
five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer.

408,222,455 shares, being approximately
7.03% of the issued share capital of the
Company.
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Maximum entitlement
of each participant

Period within which
the securities must be
taken up under the
option

Minimum period for
which an option must
be held before it can
be exercised

Amount payable on
acceptance

Period within which
calls/loans must be
made/repaid

Remaining life of the
scheme

Not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue in any 12-month period.

Subject to the discretion by the Board
(Note).

Not applicable (Note).

No amount is payable on acceptance of an
offer.

Not applicable.

The scheme will be valid and effective until
5 October 2016, after which no further
options will be granted, but in all other
respects the provisions of this scheme

shall remain in full force and effect in
respect of any option granted prior to the
termination of this scheme and any such
option shall continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.

Note: This term has been revised in the 2008 annual general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION (Continued) E%ﬁ*g (#)

Movements of the option shares, which were granted under the 2006 BiE ETRRIE17.071&  RELE2013F3 4318 1L
Share Option Scheme, during the year ended 31 March 2013 are listed FEBE2006F EIREF IR L 2 BRiE &

below in accordance with rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules: BT
During the year
R
Granted/ Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant As atid (exercised) cancelled* As ati price’ period
g5l BB 01042012 Bt/ (7€)  R¥/EH 31.03.2013 e s
HKS
BB
Directors
Bz
Mr. Yang 29.11.2010°3 7,500,000 - - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
BIRERE 30.11.2013
Dr. Mo 29.11.2010°3 750,000 - - 750,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
gt 30.11.2013
Mr. Zhang Hesheng 29.11.2010°3 7,500,000 - - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
RAELE 30.11.2013
Mr. Yeung 29.11.2010°3 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.28 01.12.2010-
BREERE 30.11.2013
Mr. Jin Song 29.11.2010°3 7,500,000 - - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
g/ 30.11.2013
Mr. Chu 12.04.2010? 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
Rk 11.04.2013
29.11.2010°3 7,000,000 - - 7,000,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

9,000,000
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)
B B ()

During the year
ER
Granted/ Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant As atid (exercised) cancelled* As ati price’ period
BHl REAH 01.042012 B/ (17£) RN/ 31.03.2013 fTEE i
HK$
BT
Dr. Liu Junmin 29.11.2010°° 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
AERET 30.11.2013
Mr. Sin Ka Man 29.11.2010°° 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
RFEEE 30.11.2013
Subtotal 42,650,000 - - 42,650,000
N
Continuous Contracts Employee 12.04.20102 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
BESNHES 11.04.2013
29.11.2010°° 72,000,000 - - 72,000,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 74,000,000 - - 74,000,000
&
Consultants 12.04.20102 23,000,000 - - 23,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
R 11.04.2013
29.11.2010°3 34,700,000 - - 34,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 57,700,000 - - 57,700,000
N
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)
BEIRFE (o)

During the year
£
Granted/ Lapsed/
Category Date of grant As atid (exercised) cancelled* As atit
£5 REAS 01.042012 Bt/ (7)) %X /E#* 31.03.2013

Exercise Exercise

price’ period

ke i
HKS
BB

Agents 29.11.2010° 18,250,000 - - 18,250,000
fE
Subtotal 18,250,000 - - 18,250,000
Bt
Advisors 29.11.2010° 9,000,000 - - 9,000,000
A
Subtotal 9,000,000 - - 9,000,000
Bt
Total 201,600,000 - - 201,600,000

a3

Notes:

1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share
capital.

2. The share option is vested immediately on the date of acceptance and

the closing price of the shares immediately the date on which the options
were granted was HK$0.395.

3. The share option is vested immediately on the date of acceptance and
the closing price of the shares immediately the date on which the options
were granted was HK$0.290.

P & -

0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

AR HE 2 97 5 B B AR R IR SR AT AR BT A A )
e AT B

EERRE RN B BRI 538 - T AR (D P BIERE IR
BEHAHAE A2 EREE0.395TT -

TEER RN B BRI B8 - AR (D R BRI
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PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of contributions
to Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory
public welfare fund respectively.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company did not have any connected transactions
which were subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 38 to
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Board adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All
Directors have confirmed their compliance with the required standard
set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2013.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold, or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2013.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period as set
out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.
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CHANGES IN THE INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in the
information of Directors of the Company since the date of Company’s
2012 Interim Report are as follows:

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, being an executive director of our
Company, was appointed on 30 April 2013 as an independent non-
executive director of Telecom Service One Holdings Limited (Stock code:
08145).

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (the "SHINEWING") will retire and, being
eligible offer, offer themselves for re-appointment in forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution for the re-
appointment of SHINEWING as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Jin Song
Co-managing and Executive Director

Beijing, 24 July 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has committed to perform a high standard of corporate
governance practices in enhancing the confidence of shareholders,
investors, employees, creditors and business partners and also
the growth of its business. The Company’s corporate governance
practices are based on the principles and the code provisions (the
“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report, amended from time to time (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). As far as the CG Code is concerned,
during the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
complies with all aspect of the Code Provisions.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) acknowledge their
responsibility for preparation and the true and fair presentation of
these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements required
by the Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amended
from time to time. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

(a) Directors’ securities transactions
Adoption of Model Code

The board of directors (the "Board”) has adopted the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers,
amended from time to time (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Confirmation on Compliance

Specific respectively enquiry has been made to all the Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during the
year ended 31 March 2013 and up to the date of this annual
report, they all confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year and
up to the date of this annual report.
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(a)

(b)

Directors’ securities transactions (Continued)
Written Guideline for Relevant Employees

In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of the
Model Code as written guidelines for relevant employees in
respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company. Such
relevant employees shall abide by the provisions of the Model
Code.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by such
relevant employees was noted by the Company.

The Board
Composition

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and
experiences appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of
the Company and to the exercising of independent, Other than
Mr. Yang Shongsheng and Mr. Yeung Paak Ching are brothers,
none of the members of the Board is related to one another.

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)

Mr. Yang Songsheng' (Chairman)

Dr. Mo Shikang? (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Paak Ching (Co-managing Director)
Mr. Jin Song (Co-managing Director)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tan Qinglian

Dr. Liu Junmin

Mr. Li Jialin3

Prof. Zhao Yanyun*

Mr. Sin Ka Man

! re-designated from Executive Chairman to Chairman on 5
September 2012.

2 re-designated from Chairman to Deputy Chairman on 5 September
2012.

3 appointed on 31 December 2012.

4 appointed on 24 July 2013.
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(b) EEXEE (%)
BEECREBRFBHNATR B ZE %32

(b) The Board (Continued)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 28 to

page 32 of this annual report.
Mr. Yang Songsheng and Mr. Yeung Paak Ching are brother.

Save as disclosed above, the Board members has no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other.

The list of director (by category) is also disclosed in this annual
report and all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The Company
also maintains on its website (www.681hk.com) and on the Stock
Exchange’s website an updated listed of its directors (by category)
identifying the role and function.

Number of Meetings Held and Attendance

The Board normally has four (4) scheduled meetings a year and
meets at other times as and when required to review financial,
internal control, risk management, company strategy and
operating performance of the Group. The Board requires Directors
to devote sufficient time and attention to discharge their duties
and responsibilities, during the year ended 31 March 2013, a
total number of fourteen (14) Board meetings, two (2) Audit
Committee meetings, two (2) Remuneration Committee meetings
and three (3) Nomination Committee meetings were held.
Minutes of these meetings are kept by the Company Secretary of
the Company and are open for inspection by the Directors.

During the year, the Board has regularly reviewed the
contributions from the Directors and confirmed that they have
spent sufficient time performing their responsibilities. The
individual attendance records of each Director, on a named basis,
at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee as well as the
shareholders’ meeting(s) (annual general meeting “AGM") during
the year ended 31 March 2013 are set out below:
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(b) The Board (Continued)
(b) EEE (&)

Attendance/Number of
meetings entitled to attend

HER BREEGEZHEE
Audit Remuneration  Nomination

AGM Board  Committee = Committee = Committee®
Name of Directors EEpg RREEXE Exg ENRZEE FMEEE REZEEV
Number of Meetings g1 6 1 14 2 2 3
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Xu Ruixin (CREibied 0/1 14/14 - - -
Mr. Yang Songsheng BIERE n 14/14 - - -
Dr. Mo Shikang RRiEL 11 1414 - 212 3/3
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RAAELAE 0/1 14/14 - 212 -
Mr. Yeung Paak Ching BEERE i 14114 - - -
Mr. Jin Song LAY 171 14/14 - - -
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KEREE i 14114 - - -
Independent Non-executive BYXHTES

Directors
Mr. Tan Qinglian EEELE 0/1 14/14 212 212 3/3
Dr. Liu Junmin ARREL 0N 14714 212 212 33
Mr. Li Jialin FImEED - 4/4 - - -
Mr. Sin Ka Man EREEE 0/1 14/14 212 212 3/3
Prof. Zhao Yanyun @ HEEHR® - - - - -
Notes: BT 5 -
(1) Mr. Li Jialin was appointed as an independent non-executive (1) FIMSEER2012F12A31HEZTARR
Director of the Company on 31 December 2012. AIEIFNITES
(2)  The Nomination Committee was established on 1 April, 2012. (2) RBZEEEMN2012F4818KT -
(3)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun was appointed as an independent non-executive (3) HMEZHEMR2013F7A14BEZTAEAR
Director on 24 July 2013. AIEIFNITES
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(b) The Board (Continued) (b) EEE (&)

Responsible of the Board

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the Board
and delegated to the management. The Board provides leadership
and approves strategic polices and plans with a view to enhance
shareholders’ interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Company are delegated to the management. The Board has full
support of the co-managing Directors and the management to
discharge its responsibilities.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

Responsible of the Directors

Each executive Director is delegated individual responsibility to
oversee and monitor the operations of the specific business unit
and to implement the strategies and polices set by the Board.
Each Director may seek for independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses, upon
making request to the Board. Since April 2012, all members of
the Board have been provided with monthly updates to enable
them to discharge their duties.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance
coverage in respect of legal action for the directors, which is
reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Company are delegated to two co-managing and executive
Directors and the management. The delegated functions and
work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the above mentioned officers.
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(b) The Board (Continued)

Annual Confirmation from Independent Non-
Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board and the Nomination
Committee considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independent
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgment to the Board. Through active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors make various contributions
to the effective direction of the Company. One of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Terms of Non-Executive Directors

Each independent non-executive Directors of the Company has
entered into a services contract with the Company for specific
term of 3 years, but subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Company's Bye-laws. Except
Mr. Li Jialin and Prof. Zhao Yanyun, independent non-executive
Director, have entered into respective service contracts with our
Company until the conclusion of the next general meeting of
our Company and both Mr. Jialin and Prof. Zhao Yanyun shall be
eligible for re-election in such general meeting.

Supply of and Access to Information

The Board members are supplied with comprehensive board
papers and relevant materials within a reasonable period of time
in advance of the intended meeting date (in any event no less
than 3 days before the date of the meeting). All Directors are
given opportunity to include matters in the agenda for regular
Board meetings. To facilitate the decision-making process, the
Directors are free to have access to the management for enquiries
and to obtain further information, when required.
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(b) The Board (Continued)

(c)

Supply of and Access to Information (Continued)

All Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary, who ensures that the Board receives
appropriate and timely information for its decision-making and
that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations,
are being followed. The Directors can obtain independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Role of Chairman

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between
the Chairman of the Board and the co-managing Directors,
who perform similar role as chief executive officer, to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The respective responsibilities
of the Chairman and the co-managing Directors are clearly
defined and set out in writing. The Chairman provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the
support of the management, the Chairman is also responsible
for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate information and
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings. The
position of the Chairman is held by Mr. Yang Songsheng.

He ensures that the Board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner. He also ensures
all Directors are properly briefed on issues to be discussed at
Board meetings. The Chairman has encouraged directors with
different views to voice their concerns, allowed sufficient time for
discussion of issues and ensured that Board decisions fairly reflect
Board consensus. He has pushed all Directors to make a full and
active contributions to the Board'’s affairs and takes the lead to
ensure that the Board acts in the best interest of the Company.

Role of Chief Executive Officer

The co-managing Directors focus on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. They are in
charge of the Company's day-to-day management and operations.
The co-managing Directors are also responsible for developing
strategic plans and formulating the organisational structure, control
systems and internal procedures and processes for the Board's
approval. The position of co-managing Director is currently co-held
by Mr. Yeung Paak Ching and Mr. Jin Song, Mr. Yeung and Mr. Jin is
responsible for lottery agency business and gas business, respectively.
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(d) Training for Directors

(e)

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so
as to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the group
structure, Board procedures, business, management and operations
of the Company, etc and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company keeps circulating information and materials to
develop and refresh directors’ knowledge and skills from time
to time. All the information and materials are relevant to the
Group’s business, the economy, corporate governance, rules and
regulations, accounting, financial or professional skills and/or
directors’ duties and responsibilities. There are also arrangements
in place for providing continuing briefing and professional
development to each director. All directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense. The
Company Secretary is responsible to keep records of training
taken by each director.

Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policy and practices on corporate governance, assessing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management. During the year ended
31 March 2013, the Board reviewed, monitored and assessed
the policy and practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development to Directors and senior
management, policies and practice on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirement and the compliance with the Model
Code under the Listing Rule and disclosure requirements in this
Corporate Government Report.
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(f) Board Committees (f) EEZES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee, in which the Nomination Committee was
established on 1 April 2012, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company's affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board committees are disclosed in the corporate
website of the Company and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The members of the Audit Committee at present are all
independent non-executive Directors whereas, the majority
of Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
comprises independent non-executive Directors. The list of the
chairman and members of each Board committee is set out under
“Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at Company's expenses.

Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a remuneration committee (“RC")
with written terms of reference (amended from time to time) as
suggested under the Code Provision under the Code. The RC
comprises the following six members:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man, chairman of RC (Independent Non-
executive Director)

(i) Dr. Mo Shikang (executive Director)

(iii)  Mr. Zhang Hesheng (executive Director)

(iv)  Mr. Tan Qinglian (independent non-executive Director)
(v)  Dr. Liu Junmin (independent non-executive Director)

(vi)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun (independent non-executive Director)
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(f) Board Committees (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The RC meets at least once a year to determine the remuneration
policy for the Directors and senior management. The RC
has primary responsibility for making recommendations on
and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management to the Board after consultation with the Chairman
and Deputy Chairman, assessed performance of the executive
Directors and accessed to professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, when necessary.

The RC held two (2) meetings during the year ended 31
March 2013 for, inter alia, reviewing annually the policy for
the remuneration of Directors and senior management and
procedures for fixing the remuneration package, assessing
the performance of all Directors, making recommendation
on the remuneration packages of all Directors and the senior
management, approving the terms of Directors’ service contracts
and/or other related matters. The attendance records of the RC
are set out under “Number of Meetings Held and Attendance”
under the Corporate Governance Report, on page 51 of this
report.

Audit Committee

The Board has established an audit committee (“AC") with
written terms of reference (amended from time to time) as
suggested under the Code Provision under the Code. The AC
comprises the following five members, all independent non-
executive Directors, among them one independent non-executive
director possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. None of
the members of the AC is a former partner of the Company’s
existing external auditors.

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man, chairman of AC
(i) Mr. Tan Qinglian

(iii)  Dr. Liu Junmin

(iv)  Mr. Li Jialin

(v)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun
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(f) Board Committees (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the AC include the followings:

(@) To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the responsible
staff of accounting and financial report function,
compliance officer (if any), internal auditor or external
auditors before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors and
its independence by reference to the work performed
and services provided by the external auditors, their
fees, their firm's standards and practices and terms of
engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external
auditors.

() To review the continued connected party transactions as
disclosed in the annual report, if any, and confirm that
those transactions entered into by the Group were (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
on arm'’s length basis, on normal commercial terms and on
terms that are fair and reasonable as far as the shareholders
of the Company are concerned; and (iii) in accordance with
the terms of the agreements governing such transactions.

(d)  To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The AC held two (2) meetings during the year ended 31 March
2013 to review, assess and comment on the financial results
and reports, financial reporting, connected transactions and
compliance procedures, the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes and the re-appointment of the
external auditors in the annual general meeting. The attendance
records of the Audit Committee are set out under “Number of
Meetings Held and Attendance” on page 51 of this report.
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(f) Board Committees (Continued)

Auditor’'s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the fee paid/payable to
auditor in respect of audit service and non-audit services provided
by the auditor to the Group were as follows:

{

(f) EBZ89(#)
BHEHe

HE2013F3A31H ILFE - piAZEEI R AL
B R 2 RIS MR B RS TS N
NZzB8BEEHMT :

2013 2012
HK$000 HK$'000
Nature of services BR 7% 14 & BT T BT T
Audit for the year FEHEZ 2,180 2,090
Other HAh - 360
2,180 2,450

Nomination Committee REZEEY
The Board established an nomination Committee (“NC”) with BEEEN2012FE4A 1B TIREREES I
terms of reference as suggested under the Code provision under ZRSFAITFAMEX MR AEERES

the Code on 1 April 2012. The NC comprises the following
five members. Major of them are independent non-executive
Directors:

(i)  Dr. Mo Shikang, Chairman of NC (executive Director)

(i)~ Dr. Liu Junmin (independent non-executive Director)

(iii)  Mr. Tan Qinglian (independent non-executive Director)

(iv)  Mr. Sin Ka Man (independent non-executive Director)

(v)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun (independent non-executive Director)

Bt R B@ARNBBIIFATESE
Ko EXBTIRS:

() ERUEREBL RLZEEIR (WTEZF)
(i) BHEREL (BIIFRTES)

(i) BMEBEEL (BIIFRTES)

(iv) MEREELE (BILIFRTES)

(v) HEEHR (BIUIFNTESR)
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(f) Board Committees (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the NC include the followings:—

(1) review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategy,

(2) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(3) assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

(4) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The NC has held three (3) meetings inter alia, reviewing the policy
for the nomination of Directors, monitoring the composition
and effectiveness of the Board, assessing the independence of
each independent non-executive Director, sourcing individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and identifying
those Directors to be retired by rotation, and then be re-elected
as Directors in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Company'’s Bye-laws.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee are set out
under “Number of Meetings Held and Attendance” on page 51.
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(9)

(h)

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for the system of internal
controls of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Board is committed to implementing an effective and sound
internal controls system to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the assets of the Group. The Board, through the AC,
reviews the implementation of the system of internal controls
and reviewing of all relevant financial, operational, compliance
controls and risk management functions. A review will be
conducted at least annually on the effectiveness of the system of
internal controls. During the year, a meeting has held reviewing
and monitoring effectiveness of our major subsidiaries in relation
to the progress of completion on operational targets, market
development, customer service, production and operations
management, safety management system, finance, construction
works, ad hoc projects and overall performance.

Investor Relation

The Company is committed to maintain an open and effective
investor relation policy and to update investors on relevant
information/developments in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings with institutional
investors and analysts are conducted from time to time. The
Company also replied the enquiries from shareholders timely. The
Directors host the annual general meeting each year to meet the
shareholders and answer their enquiry.

The Company’s website at www.681hk.com contains important
corporate information, biographical details of Directors,
organisation structure, annual and interim reports, major
historical developments with comprehensive and user-friendly
information about the Group, as well as announcements
and circulars issued by the Company in order to enable the
Company's shareholders and the investor community to have
timely access to updated information about the Company and the
Group.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to convene a
special general meeting and state the purpose therefor at the
Company’s registered office in Bermuda at Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

The Company has adopted communications policy with
Shareholders and investors that provide ready, equal and timely
access to understandable information about the Company,
the policy is posted on the Company's website. The Board is
welcome to Shareholders for their comments and/or enquiries
about the Company. Shareholders may send their comments and/
or enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the Company
Secretary. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposal for the
Company’s consideration at the general meetings can send their
proposal to the Company Secretary.

Pursuant to Bye-law of the Company, if a shareholder wish to
propose a person other than a retiring Director for election
as a Director at a general meeting, the shareholder should
deposit a written notice of nomination which shall be given
to the head office of the Company at the within the 7-day
period commencing the day after the despatch of the notice of
the meeting (or such other period as may be determined and
announced by the Directors from time to time). The relevant
procedures is posted on the Company’s website.

Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company acknowledges the importance of maintaining
effective communication with the shareholders and the
investment community and has established a shareholders’
communication policy and review it regularly. Each general
meetings of the Company provides a forum for communication
between the Board and the shareholders.

During the year, Mr. Yang Songsheng, the chairman, attended the
shareholders’ meetings of the Company held by the Company.
Mr. Yang Songsheng will use their endeavours to attend all future
shareholders’ meetings of the Company.
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Communications with Shareholders and
Investors (Continued)

The chairman of the Board would arrange for the chairmans of
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee or their alternate be available to answer questions at
each annual general meeting. The chairman of the independent
board committee also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent shareholders’ approval.

The Board did and would arrange auditor to attend every annual
general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditors’ report, the
accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

An explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll
will be explained in every general meeting.

The Company's website (www.681hk.com) is maintained for the
dissemination of the Company’s announcements, press releases
and other relevant financial and non-financial information on a
timely basis.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Executive Director maintains
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them
abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors
are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B M B AN =

LI P SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
e
{% ﬁa 43/F., The Lee Gardens
Shine‘ZOan

33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CHINESE PEOPLE HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
PRERERAA

(Incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 191,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2013, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

PRERBRQF
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITY (continuea)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2013
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P05044

Hong Kong
24 July 2013

ZREETRE AT o)

BRSMATEFURS ARG S M SRR
TRLHRBEMNBREE ERWEFARTX
BEN A E - BRFGRAMBRRFEEANER
PRt (5 E i BFF 88 AR 5l iR ) 9 LB - 72 4E
ZERBRA AR ZBMBEEREZERREL A
ERNFHE2REAMBERRABOANIELE AR
TRBARTEEEZERF BEXFEERZER
AMEZREARKREER - BERHBETBENGE
PITAgHRENREER EARESEMENS
AHAEMAEN  UMEAMBERRNBE2ES
AAEH AR

BARE RAMRGRDEENERZEE (FR
ELEANER-

=R

BMRE HWERAVBHRERIVBEEBVB®RE
EREEATHER ESEM2013F3A831H
kR BE£EEEZBALFENERLR
LHRE YERBEEARKINEERTZ AR
§'(Jo

BB (BB BTMELFTERLT
BEEEAD

wEE

HMEBEHIE - P05044

BE
2013%7H24H

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited

2012-2013 Annual Report 65



Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

e R EUA K

For the year ended 31 March 2013 EZ2013F3A318 1L FE

2013 2012
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Turnover EER 7 1,518,889 1,119,002
Cost of sales and services SHE KRG AR (1,140,185) (825,758)
Gross profit EF 378,704 293,244
Other operating income E g A 9 31,031 19,764
Fair value change of contingent FAREZ
consideration NREZEH 14 74,154 -
Selling and administrative expenses HE RITHFEX (260,573) (198,496)
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, plant and & %% « &= &% &N &
equipment and prepaid lease payments At e 2 (EE) W (790) 422
Share of results of associates IR EARIES 5,343 10,086
Finance costs B 7 K AN 12 (7,667) (5,277)
Re-measurement of interest in an associate M EKA S EHM L AT 2
to fair value on business combination BREARBEENE 37c = 235,663
Bargain purchase gain for acquisition of Wi HRZEHER ZZBIK
jointly controlled entities BB e 37a 27,441 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of EREmRZBERE
goodwill 20 (41,301) -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of EMEREE®RRIAE
intangible assets &5 18 21 (740,538) -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ERmE  BRERZHEER
property, plant and equipment 2R EER 17 (5,243) -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BBt E 5 & H e W R IE R
trade and other receivables RZBEEE 26 (3,303) (6,250)
(Loss) profit before tax BT (B8 ) & A (542,742) 349,156
Income tax credit (expenses) FrisfiEe (FAX) 13 141,171 (43,728)
(Loss) profit for the year AEE (FE) = 10 (401,571) 305,428
Other comprehensive income (expense) for AT EHE 2 U A
the year (FxZ)
Exchange differences arising on translation of & IBINEFEATEE 2 E X
foreign operations 5 6,627 34,554
Share of exchange differences of associates [ {f Hi = 2 5] [ & £ 58 221 2,029
Loss on fair value changes of available-for- A HE SR EE QA EE
sale financial assets ) E 18 = (2)
Other comprehensive income for the year NEEFEHEMEEA 6,848 36,581
Total comprehensive (expenses) income for ~ ANEE 2@ () WA 424
the year (394,723) 342,009

FRERERAT
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2013 2012
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B &E BET T BT T
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: THERZAFE (BiE)
i )
Owners of the Company KARHEA A (421,502) 296,815
Non-controlling interests JEVE AR 19,931 8,613
(401,571) 305,428
Total comprehensive (expenses) income THEGz2E (FAX) /A
attributable to: FEEC
Owners of the Company KARER A (424,251) 329,828
Non-controlling interests IR =S 29,528 12,181
(394,723) 342,009
HK cents HK cents
B4l (il
(Loss) earnings per share Tk (EE) BF
— basic and diluted —EARNEEE 16 (7.25) 5.84
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI Ak

At 31 March 2013 20133 H31H

2013 2012
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Non-current assets EMEBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WE &F 17 1,067,077 884,260
Investment properties wEME 18 28,719 26,825
Prepaid lease payments A 19 78,919 49,870
Goodwill S 20 97,524 138,301
Intangible assets BIVEE 21 86,215 869,980
Interests in associates A& N A RE i 22 41,317 38,811
Available-for-sale financial assets A ESREE 24 9,048 83,961
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEWME WERZEN
plant and equipment and prepaid lease LiENE2EMIZS
payments 42,755 24,912
1,451,574 2,116,920
Current assets MBEE
Inventories e 25 77,250 47,854
Trade and other receivables B 5 I EAth ' Uk FRIE 26 341,263 168,265
Amount due from an associate JE WY — FE B 2 R B 308 22 1,038 1,032
Amount due from a jointly controlled JE Y — B R 15 I & g
entity KIE 27 337 -
Prepaid lease payments e 19 2,391 1,224
Held-to-maturity investments FEEIEEE 28 = 40,554
Pledged bank deposits BEEMRITIFR 29 6,311 5,390
Bank balances and cash IRITAEBREIRE 29 388,537 349,734
817,127 614,053
Current liabilities mENA R
Trade and other payables B 5 R EHMEN A 30 369,951 316,650
Tax liabilities HMIEAE 66,845 55,936
Amount due to a director B —HRESEHIE 31 4,218 3,833
Amount due to a joint venturer ER—HEERrE
CR-ak O 27 - 28
Amount due to an associate JE A — R & 8 &) 5K08 22 - 1
Bank borrowings — due within one year —FRINRHZRITEE 32 137,395 66,920
578,409 443,368
Net current assets MENEEFE 238,718 170,685
Total assets less current liabilities BEERBTDAE 1,690,292 2,287,605

FRERERAT
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2013 2012
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Capital and reserves AR A R
Share capital % Z< 34 406,697 406,697
Reserves s 912,992 1,341,816
Equity attributable to owners of the NAEHER ANELERE
Company 1,319,689 1,748,513
Non-controlling interests FEFE R i 5 109,833 81,760
Total equity HrER 1,429,522 1,830,273
Non-current liabilities FEmEBBRE
Bank borrowings — due after one year —FRIBZRITEE 32 215,991 217,635
Amount due to a director BN —RESHIEAE 31 25,560 27,714
Deferred tax liabilities BEHERE 33 19,219 211,983
260,770 457,332
1,690,292 2,287,605

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 191 were BHNFEER19 B EANSRRDEESERN
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 July 201367 H24 B # /& R EETIE  WHUTRES

2013 and are signed on its behalf by: =
Mr. Yang Songsheng Dr. Mo Shikang
Director Director
BRELE EtEE L
BF BE
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 E#Z2013F3A31HILFE
Retained Attributable
Surplus Share-based  Property  Investment profits  to owners Non-
Share Share Capital Contributed reserve Capital com revaluation | Exchange (accumulated of the  Controlling
capital  premium reserve surplus fund contribution reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) ~ Company ~Interests Total
R AER LES K& RERH AREEAA
BE RBEE  HARE  SABR BHORE  RARS MEHR  EGRE  EHRE  EXBR (ZHER)  BEEE  FERES Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  RETR O BETr BETR BMTn BRI BMTn BETR AETn BETR BETn BT BMTn BET
(Note &) (Note b) (Note )
(Wita)  (Wib) (Wi
A1 April 2011 R0NE4A18 285,756 615,523 2182 89,800 28,884 748 2878 454 21 137,228 (106,702) 1,083,506 71,049 1,154,555
Proft for the year RERER - - - - - - - - - - 296815 296815 8613 305428
Other comprehensive (expenses) income for the year ~ AFFEM2E (B KA
Loss on fair value changes of HLESREEDLERD
available-for-sale financial assets ] - - - - - - - - 2 - - 2 - @
Share of exchange differences of associates EBEnnERLE - - - - - - - - - 2,09 - 2,029 - 2,09
Exchange differences arising on translation of BERNBELZER
foreign operations i3] - - - - - - - - - 30,986 - 30,986 3,568 34,554
Total other comprehensive (expenses) income for the year AEREf2E (F3%) A LE - - - - - - - - o B0S - 3013 3568 36,581
Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year FER2E (AR RAEE - - - - - - - - [0l BOI5 296815 329,828 12181 342,009
Issue of consideration shares (Note 37¢) EHRERR (Mi310) 120941 214238 - - - - - - - - - 35179 - 3B
Appropriations E2 - - - - 20920 - - - - - (2090 - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries 1 FH B2 A ERERZRE - - - - - - - - - - - - (1.470) (1470)
Effect on share options lapsed BRESRCZE - - - - - - (6,260) - - - 6,260 - - -
At 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 R201253A31B k201254518 406,697 829,761 2182 89,800 49,804 7482 16,618 454 19 170,243 17545 1,748513 81,760 1,830,273
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - S50 (@21502) 19931 (401,571
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year REELR2E (AR KA
Share of exchange differences of associates EEBEAREY 28 - - - - - - - - - il - 21 - 0
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign ~ AEENEREEZER
operations 28 - - - - - - - - - (2,970) - (2,970) 9,597 6,627
Total other comprehensive (expenses) income for the year A FFEM2E (H%) A LE - - - - - - - - - (2749 - (2,749) 9,597 6,848
Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year FER2RE (AR RALE - - - - - - - - - (2749 (421502)  (424,251) 29508 (394723
Change in ownership interests in jaintly controlled entities {3 EEFAEERED - - - - - - - - - - (4573) (4573) - (@573)
Appropriations &% - - - - 13,409 - - - - - (13409 - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries 1§ M BA A ERERZZRE - - - - - - - - - - - - (1,455 (1455
At31 March 2013 2013538318 406,697 829,761 2182 89,800 63213 748 16,618 454 19 167,494 (264,031) 1,319,689 109833 1,429,522

FRERERAT
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

(@)

The amount represents a revaluation surplus which was recognised as a
result of the acquisition of an additional interest in Xin Hua Resources
Investment Limited (“Xin Hua"”) (previously an associate) which resulted
in Xin Hua becoming a subsidiary. Xin Hua was deregistered in year 2006
and its assets and liabilities were transferred to the Company.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the Company’s share capital issued as consideration
in exchange for the nominal value of the issued share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired at the time of the Company’s listing in 1997.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment
enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Company's
PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund
and a discretionary surplus reserve fund, which are non-distributable.
Appropriations to such reserves are made out of profit after taxation
of the statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the
amount and allocation basis are decided by their board of directors
annually. The statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to make up their
prior years losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by
means of capitalisation issue.

Z & FIEE W EXin Hua Resources Investment
Limited ([Xin Hual) (AEEERZHEAR))E
SMEE CEEXin Hual AAS BB AR MR
Z B AR Xin HuaB 120065 51 85 H&EE K
BEEEBREANG -

AEBEZHABREARTBURESREIAR
19975 LM IR Z B AR Z B BITRAM
BIOZARARARE BZEMELRDETR
AEEZZE-

P EARKME ([FE)IIEREZREE
REEDIFRE - AR R 2P BN E R RAERDE
ERBAEEREZRHBLEE (BTANIK)
ZEREB2BARE T EKNERRDEE B @mE
BB MEeE Rk BEER HZENE
RAEEEEFETE EZEABRARES T AEET
ZEWBRRBEFEZEE (WA)  XrEBR
AR BTERBEA -
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Consol |dated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3HA31HILLEE

2013 2012
Note HK$000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BT T ok v
Operating activities RETH
(Loss) profit before tax BrEiAT (B8 ) i (542,742) 349,156
Adjustments for: BMTHIEB LA

Re-measurement of interest in an associate JJLA%%%/\@?H# 1Bt

to fair value on business combination NAZERBARE
BEHAE 37c - (235,663)

Share of results of associates E(EBE & AR EE (5,343) (10,086)

Distribution from available-for-sales BRI HERE DK
investments (13,887) -

Interest income FE A (4,769) (5,855)

Dividend income &% S A (7) (198)

Gain on fair value changes of investment REMELRBEEBH W
properties (1,737) (2,036)

Bargain purchase gain for acquisition of WiEHREH B 2 EE
jointly controlled entities e B L 2 (27,441) -

Government grant income X 6 B 2 A (1,189) -

Fair value change of contingent FAREZ
consideration NREE (74,154) -

Reversal of impairment loss recognised in Bt E 5 K H M e KRR
respect of trade and other receivables T 2 R E 5 18 B O] (781) (399)

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEREER
and equipment and prepaid lease TBNESEER (W)
payments 790 (422)

Amortisation of intangible assets BEEREEE 43,852 20,887

Depreciation of property, plant and ME BEMEETE
equipment 40,531 33,336

Impairment loss recognised in respect of Bt E 5 & H M e KRR
trade and other receivables R BERE 3,303 6,250

Impairment loss recognised in respect of EREREERRZREAE
intangible assets fE18 740,538 -

Impairment loss recognised in respect of EREERRZMEERE
goodwill 41,301 -

Impairment loss recognised in respect of BRYIE B K
property, plant and equipment RZBEERE 5,243 -

Finance costs B 78 B R 7,667 5,277

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BEENES 1,492 826

Impairment loss recognised in respect of BT ERRZBEREE
inventories 240 551

Operating cash flows before movements in  &EE &SI 2 L ER

working capital mE 212,907 161,624

Increase in inventories F &N (8,948) (12,681)

(Increase) decrease in trade and other B 5 & EmEIWGIE (#E0)

receivables Rk > (55,725) 204,362

Increase (decrease) in trade and other B 5 N B Aty JfE 5 FRIE E N

payables CRA) 13,260 (61,979)

Cash generated from operations KEEBEERS 161,494 291,326

PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ENFPBECEMER (41,801) (49,909)

Net cash from operating activities REERELEREFE 119,693 241,417

hRERERAE
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2013 2012

Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
Bt 5E BT T BT T
Investing activities REE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEZ Y% - BE L& H (160,245) (135,916)
Payment for acquisition of available-for-sale S HWEAHHESREE
financial assets - (33,959)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEEME BELRZEBEUAR
plant and equipment and prepaid lease EMAeE MRS
payments (25,462) (22,288)
Purchase of prepaid lease payments EBEEMNES (15,809) (19,580)
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments BEHEENHKE (236,057) (15,976)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEEEMBRITER (952) (5,077)
Advance to a joint controlled entity M —EERZEHE B (337) -
Advance to an associate ) — B & A A B (2) -
Purchase of investment properties BEIREYMHE - (230)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REE A RITER - 8,217
Dividend income NN 7 198
Proceed from disposal of property, plant and HEY % FHE KR EFE
equipment IE 279 933
Dividend received from associates B S R RIRE 3,071 -
Interest received 2 E 4,769 5,855
Net cash inflow arising on investments in RERRAZEHER 2R S
jointly controlled entities A ER 27,497 -
Mature of held-to-maturity investments BEZIEKRED 276,842 12,289
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition of WM B AREE
subsidiaries ReMAFE 37¢ - 18,506
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBTAE ¥R (126,399) (187,028)
Financing activities & E B
New bank borrowings raised FrE&BiRITER 116,057 84,487
Government grant received PR ® 1,189 -
Advance from a joint venturer W —HeErEaER
2 - 25,119
Dividends paid to non-controlling NTHE AR IEIERER 2
interests of subsidiaries 5 B (1,455) (1,470)
Repayment of other loans 188 Kb B % = (2,433)
Repayment to a joint venturer BETHEELESET
Z RIA (28) (13,330)
Repayment to a director BE-BESZHIA 31 (3,963) -
Interest paid EAFE (18,063) (17,228)
Repayment of bank borrowings BEETER (48,846) (22,093)
Repayment to a shareholder of an associate fEE—HB 2 Q[ 2 — &K
Rz IR — (24,348)
Net cash from financing activities MELTHELR IR 44,891 28,704
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EFEEBEINF
# 38,185 83,093
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ~ F#HE & MRS EEHER
the year 349,734 262,763
Effect of foreign currency rate changes INESTE R B E B 618 3,878
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, F&HE & MR EEIEH
represented by bank balances and cash BNERITAE SR IR & 388,537 349,734
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RS Rk M

For the year ended 31 March 2013 E#Z2013F3A31HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated in Bermuda
on 13 November 1996. On 24 April 1997, the Company's
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” of
the Company’s Annual Report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 45.

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) is Renminbi (“RMB").
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated. The reason for
selecting HK$ as its presentation currency is because the
Company is a public company incorporated in Bermuda with the
shares listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of its investors
are located in Hong Kong.

FRERERAT
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").

Amendments to HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for
First-time Adopters

Deferred Tax: Recovery of

Underlying Assets

Amendments to Hong Kong
Accounting Standard
("HKAS") 12

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures
— Transfers of Financial

Assets

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets

The Group has applied for the first time the amendments to
HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets in the
current year. Under the amendments, investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS
40 "Investment Property” are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes, unless
the presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.

FE RFTR] REIERT BB
s EL ([BBMH

WEER )

RAFE RNEBECEM T B EEGFED
NE ([BEEGMAE]) B 2T REE
ARG REEL -

BERVBEREENE BRERBBIREI B

158 (85T 4) BRI E 2 EE
A &7

EFGEL(IE EEHE: KEHEE
BETER])F BE
125% (BRTA)

EBMERELNE SRTIE - FE-—2%
75% (1BETA) BMEEEE

BT X & ES AEERA LA EFBWS
WMELBITAHARERANF LBEFE
ZHBREFMAR,IBRZEEE B
WRIBPBWEERNTE -

EBEERNE125 (BT ELE
BIE: WO EEEE

AEERAFECEREABTBGTENSE
125% (ERTAN) [EERA : WRIAREE ] -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets (Continued)

The Group measures its investment properties using the fair value
model. As a result of the application of the amendments to HKAS
12, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) reviewed
the Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time through rental income and that the presumption set out
in the amendments to HKAS 12 is rebutted. As a result, the
Group continues to measure the deferred tax relating to these
investment properties on the basis that the entire carrying
amounts of the properties were recovered through use. Thus, the
Directors concluded that the application of the amendments to
HKAS 12 has no material effect on the Group.

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendment to HKFRSs Annual Improvements 2009-2011
Cycle!

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of HKFRSs -
Government Loan'

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities'

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Mandatory Effective Date

and HKFRS 7 of HKFRS 9 and Transition

Disclosures?

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Consolidated Financial
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 Statements, Joint Arrangements
and Disclosure of Interests
in Other Entities: Transition
Guidance!
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
(as revised in 2011)

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 32
Amendments to HKAS 36

Amendments to HKAS 39

Amendments to Hong Kong
(International Financial
Reporting Interpretation
Committee) ("IFRIC") —
Interpretation ("Int") 20

Hong Kong (IFRIC) — Int 21

Investment Entities?

Financial Instruments?

Consolidated Financial
Statements’
Joint Arrangements’

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities’
Fair Value Measurement'

Employee Benefits'
Separate Financial Statements'

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income*

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities?

Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets*

Recognition and Measurement:
Novation of Derivatives
and Continuation of Hedge
Accounting?

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine'

Levies?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(" H KFRSS") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Other than set out below, the Directors anticipated that the
application of the new and revised HKFRSs would have no
material impact on the results and the consolidated financial
positions of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements (as part of the Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle issued in June 2012)

Various amendments to HKFRSs were issued in June 2012, the
title of which is Annual Improvements to HKFRSs (2009 — 2011
Cycle). The effective date of these amendments is annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

HKAS 1 requires an entity that changes accounting policies
retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or
reclassification to present a statement of financial position as at
the beginning of the preceding period (third statement of financial
position). The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity is
required to present a third statement of financial position only
when the retrospective application, restatement or reclassification
has a material effect on the information in the third statement
of financial position and that related notes are not required to
accompany the third statement of financial position.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities (as part of the
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle
issued in June 2012)

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify that income tax on
distributions to holders of an equity instrument and transaction
costs of an equity transaction should be accounted for in
accordance with HKAS 12 "Income Taxes". The Directors
anticipate that the amendments to HKAS 32 will have no effect
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group
has already adopted this treatment.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities and Amendments
to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities
requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning
of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and
“simultaneous realisation and settlement”.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose
information about rights of offset and related arrangements (such
as collateral posting requirements) for financial instruments under
an enforceable master netting agreement or similar arrangement.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and interim periods
within those annual periods. The disclosures should also be
provided retrospectively for all comparative periods. However,
the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with retrospective
application required.

The Directors anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKAS 32 and HKFRS 7 may result in more
disclosures being made with regard to offsetting financial assets
and financial liabilities in the future.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
amended in 2010 includes the requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

o All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” are subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.

° With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable
to changes in the financial liabilities” credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39,
the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through profit or
loss was presented in profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2015, with earlier application permitted. The Directors
anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future may have
significant impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities. Regarding the Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed
review has been completed.

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 "Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements” that deal with consolidated
financial statements. HK (SIC)-Int 12 “Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities” will be withdrawn upon the effective date
of HKFRS 10. Under HKFRS 10, there is only one basis for
consolidation, that is, control. In addition, HKFRS 10 includes a
new definition of control that contains three elements: (a) power
over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's
returns. Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to
deal with complex scenarios. The application of HKFRS 10 is not
expected to change any of the control conclusions reached by
the Group in respect of its involvement with other entities as at 1
April 2013.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERFFTREETEBE

REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures”.
HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or
more parties have joint control should be classified. HK (SIC)-
Int 13 “Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions
by Venturers” will be withdrawn upon the effective date of
HKFRS 11. Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified
as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights
and obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast,
under HKAS 31, there are three types of joint arrangements:
jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly
controlled operations. In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS
11 are required to be accounted for using the equity method of
accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31
can be accounted for using the equity method of accounting or
proportionate accounting.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/
or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the
current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain transitional guidance on
the application of these five HKFRSs for the first time.

These five standards, together with the amendments relating
to the provisional guidance, are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2013. Earlier application is
permitted provided that all of these five standards are applied
early at the same time.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

The Directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted
in the Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning 1 April 2013. The application of these five
standards will have significant impact on amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements. The application of HKFRS
11 will result in changes in the accounting of the Group’s
jointly controlled entities that are currently accounted for using
proportionate consolidation.

The application of HKFRS 11 will change the classification
and subsequent accounting of the Group's controlled entities.
Under HKAS 31, the Group’s jointly controlled entities have
been accounted for using proportionate consolidation method.
Under HKFRS 11, the Group's jointly controlled entities will be
classified as joint ventures and will be accounted for using the
equity method, resulting in the aggregation of the Group's
proportionate share of respective net assets and items of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income into a single line item
which will be presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as “investment in joint ventures” and “share of profits
(loss) of joint ventures” respectively. The summarised financial
information in respect of the Group’s joint controlled entities is
disclosed in Note 23.

FE RFTR] REIERT BB
s EL ([BBMH

REER]) 0

REAR ¥R BEQARK
B REETER (&)

E=HEH ARBZHEA VB HREKNR2013
FAR TR 2 FEREERRZIRE -
FERZARENGHEEMBRRAZERL
THBREATE ERBTEMBERELER
FNRBEHAKE 2 KFZEHER (B A
ERZRLOIGHAR) 2 BFtREHEEE-

ERZEVBEREENENRBERELRE
BIEHERZ O BERRESHRE - RES
B ERFEIR ARE 2 HFZEHERE
BEERALHGREEAR REFBMBRE
ERENGR AEEZHARZEHEESHE
SEELEYKEREREARR BRALE
BRZEEEARZEEFE BEHARK
Hippmiamz BIGLHIREHERE R
B YREEMBRRREEE2EEER
DEATREEEEZRE | R IRERED
Fmd (BB 25 - ARASE KR ZE
BERZVBEMERN M 235 E -

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited

2012-2013 Annual Report 83



T . [T}

L s

5 = JERNEPRS
X -

—_— — —

®___& e

"= L
«

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2013 E£2013F3H831H L FE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERHFEI REETE B

REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements.
The standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value, and requires disclosures about fair value
measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both
financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items for
which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements
and disclosures about fair value measurements, except in
specified circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements
in HKFRS 13 are more extensive than those in the current
standards. For example, quantitative and qualitative disclosures
based on the three-level fair value hierarchy currently required for
financial instruments only under HKFRS 7 “Financial instruments:
Disclosures” will be extended by HKFRS 13 to cover all assets and
liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the new standard
may affect certain amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements and result in more extensive disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(" HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income” introduce new terminology
for the statement of comprehensive income and income
statement. Under the amendments to HKAS 1, a “statement of
comprehensive income” is renamed as a “statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income” and an “income
statement” is renamed as a “statement of profit or loss”. The
amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in either a single statement
or in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the
amendments to HKAS 1 require items of other comprehensive
income to be grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items that
may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive
income is required to be allocated on the same basis — the
amendments do not change the option to present items of other
comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The presentation of items of
other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when
the amendments are applied in the future accounting periods.

The Directors anticipated that the application of other new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretation would have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ir e IR AR AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESFTHXK
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in TR e M BEHRERDIRBEES ST AERHEM
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the ZEBTHIREERRE - 1IN RERE BT
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures WEBIEMARES EWHRA ([ LmHREA])
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the REBRAUEOIRE 2 BRAKE -

Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on TEREMBBREDIBBEELNARNAERR
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments HETeMIARIKREMEDER AR EE
and investment properties that are measured at fair values as TP ERTBERATIL - B SRR A — 2R
explained in the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost BHRREmSANREZARE

is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange of goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below. FEETBEREMMT

Basis of consolidation FmERBEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial RiFe M BHmKxBEAR B RARAIFTEZES
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the ZER(EMBERAR) 2MBHRE AR RHE
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the BNEE—RER B REEBERARE
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating EBHEGN & B E A G-

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of RERKBERHEZHB AR WA KX
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 2RI AR A e R E B A A
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and IF(ER) T AGZE2EBABREKA -

up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial MBEFE KBEMBRAR W BRTMEITH
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into ?;E DA HE G BEREREEETEMKE
line with those used by other members of the Group. NEIPERE B
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are REBRARARRAZHABERS & WARRA
eliminated in full on consolidation. XEHEGFEREAEHEE-
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately MEBARZIFERERENAEE 2 ERF
from the Group's equity therein. BEE5 o

PRERERAR
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
for deferred tax assets and liabilities which are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 "Income Taxes".
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or when applicable, on
the basis specified in another standard.

When the consideration transferred by the Group is a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured as its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

FRERERAT
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business or jointly
controlled entities (which is accounted for using proportionate
consolidation) is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses, if any, and is presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
The results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, interests in associates are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associates. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of that associate.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect of
the Group's investment in an associate. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associates are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associates that
are not related to the Group.

Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject
to joint control (i.e. when the strategic financial and operating
policy decisions relating to the activities of the joint venture
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control).

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled entities
using proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share of each
of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly
controlled entities are combined with the Group’s similar line
items, line by line, in the consolidated financial statements. The
financial statements of jointly controlled entities for proportionate
consolidation purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in
a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of a business or a jointly controlled entity (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above).
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

Where a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits or losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly
controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

When a change in the Group's ownership interests in existing
jointly controlled entities that do not result in a change of control
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the jointly controlled entities.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction in progress)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided to write-off the cost of item of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each of the reporting date.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the assets. Any gain or loss
arising on disposal and retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measure at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified
and recognised separately from goodwill where they satisfy the
definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be
measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land for own use (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For the purpose
of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined
above.

Inventories

Inventories, including construction materials, gas appliances, gas
fuel for sales, consumables and spare parts and lottery tickets,
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidate statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments and available-for-sale ("AFS") financial assets. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amount due from a joint
controlled entity, amount due from an associate, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates
that the Group’s management has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-
to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are not classified as
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified as
AFS and are trade in an active market are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Changes in the carrying amount of
AFS monetary financial assets relating to interest income calculated
using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity
investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the
carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of
investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are measured
at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

For an AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

° breach of contract, default or delinquency in interest and
principal payments; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e disappearance of an active market for that financial market
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the credit period of 30 to 90 days (extending to 180 days
for major customers), as well as observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of impairment
loss is measured at the difference between the assets’ carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in
profit or loss. When trade and other receivables are considered
uncollectible, they are written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment losses was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses on AFS equity investments will not be reversed
in the profit or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in investments
revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant reporting periods. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amount due to an associate, amount due to a joint venturer,
amount due to a director and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLlCl ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire or,
when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years, and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates
and interests in jointly controlled entities, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
properties portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
There, in measuring the Group's deferred taxation on investment
properties, the Directors have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale
is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred taxation in relation to the
Group’s investment properties has been measured based on the
tax consequences of recovering the carrying amounts entirely
through use.

Current and deferred tax for the year are recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services rendered in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Sales of and distribution of natural gas and liquefied petroleum
gas (“LPG") (collectively referred to as “Gas Fuel”) and gas
appliances are recognised when goods are delivered and title has
passed at which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to
meeting the above criteria on revenue recognition are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Service income is recognised when the services are rendered.

Gas connection revenue is recognised upon completion of
pipeline construction which according to industry practice in the
region coincides with the “fire ignition ceremony”.

Commission income from lottery sales is recognised on an accrual
basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.
Income from lottery business including lottery ticketing service
and other related services is recognised in the accounting period
in which the service is rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant lease terms.

Dividend income from investments including AFS financial assets
is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment
have been established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
equity under the heading of the exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing cost directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recorded until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and the
retirement funds scheme managed by local social security bureau
in accordance with the government regulations of the People's
Republic of China (the "PRC"), and are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees of the Group in
an equity-settled share-based payment arrangement

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with
a corresponding increase in equity (“share-based compensation
reserve”).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expenses reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to retain profits/
accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants, agents and
advisors in equity-settled share-based payment
arrangement

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case
the goods or services received are measured by reference to the
fair value of the share options granted. The fair values of the
goods or services received are recognised as expenses, with a
corresponding increase in equity (“share-based compensation
reserve”), when the Group obtains the goods or when the
counterparties render services, unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on the historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recongised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognised revenue in respect of the connection and
construction of gas pipeline upon the construction of pipelines
for users and connection of such pipelines to the Group's existing
gas pipeline network, which is concurrent with the “fire ignition
ceremony”.

Held-to-maturity investments

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s held-to-maturity
investments in the light of its capital maintenance and liquidity
requirements and have confirmed the Group’s positive intention
and ability to hold those assets to maturity. As at 31 March 2012,
the carrying amount of the held-to-maturity investments was
approximately HK$40,554,000. Details of these assets are set out
in Note 28.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies (Continued)

Legal titles of certain land and buildings

As stated in Notes 17 and 19 respectively, the titles of certain
buildings and a parcel of land were not transferred to the Group
as at 31 March 2013. Despite the fact that the Group has not
obtained the relevant legal titles, the Directors determine to
recognise those buildings and land use right as property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments respectively, on the
grounds that they expect the transfer of legal titles in future
should not be subject to any major difficulties and the Group is in
substance controlling those buildings and that parcel of land.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that were measured using the fair value
model, the Directors reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties
in the PRC were held under a business model whose objective is
to consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time rather than through
sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred taxation
on investment properties, the Directors determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model recovered entirely through
sale was rebutted. As a result, the Group continues to recognise
deferred tax liabilities on change in fair value of investment
properties on the basis that the entire carrying amounts of the
properties will be recovered through use.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments

The Group tests annually whether property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments have suffered any impairment
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 3.
The recoverable amounts have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use
of estimates such as the future revenue and discount rates.
As at 31 March 2013, the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments are approximately
HK$1,067,077,000 (2012: HK$884,260,000) and HK$81,310,000
(2012: HK$51,094,000). Impairment loss of approximately
HK$5,243,000 (2012: nil) were recognised for property, plant and
equipment for the year ended 31 March 2013. No impairment
loss was recognised for prepaid lease payments for both years.

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill or intangible asset is impaired
requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated or the intangible
asset belongs. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31
March 2013, the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible
assets are approximately HK$97,524,000 (2012: HK138,301,000)
and HK$86,215,000 (2012: HK$869,980,000) respectively.
Impairment loss of approximately HK$41,301,000 and
HK$740,538,000 were recognised for goodwill and intangible
asset respectively for the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: nil).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortisation of intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight
line basis over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account the estimated residual value. Intangible assets are
amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The determination of the useful lives and residual values
involve management’s estimation. The Group assesses annually
the residual value and the useful lives of the property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets and if the expectation differs
from the original estimate, such differences from the original
estimates will impact the depreciation and amortisation in the
year and the estimate will be changed in the future period.

Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss)
recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade and other receivables
based on an assessment of the recoverability of receivables.
Impairment loss are applied to trade and other receivables where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible or when the net present value of the
receivable is less than the carrying amount of the receivable. The
identification of impairment loss requires the use of judgements
and estimates. Where the expectation on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of trade and
other receivables and the impairment in the periods in which
such estimate has been changed. As at 31 March 2013, the
carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately
HK$341,263,000 (2012: HK$168,265,000) (net of accumulated
impairment losses of trade receivables and other receivables
approximately HK$13,860,000 (2012: HK$11,401,000) and
HK$23,662,000 (2012: HK$23,458,000)) respectively. Details of
movement in impairment on trade and other receivables are set
out in Note 26.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of unlisted AFS financial assets

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows. As at 31 March 2013, the carrying
amount of unlisted equity securities included in AFS financial
assets is approximately HK$8,994,000 (2012: HK$83,907,000)
(net of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$6,836,000 (2012: HK$6,796,000). No impairment loss is
recognised in respect of AFS financial assets for both years.

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of interests in associates

Interests in associates are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Value-in-use calculations are
used for assessing the recoverable amount of these interests.
These calculations require use of judgements and estimates.

Management estimation is required for assessing impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related carrying value of interests may
be not recoverable; and (ii) whether the carrying value of the
interests can be supported by the recoverable amount. Changing
the estimates used by management in assessing impairment
could materially affect the recoverable amount used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s consolidated
financial position and results of operations. As at 31 March 2013,
the carrying amount of interests in associates is approximately
HK$41,317,000 (2012: HK$38,811,000). No impairment loss is
recognised in respect of interests in associates for both years.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss on inventories

The management of the Company reviews the inventories listing
on a product-by-product basis at the end of each reporting
period and makes allowance for slow moving inventory items.
As at 31 March 2013, the carrying amount of inventories is
approximately HK$77,250,000 (2012: HK$47,854,000) (net of
accumulated allowance of approximately HK$1,445,000 (2012:
HK$1,205,000)). The management estimates the net realisable
value for such items based primarily on the latest invoice prices
and current market conditions.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for certain taxable
temporary differences. Significant management estimation is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future planning strategies.
Further details of which are disclosed in Note 33.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, including
bank borrowings as disclosed in Note 32, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves as
disclosed in Note 34 and the consolidated statement of changes
in equity respectively.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of
the review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. The Group monitors
capital through the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by net debt and capital. Total debt includes bank
borrowings (including current and non-current bank borrowings
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position).
Total capital includes equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The Group aims to maintain the gearing ratio at a
reasonable level.

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period were as
follows:

5.

B REE

AEEHEREEN UERAKEANRE
EERKELE R TEBE1EKR
ZFEMRRRFR&RSE R NEEH
BERREBEFEMAER -

I

N
<

4

e Bk e

N

AEBzERRBREEE (BIENHE32
BECRITEE) ReMRSFEBRENKL
ARBIEAARGER (BREETERAM
fEHE)  DRIRBERM I RG AR E D
*o

EXETEHRTEARE - ERW 2 — 8D
EXZREABHELARBZEARAEME
B AEEFERENABLRERERMMR -
FZHETVEFRERANFEEREAE -
BEAREERRTER (BEEEMBIKR
WARFRAVHEIEANHRITEE) - EARE
BREARFEE ARGER AEEE T
HERNBELREREREKFE-

WMERRZERBBELRLT

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BEFT

Bank borrowings (Note 32) RITEE (MFE32) 353,386 284,555
Less: Bank balances and cash B IRITHESBR LIRS (388,537) (349,734)
Net debt FRIE (35,151) (65,179)
Equity attributable to owners and total capital WEAEBLERRERREE 1,319,689 1,748,513
Net debt and capital FEERER 1,284,538 1,683,334
Gearing ratio BAREELER (2.7%) (3.9%)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments () 2MIAE>SE
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories UTEENeHEERERABEN®RE
of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the R ZBREBELT
reporting period are set out as follows:
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets SREE
AFS financial assets AHEESREE 9,048 83,961
Held-to-maturity investments BEZIHEE = 40,554
Loans and receivables (including cash and ERRENGIE (BER:
cash equivalents) kRS EMEER) 600,083 427,615
609,131 552,130
Financial liabilities SRas
Other financial liabilities stated at BT BR 2
amortised cost EmemasE 551,109 457,908
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) tmEMEEEEREE
policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include AFS ZK%@Z‘IE%EEIEE%—H HE®
financial assets, held-to-maturity investments, trade and BREE -BFEZIHKE - ES5REM
other receivables, amount due from an associate, amount & U A - F_H&—FEJH’H“MAT RIE - B
due from a jointly controlled entity, pledged bank deposits, W— M HEREEHEERE  BEMRT
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, amount FH-BITEBRERe EHRAME
due to a joint venturer, amount due to an associate, T RIE FEH—FEJ/\QJL% g
amount due to a director and bank borrowings. Details B BN —HEBERRRNE BN —&
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective EEFNERRITEE - Jﬁt“”i\ﬁﬂlﬂz
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments BN EBENEANEE - Ber T AR
include market risk (interest rate risk, other price risk and FzEReEmSRE (FIXER - E
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies mERRERREERR)  FEERR K
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The TENR & R TY%E'J/JEWWI:&*H
management manages and monitors these exposures to ZHE-EIEEE f@&%%‘%lﬂ:%ﬂ
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely AR S 5 B A BU S EUE & FE B -
and effective manner.
FRERERAR
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate on held-to-maturity investments (Note
28). The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate bank deposits (Note 29) and variable-rate
bank borrowings (Note 32). It is the Group's policy to keep
its bank deposits and bank borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For variable-
rate borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
point (2012: 50 basis point) increase or decrease in interest
rate is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2012: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's post-tax loss for the year ended 31
March 2013 (2012: post-tax profit) would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$152,000 (2012: increase/decrease by
approximately HK$265,000). This is mainly attributable to
the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
bank deposits and bank borrowings.

(b) EREREERERBE

(%)
RS

AEEHRBEEEXRZBHEEIHRERE
(PFif5E28) MEH AR EF KRR - A%
[ TR B O A N RS B - AT 0 B IR
BEmAXER XHRAHLIREKR
F R EREE B REEMBEITE

AEBEZRSRENXREARTIZETH
M ERITI R (KT aE29) BOZ B A KR
TTEE (M532) BR - RIRERRER
KRR NEEZBRBRFERITE
RERITEENF BRI KRGS -

T ZHBEED M IREITETAR
HEHRRZAEZRBRAEEMET -7
FEHREEMS  FRZEDTER®
BRMEPRZ KEERELENESF
WNINAREBE-BRANSEEEREAEE
R R @B 2 HS FI R DR 501E & 2h
(20124F - SOEIEZL) MR KRERE
BRI ERABAI e 2 71 -

i M=, FHES01EE 2, (20124 ¢
SOfEE2E) mATA Hiab ] @A EHF T
B REBE E2013F3A31HILFE
2 FBEE (20124  BL& %A 158
/18 HN 497 #152,0007T (20124
0, R A 4 265,000 ) T B2
E B A S EEE TR RIBITFERRLIR
TEEZFE -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) . ERMIA e
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) eREREERFERBRE
policies (Continued) (#&)
Other price risk Hfi (548 R I%
The Group was exposed to equity price risk through its REZ=201342012F3A318 IEFE
investment in listed equity securities for the years ended REBREEER £ ANE F M £
31 March 2013 and 2012. The management manages this BAEERR -EIRERBEFTRR
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with g R B REHRE M EELE
different risk and return profiles. The Group’s equity price e AREEZRABERRFEEEFHR
risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities operating in TEEE TP RE 2 1T 5 0 BB < IR AN FE
industry sectors quoted in the Stock Exchange. The Group's FoAEE L FTRAEFZERNRR
sensitivity risk to investment in listed equity securities is FURIZER10% (20124F :10% ) °
10% (2012: 10%).
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based AT 2 BRE ST TR BN #E B AIFT
on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. T ¥ 2 IR AN B A% [ B i 725 78 o
Increase (decrease)
in investments
revaluation reserve
REEMFEFEE N ORD)
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
If equity prices had been 10% higher i AERE EFR10%
(2012: 10%) (20124 : 5 5
If equity prices had been 10% lower MR AERE T/E10%
(2012: 10%) (20124 : (5) (5)

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk associated with movements
in foreign currency rates which will affect the Group’s
financial results and its cash flow. As at 31 March 2013 and
2012, certain bank balances of the Group are denominated
in foreign currencies other than the functional currency of
the group entities, i.e. RMB. The Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging the potential foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

FRERERAT
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(b) EREREERERBE

policies (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

(%)
KR (4)

RBEHR NEBAINEAEZEE
BEZREEBENAT:

Assets
&E
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok
HK$ ke 20,091 49,331
United States dollars (“USD") Erx(IZExT])) 20,037 19,857

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to HK$ and USD.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
(2012: 5%) increase and decrease in the functional currency
of the relevant group entities, RMB, against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% (2012: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currencies denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2012: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates.

A positive number below indicates a decrease in post-tax
loss (increase in post-tax profit) for the years where the
respective functional currency (RMB) strengthen 5% (2012:
5%) against the relevant foreign currency (HK$ or USD).
For a 5% (2012: 5%) weakening of respective functional
currency (RMB) against the relevant foreign currency (HK$
or USD), there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the loss/profit for the year and the balances below would be
negative.

HBESH
AEEEBEEBERETZER-

TRFVEREE L EE S E T
BB (ARB)HEBINEAERREAE
5% (2012%F :5% ) 2@ E > 5%
(2012 5% ) BRNFHEBETR AR
REINERBR TR 2 SURE R R
REEBHEYERTEGEZE 25
o BREED T ERTEAININETE 2
AFEEBIEE WARSHRAREL
Ho DA R BRSNS B 2R 2 5% (20124F -
5% )& &)

THESFRRWAEBERBNEEE (A
R¥)ZEBEINE B%RET)AE
5% (2012%F 5% ) FTER 2 FEH %
BERD (BEEFIEM) - HiAEEE
NEEEEE (AR LHNE (B E
TC) B2 fBE5% (20124F : 5% ) » 1§ & ¥ 4F
EEE SR FERSE AR ZZEM
TR A&
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea) TR T B 2
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) eREREERERBRE
policies (Continued) (%)
Currency risk (Continued) ERRE(Z)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRESW(EZ)
usb HKD
ES B
2013 2012 2013 2012
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT #BETxT EETT
Increase (decrease) in post-tax FER% (EE)RF
(loss) profit for the year #nCRd)
— if RMB weakens against - i AR XN
foreign currencies B2 1B 751 745 754 1,850
— if RMB strengthens against - AR N
foreign currencies FH1E (751) (745) (754) (1,850)
Credit risk EERE

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. The Group’s trading terms with its industrial
and commercial customers in gas fuel are mainly on
credit, except for customers where payment in advance
is normally required. The normal credit period is generally
for a period of 30 days to 90 days and extending up
to 180 days for major customers. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are disclosed in Note 26.

FRERERAT
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on amount due from a joint controlled
entity and an associate is limited as the counterparties are
enterprises with strong financial position as at 31 March
2013 and 2012.

The credit risk on liquid fund is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit rating.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 100%
(31 March 2012: 100%) of the total trade receivables as at
31 March 2013.

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group reviews the level
of cash and cash equivalents to ensure their adequacy to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuation in cash flows. The Group also reviews the
utilisation of borrowings and ensures the compliance of
loan covenants. The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s business,
the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and
credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group
finances its working capital requirements through a
combination of funds generated from operations and bank
borrowings.

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “within one year or on demand” time
band in the following maturity analysis. As at 31 March
2013 and 2012, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amounts of these bank loans amounted to approximately
HK$117,287,000 and HK$37,604,000 respectively. Taking
into account the Group's financial position, the Directors
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that such bank loans will
be repaid two years after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements.

(b) SRIAREEEEREEK (&)

EREE (#Z)

AR 58 F 75 Th20134 &201243
A3MBMERTHBERRAZ B B
—HEECEREIR—MBERTZ
REZZERBRER-

HRRXZHFESSEEEFRZR
T #RBEezEERRER-

BWEBAEST AEEZEERKRSE
AR E - HR2013F3A31HGE S
JE U N ITE 4258 2 100% (201293 A31
H:100%) °

W R & R

REERDAETREE AEERMREE
ERE&FEEE2KF BRERLS
AEBZEBRHBELRERSRE
KB e NREEEHEE ZER
WHERBRE R 2 RE - A& EIK
SRITEE FRIERDESRR-

HRASEXRGBEATEME 8K
SEHREFARHENEERENUF
BAKEBRYPESTE AKEEBLE
LRELZES MRTEESRET R

REBETHRE-

MR Z K EIE R 2 RITE G A
THEIED TR [—F Rk R E ke
Z BB R R2013F K201243 A 31
H ZESRTERZARBBEASHTES
R E LB 117,287,000 M B #E
37,604,0007T ° & 5T M A& B 2 B 75 Ak
N EERERITETRAETELD
BRAERFER EERAZER
TEREREEEERBERMHTZ
TEEEERPRBFEHREMFEE-
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities
based on the agreed repayment terms. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

Within
one year

oron  Within the
demand second year

—ER

Within the
third year

TR T B
(b) eRtEREEEEREE £

REBREmRE (ZF)

TREFIRBBE 2 EEGT NEE
HFTELRABBRGBE OB ZFS-
bR TH IR IR AN 5 B AT R B R AR E KA
FZE eRMAEBEZAMRARTREM

HE - WERBEFNNBEREASREMRE -
M B FB A KA E - BIRRAIR S H
SRBEMENR A KRFTE

Total
Within the ~ Within the Over undiscounted ~ Carrying

fourthyear  fifthyear fiveyears cashflow  amount
AERRE

GREXE  ECER SZER ERER FRER BRBRE  FEAE FEE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BT AETT A%t BB BETr BT BETx

At 31 March 2013 R2013E3A31A
Trade and other payables BAREMENFE 168,456 - - - - - 1684% 168456
Amount due to a director EN-2E258 4218 4326 4326 4326 4326 17,301 38,823 29,778
Bank borrowings BIEE 156,986 4672 44,950 13,448 4180 120927 449167 353,386
329,660 45,998 49,276 47,774 45510 138228 656,446 551,620

At 31 March 2012 R2012%38318
Trade and other payables B REMEMNTE 141,777 . - - - N A ]
Amount due to a joint venturer ER-HAEGFAENIE 28 - - - - - 28 3
Amount due to a director EN-2E258 4301 4,301 4301 4,301 4301 21,507 3,01 31,547
Amount due to an associate Ef-HELRATE 1 - - - - - 1 1
Bank borrowings R1EE 81,553 26,306 34,922 36,626 36,195 140604 35,206 284,555
227,660 30,607 39,023 40,927 4049 162111 541,04 457,908

hRIZERAERDF
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea)

(c) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted market
bid prices and ask prices respectively.

The Directors consider that the fair values of current
financial assets and current financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their corresponding carrying amounts due
to their immediate or short-term maturities.

The Directors consider the carrying amounts of the long-
term bank borrowings and amount due to a director
approximate their fair values as they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for
identical assets or liabilities.

6.

BEGR R G RN ERRE TS
TREENERBBEZARE"
I2EZMBTEERENEREE

o0

I
° P m ot
N

EER/NEEPBHRERT AEHKA
ANEzeREERERAGBZAAER
HEEREMLRS RESKERAH
e B BIH -

PR RS PR B R ) ORI B S K AR D1 B -
Rt E2RAS RERTEES MES
—REFFHAEZREESEEALER

o

Eo

RiGaRBERKRERPRRBZARER
=

TREHRNEBRAREZIAENEZ
TRTADN  UREEAABEZAE
REERAS -

M2 DA EFEIERT S AN
REEXABZTSHRE (KLH

)

Level 1
E—&
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok
AFS financial assets AHEESREE
— Securities listed in Hong Kong —REBLMZES 54 54
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/7. TURNOVER 7.

Turnover represents the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal
course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes. An

—E 3L

EERBHOKIBURREZAAENE K
REMBB MM EERBRBRNAEER
@izt 2z o E R mMe R IR B UGRIA

analysis of the Group's turnover is as follows: REBZEEBAOWNT :
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HETBEMR 692,631 590,618
Pipelines construction E!E'Wﬁ%fiﬁﬁ% 234,754 197,333
Transportation, distribution and g o RIRE
bottled retail of LPG BIER 589,351 330,619
Commission income from welfare lottery sales RBHNEZRHEE M WA 2,153 432
1,518,889 1,119,002
hva | I~ ~ARIN
8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. THEPEF

The Group’s operating segments, based on information
reported to the Directors, being the chief operating decision
maker ("CODM") for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focus on types of goods or
services delivered or provided.

The Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. Provision of piped Gas Fuel — construction of gas pipeline
networks and provision of piped Gas Fuel,

2. Transportation, distribution and bottled retail of LPG — the
sale of LPG in bulk to wholesale customers and the retail
of bottled LPG to end user households, industrial and
commercial customers; and

3. Lottery agency — agent to operate and sales of welfare
lottery tickets and it was regarded as new business segment
of the Group in last year.

FRERERAT
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

8. TEPER a)

NTRARERZRLELEDHBOEZBA

reportable and operating segment. KRB DT
Transportation,
distribution and
Provision of piped Gas Fuel  hottled retail of LPG Lottery agency Consolidation
For the year ended 31 March ER HHRAEEE
BEIANALEE HEEERS LR YERE &4
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
B¥Tr kT AETx  E%Tn R%Tn ANt BETn AETx
Tumover EES W T I G 215 B 151888 111900
Segment profit (loss) AHEr (BE) 172513 134005 28458 12,732 (844,686)  (29518)  (643715) 117,309
Unallocated income RORMA 21,025 10,188
Unallocated corporate expenses AAELERY (19323)  (18813)
Fair value change of contingent consideration  SiAREZ 24 EEH 74,154 -
Re-measurement of interest in an associate to N EBAHBEBENFZ
fair value on business combination BRELAEENTE - 235663
Bargain purchase gain for acquisition of jointly WEXFHIEE 7 £ENEN
controlled entities # 27,441 -
Share of results of associates BiiBEL£E 5,343 10,086
Finance costs BBRA (7,667) (5277)
(Loss) profit before tax BHA (B8) &R (542,742) 349,156
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment
profit/loss represents the profit earned by/loss from each segment
without allocation of certain other operating income, central
administrative expenses, Directors’ emoluments, re-measurement
of interest in an associate to fair value on business combination,
fair value change of contingent consideration, finance costs,
bargain purchase gain for acquisition of jointly controlled entities
and share of results of associates. This is the measure reported to
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by
reportable and operating segments.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
:MF

For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

D EBE R (s

S P Rt LR e P
& BRI - 5 IR 2
B2 i/ D BE T R A
MO R RABEE - EFBE KA A b1
HEBELA Y RERARAENHE 3
RREZ DABED  HHRA  RERAR
BITETR 2 8 OB M L (B 2 P
U T3 ER S BB R R AT B
REERBHESA

THMEEREE

AT RAEEZEREELEDHMIEZEE
SE=NEPIRI

Segment assets PHEE
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEZTEMA 1,388,220 1,207,696

Transportation, distribution and EH - oHEERETERER

bottled retail of LPG 281,106 124,871
Lottery agency FERIE 28,512 827,236
Total segment assets DEPEEEE 1,697,838 2,159,803
Unallocated Fo B 570,863 571,170
Consolidated assets HEEE 2,268,701 2,730,973

FRERERAT
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ﬁ%lgiéf*il‘ (&)

Segment liabilities PWEE
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HETBEMRR 316,089 286,953

Transportation, distribution and B HHERAETSE

bottled retail of LPG BALR, 49,369 26,225
Lottery agency FERRE 1,586 606
Total segment liabilities HEEBEE 367,044 313,784
Unallocated E N 472,135 586,916
Consolidated liabilities meEa’E 839,179 900,700

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
investment properties, interests in associates, AFS financial
assets, held-to-maturity investments, amount due from
an associate, compensation receivable, amount due
from a jointly controlled entity, bank balances and cash,
pledged bank deposit and assets used jointly by reportable
segments; are allocated on the basis of the revenue earned
by individual reportable segments; and

- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
tax liabilities, amount due to a joint venturer, amount due
to an associate, amount due to a director, bank borrowings,
deferred tax liabilities and liabilities for which reportable
segments are jointly liable are allocated on the basis of the
revenue earned by individual reportable segments.

ROTBERSBRERR D HRE D EER

BRIREME REB L AR Ezm At
ETREE FAZIHKRE Bl —
B = QAR EREEES K
REGHERRE RITEHREAS B
BERRITEFARERDMBEAREE
Sh- RBEEECRERNZHRDBMEZ

WHEPEETEEEDE &

BRIRBRE BN RAELEREN
RN B ERBKE BN
REFFA - RITEE REEHBERE
MEFDMARAEZ BB EE
BEERERN2HD BAE 2 WS DA T

PN
B EDEL
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

ST RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

DEER @)

Other segment information Hth o2& ¥
Transportation,
Provision of piped  distribution and
Gas Fuel bottled retail of LPG ~ Lottery agency Unallocated Consolidated
ER HHRAE
For the year ended 31 March HE3ANALER HEEERR ZERLR ¥ERE AAE &a
2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
BRI AT BETn BMTn BETn AUTr B%Tn EETn BETR A%Tx
Amounts included in measure of segment  HEABRFIFEAIDEE
profit or loss or segment assets KiRkZEE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% BE R FERE 29,983 5477 3941 1816 818 32905 4888 40531 33336
Loss (qain) on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEDE HERFE
equipment ZEE (W) 469 21 1 - - - 1 @
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BEEIRe 1117 34 195 51 - - - 1492 8%
Amortisation of intangible assets Breyie 4,565 9 - 39218 16350 - - 4385 20887
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade 23 E 5 kLt ERFE
and other receivables BRLAERR 3303 - - - - - - 3303 625
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect 25t 5 R EUFERT
of trade and other receivables ZREEERD (781) - - - - - - (181)  (399)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ERTERA L FERE
inventories 240 - - - - - - 240 551
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ERAERT IEESE
goodwil - - - 4301 - - - M30 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ERENEERDY
intangible assets HESR 10,718 - - 729820 - - - 740,538 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ERNE BRRARE
property, plant and equipment R HEEE - - - 53 - - - 53 -
Capital expenditure in respect of prepaid lease ~ AEEMES 2
payments BARY 11,618 - - 6,180 - - - 17798 22,188
Capital expenditure in respect of property, plant  AE1E  BRERELZ
and equipment BARY 170,438 4277 10808 3,649 3,685 51 380 178415 149,116
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant ~ SHEENE - HERZBREN
and equipment and prepaid lease payments  fEE RS 18,948 B80T 6236 - - - - BT55 24912
Amounts reqularly provided to the CODM ~ EHEHTFTELEREEE
but not included in the measure of HEABRAGEELA R
segment profit or loss or segment assets ~ EERU BT R 228
Interests in associates REENAER - - - - - W37 3881 41317 38811
Share of results of associates AN 3 - - - - - (5383) (10,085) (5.343) (10,086)
Gain on fair value changes of investment RENZZDRE
properties 2ghs - - - - - (31 (0% (1,737)  (2,036)
Bargain purchase gain for acquisition of jointly ~ MEELREHE %@
controlled entities LEE - - - - - (7480) - (2748 -
Re-measurement of inerestin an associatete R EREAS TH‘TH%% Rl
fair value on business combination BRBRAEENSE - - - - - - (235,663) - (235,663)
Fair value change of contingent consideration S AREZ A4 EEE - - - - (74154) - (74,154) -
Bank interest income BHSUA (1,741) (1464) (14400 (1) (08)  (636)  (628) (3.918) (3,604
Finance costs BHAA 5370 295 41 200 788 - - 1667 5277
Income tax (credit) expenses FER (B4R 33,305 7979 6373 (182,455)  (4,067) - - () 3728

Geographical information

The Group's business is principally carried out in the PRC and the
Group's non-current assets are substantially located in the PRC.

Accordingly, no geographical information is presented.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8

Information about major customers

No information about major customer is presented as no single
customer contributed over 10% of the total turnover of the
Group during the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

7 >4 M
D EPE R )

FREEFEFZER

9. HAZE A

MR E E20134F M201243A310 F4E G
EE-—RXFRAAEBERBI0%Z BEXE
BT EZINBEEEERP 2ER -

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Bank interest income SRITH B U A 3,918 3,604

Other loan interest income E b E A B YA - 428

Interest income from held-to-maturity investments %48 Z 5| #i1& & 2 7 B A 851 1,823

Gain on fair value changes of investment WEMERARBEEP W E

properties 1,737 2,036

Exchange gain, net FE 3% B8 288 2,151

Dividend income fi&% B U A 7 198

Distribution from available-for-sales investments ] ff &% & 9k 13,887 -

Repair and maintenance income “HiE LRE WA 2,874 1,143

Rental income from investment properties, net of & MEM L WA k2 H

outgoings (Note a) (ff3Ea) 502 238

Other rental income, net of outgoings (Note b) HaBESBA Mk

(M&Eb) 1,570 1,730

Sales of gas appliance: HEMB A :

- Income — A 8,404 3,228
— Cost of sales —HER (7.818) (2,645)
586 583

Storage management fee income FEFEEBERRKRA 2,530 2,720

Government grant income (Note ¢) BB WA (M sEc) 1,189 -

Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect & 5 & £ b & U 7118

of trade and other receivables BRZAREEFERKD 781 399

Others Hh 311 2,711

31,031 19,764

Notes: PR -

(@) The amount represents net rental income generated from (a) FZEFEIEMBRLE22,0005T (20124F 78
investment properties after deducting direct operating expenses of #26,00000) HE A BERSBRAREME
approximately HK$22,000 (2012: HK$26,000). ZHBWAFE-

(b)  The amount represents net rental income generated from certain (b) FZEFEIEHKRLE3,666,0007T (20124 :
transportation vehicles after deducting direct operating expenses 753,361,000 ERE R ERSBRAEE T
of approximately HK$3,666,000 (2012: HK$3,361,000). EEBEH S W AFRE-

() The amount represents one-off unconditional government grants (0 ZeBERBAFERAEREEBEEMTIZ

for the Group's clearance of gas station in prior years.

—REEIERN BT -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 Eﬁzizmaim BMBLEE
10.(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. 85 (BFE) ad
(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at after charging AFEE (EE) aMNEME (5TA) TFI&E:
(crediting):
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Staff costs, including Directors’ and senior BEIXRA BEEENS
management’s and Chief Executives' RAITHAAH M2
emoluments
— Salaries, wages, allowances and benefits in — %4 L& RN
kind E%ﬂ* 116,099 84,791
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIKEFIFTEI 3K 11,948 8,077
128,047 92,868
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRARI ZHEERA 1,088,217 776,161
Auditor’s remuneration ZERT BN & 2,180 2,090
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE BEREHITE 40,531 33,336
Impairment loss recognised in respect of MIFEERZRERESE
inventories (included in cost of sales) (Bt AEERA) 240 551
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BiETENES 1,492 826
Amortisation of intangible assets BEELEE 43,852 20,887
Share of tax of associates (included in share of ELHBERARHE(BE5TA
results of associates) JE(EBEZE N BIZELE) 1,840 (5,543)

PRERBRQF
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11.DIRECTORS’, SENIOR

MANAGEMENT'S AND CHIEF

NEERSNEEEBRITH

EXECUTIVES'S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

RBANE

(a) ESM <

The remuneration of the Directors and the Chief Executives
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules of
the Stock Exchange and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is analysed as follows:

Directors' fee

BB Em R R RE B QARG
T6 MR T EE RITHRAHRNASE
BZBEntfrmT :

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits scheme Total

inkind  contributions emoluments

He RMR BIKER

EzHe BERE FEMRR ame
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
For the year ended 31 March 2013 BZ2013F3A318ILEE
Executive directors: PITESE:
Xu Ruixin RIna - - - -
Yang Songsheng (“Mr. Yang") BIRE (THRERE]) - 2,784 25 2,809
Mo Shikang EitR - 1,690 47 1,737
Zhang Hesheng RAAE - 1,640 44 1,684
Yeung Paak Ching ("Mr. Yeung") BREE([GREEE]D - 780 - 780
Jin Song (“Mr. Jin") ik (THx4]) - 1,065 44 1,109
Chu Kin Wang Peleus KRR - 1,440 15 1,455
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:
Liu Junmin AR 130 - - 130
Tan Qinglian EER - - - -
Li Jialin - appointed on 31 December 2012 Zf#i—12012%12 8316
BEA - - - -
Sin Ka Man ERE 130 - - 130
260 9,399 175 9,834
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR B R R M aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 i Z2013F3A31HILLFE

—+. = st /-
11.DIRECTORS’, SENIOR NEERSAEEERITH
MANAGEMENT’S AND CHIEF BEME
EXECUTIVES'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME (&)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits scheme Total
Directors’ fee inkind  contributions  emoluments
e 2ER BIRER
EEHe EMFE TEER ol
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BET T BETT BETT
For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZE2012F3A31BEEE
Executive directors: WTEE:
Xu Ruixin i3 - - - -
Mr. Yang - appointed on 19 December 2011 AL LA —12011%127
19REZE - 707 6 713
Mo Shikang Rt - 1,675 32 1,707
Zhang Hesheng RAMAE - 1,659 44 1,703
Zhu Peifeng KERE-R2011F115168
— resigned on 16 November 2011 B - 1,048 29 1,077
Mr. Yeung - appointed BRERE-R2011F12A
on 19 December 2011 19REZT - 205 - 205
Mr. Jin 5 - 972 30 1,002
Chu Kin Wang Peleus KRR - 1,290 12 1,302
Independent non-executive directors: BUFRTES:
Liu Junmin %R 130 - - 130
Tan Qinglian EEH - - - -
Sin Ka Man EEH 130 - - 130
260 7,556 153 7,969
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11.DIRECTORS’, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES'S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Mr. Yeung and Mr. Jin are also the co-held Chief Executive
of the Company and their emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by them as the co-held
Chief Executives.

None of the Directors and the Chief Executives waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments paid by the Group. No
emoluments was paid to the Directors and Chief Executives
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
March 2013 and 2012.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
all (2012: all) are Directors and Chief Executives whose
emoluments are disclosed in Note 11(a).

11.%

ERSHREERERITH

BN E =)

(a)

(b)

EEME (2

BESRERFRENRSART ZBE
THEAE AR EXBREREZHEE
RS EERFITRAMRHIRT 2
< -

BENTHREHBERESRERET
MASBE S z2ME HE2013F &
2012F3A31B EFE AR A ER
EERTRAHEIHEABE  EARE
FEMARNEFKPIMA AL B2 42
Bk BEBR 18 2 A o

EUBEEHFMAL

A mEHMALEE (201245 : 2%)
HAEEERITHRES HE DR
1@ = -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12. Bt 7% AR 2N

12.FINANCE COSTS
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEF T
Imputed interest for amount due to a director BERTFRTEEEECEMN—F
wholly repayable after five years (Note 31) BEE RSB (FEE31) 2,002 788
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable within five B RFRNEEEEZ
years RITERFE 5,665 4,489
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable after five ZBRAFEEBEEEEZ
years RITERFE 12,398 12,739
20,065 18,016
Less: amount capitalised in construction in BERIRERNML SR
progress (Note) (P 5E) (12,398) (12,739)
7,667 5,277

aE:  (BEERABIZSF531%%6.03% (2012
F:531%%E5.76% ) 2 BRERI -

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 5.31% to

| 6.03% per annum (2012: 5.31% to 5.76% per annum)
1B.AER (KER)RAX

13.INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSES
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current tax: BRERR IS
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FEPERER 59,191 46,084
(Over) under provision in prior years —BAEFE (BERE) BETRE (4,229) 2,163
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 33): EEFRIBEE (MFE33) ¢
— Current year —ARFE (196,133) (4,519)
(141,171) 43,728

FRERERAT
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13.INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSES

(Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since the
Group’s income neither arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong
for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of Bermuda, the Group is
not subject to any income tax in Bermuda.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are still subject to the
entitlement of summarised tax holidays (including two-year
exemption and three-year half rate) under the then existing
preferential tax treatments, the summarised tax holiday is allowed
to be carried forward to 2008 and future years until their expiry.
However, if an entity has not yet commenced its tax holiday due
to its loss position, the tax holiday is deemed to commence from
2008 onwards.

According to the EIT Law, the profits of the PRC subsidiaries
of the Company derived since 1 January 2008 will be subject
to withholding tax at a rate of 5% upon the distribution of
such profits to foreign investors incorporated in Hong Kong, or
at a rate of 10% for other foreign investors. During the years
ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes of such profit of approximately
HK$279,180,000 (2012: HK$211,275,000) that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group's subsidiaries
established in the PRC. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute their earnings accrued after 1 January 2008 in the
foreseeable future.

13.F685 (BR) X

AR EEEZF20134F %201243A318 It
FEVTETRNEELEARKRATBS ZRA
I AR TR BB RS

RIBARERRELOER A& BB AN
EABEREMRSEHR -

RBHFBECEMAETE ([REAEHE]) R
EEMBTRBRED T EMERRRZ
B 2 2 TR EAB25% ©

REFBERBEZELER AREIZETH
B BRRNNAERERZHGERTE
FREARVH (BEMEZRF)  ERR
HEA R BIE E2008F R AKEE BEEHR
JER A LE o 2AT - W B8 (R BE 1A S 4R AR S T
ARFA2TH e Pemi e 52008
FHREFMLA -

RIBCEMEH L MREBTMERLZE
IMEEEREMBEINEEE D IRAATFEH
BB A 520084 1 A1 B #& BB 2 i FI 8%
B B EIAN5 % 2 10% 2 FEIFL - REZ2013
FR2012F3A318IEFE  TERAERR
R BIRK 32 B ZE B AR B8 s 7 497814 279,180,000
70 (20124 - 7##211,275,00070 ) ) &40 & 40
T2 M B AR Z ARE L EF M RE TR
HeBE2RE  AEE A5 E R =R 2
HRELZEWNBATRITEAREDEZS
MR2008F1AVB v BFTELERF o KE T
j(o
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

13.INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSES

(Continued)

The income tax (credit) expenses for the year can be reconciled to
the (loss) profit per the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income as follows:

1388 (KRB =)

FATHEBARE (BB EMERFEZ
FrS® (%) FXHERIT

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
(Loss) profit before tax BrAiAET (B8 ) & A (542,742) 349,156
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% RIEEBRE25%
(2012: 25%) (20126 : 25% ) st H 2 Fi1A (135,686) 87,289
Tax effect of share of results of associates DB AR RE L
MBTE (1.336) (2,522)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose ~ H7BRTHUWA 2 T2 (25,552) (59,523)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax PAIHMB X H G2
purpose 12,363 8,305
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised FALAI AR 2 RIBEER (441) -
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not EKEEW—ITD BMERERL
recognised Mgz 2 - 3,153
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ARTHEARAVEBE HETE 12,626 7,980
Tax effect of 50% income tax relief granted to B~ T%HSO%FE SHER
subsidiaries IR (567) (1,752)
Effect of tax exemption grated to certain BYFETHBRARZHERR
subsidiaries pa-7 1,651 (1,365)
(Over) under provision for prior years BAEFE (EERE BETRE (4,229) 2,163
Income tax (credit) expenses for the year KEFHEH (KR)HX (141,171) 43,728

Details of deferred taxation are shown in Note 33.

14.FAIR VALUE CHANGE OF
CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

15.

The amount represents compensation receivable from the vendor
for the shortfall of profit guarantee. Details are set out in Note

26 (ii).

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
nor has any dividend been proposed

March 2013 (2012: nil),
since the end of the reporting period (2012: nil).

PRERBRQF
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16.(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the (loss) profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

16.

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share are
based on the following data:

B2k (BE)BR

ARBREAANEEERER (BE) B IR
ARRHEBANRBIEFE (BER)BMRNRFA
BERTERRZNEFOBGETE -

BRERREE (BFER)BF T80T
=

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
(Loss) earnings (E518) B R
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to owners of AR FHEH AEEEE
the Company (EE) &N (421,502) 296,815
Number of shares
BHEE
Shares B 17
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AESREAREE (BE) &
in issue during the year used in the basic and Fr{E A2 FNE 34T
diluted (loss) earnings per share calculation LA R A E 5,809,954,136 5,082,958,951

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the computation of diluted
loss per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding share options as their exercise would result in a
decrease in loss per share.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the computation of
diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options because the exercise prices of those
share options were higher than the average market price of the
Company'’s share.

HE2013F3A3MHILFE SRESESE 2
SEWEREAQR ZHAITEEREET
F AARSEZTEEERSREERD -

HE2012F3A3MHILFE SREERF 2
STETEBREARG ZBEREETE HiZ
EEREZTFEESNARQRRD ZFEH
{go
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 Eﬁzizmaim 31HIELFE

17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND

17.9% - HWE Kz

2

Buildings
in the PRC Furniture,
for own fixtures Plant,
useunder  Leasehold  andoffie  machinery Transportation  Construction
medium lease improvements  equipment  and pipeline vehicles in progress Total
PEEEET Bl HE
feE 2 g $ER KER
BREF  MEEE  BOZTHB EE  ERE§  REIR it
HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Atn  BETm BYETR BETR BETR BBt BETx
oSt B
At 1 April 2011 10114718 73,918 355 9,746 582,38 45,084 143,674 855,159
Exchange realignment A% 2712 - 348 21370 1,562 5,254 31,046
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37¢) WENEAR (M) 367 - 504 - 291 - 3,78
Additions RE 3,881 - 2,568 14,167 13304 115,19 149,116
Trangfer g2 11,098 - - 95,301 - (106399) -
Disposals e (186) - (93) (256) (1,342) - (187)
At31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 2012538318 R2012F4 518 91,790 355 13073 712964 61,519 15775 1037426
Exchange realignment EiEg 52 - 70 4,05 m 899 5,878
Acquisition of jointly-controlled entities (Note 372) W XESHER (Hi37a) 13713 - 489 12,149 8415 134 34,900
Acquistion of additional interests n ointly-controlled W A FE HIZE
entities LEMER 4,662 - m 5,678 911 5 11579
Additions RE - 4,976 2470 20,380 8,300 142,289 178415
Trangfer g2 5,165 - 75 77,966 - (83,306) -
Disposals e (166) - (471) (999) (1,451) - (3,087)
At31 March 2013 013538318 115,686 5,331 16,078 832,193 78,026 27797 1265111
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPARMENT ~ Bt ERHEFS
L0sS
At1 April 2011 R011F4A17 6,900 57 4,789 89,200 15843 - 116,789
Bichange realignment EH 9% m - 178 3407 551 - 4407
Provided for the year TEERE 3113 N 1,667 21,885 6,600 - 33,33
Eiminated on disposals hEREH (%) - (45) (129) {1,100 - (1,366)
At31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 2012538318 R2012F4 518 10,198 128 6,589 114,367 21,89 - 153,166
Bichange realignment EH 9% 78 i) 49 802 155 - 1112
Provided for the year TEERE 3,494 933 1,619 26,470 8015 - 40,531
Impairment loss recognised BEDHEER - 4,086 1,109 - Q8 - 5,043
Eiminated on disposals HERY 9) - 18) (253) (1,33) - (2018
At31 March 2013 H01353A318 13751 5,175 8,948 141,386 28,774 - 198,034
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At31 March 2013 H01353A318 101,935 156 7,130 690,807 4952 27797 1,067,077
At31 March 2012 1012538318 81,602 0 6,484 598,597 39,625 157,725 884,260
PRERERAR
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17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQU I PM E NT (Continued)

At 31 March 2013, the Group's property, plant and equipment
amounting to approximately HK$8,741,000 (2012: HK$2,410,000)
were pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group (Note
41).

The official property title certificates for certain of the Group’s
buildings with carrying amounts of approximately HK$34,612,000
(2012: HK$21,002,000) in aggregate have not yet been issued by
the relevant local government authorities. The Directors are of the
opinion that the Group’s right and interest in such buildings will
not be therefore severely prejudiced.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or
the operation period of the
relevant company

Over the shorter of the terms
of the leases, or 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and office 20%
equipment

Plant, machinery and pipeline 2.5% - 20%

Transportation vehicles 12.5% - 20%

Leasehold improvements

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Directors conducted a
review of the Group's leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures
and office equipment and transportation vehicles and determined
that a number of those assets were impaired, due to significant
decline in the lottery agency business. Accordingly, impairment
losses of approximately HK$5,243,000 have been recognised in
respect of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and office
equipment and transportation vehicles, which are used in the
Group’s lottery agency segment. The recoverable amounts of the
relevant assets have been determined on the basis of their value
in use. The pre-tax discount rates in measuring the amounts of
value in use were 15.86% in relation to leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and office equipment and transportation
vehicles.

179 %~ BB R 51 o)

M2013F3A318  RNEEY =  WE L& E
#4775 #48,741,0007T (20124 : B #2,410,000
TE THRIBIEAR TASEBRITER 2 E
& (KzE41) -

AEEEEREBMEAS L5 %34,612,0007T
(20124 - B #21,002,0007T) 2 & THEF
KRR B b 5 BT B B D IE R W) R E
E-BERE FNEENZEET 2R RE
HTeANSZEBREBEE-

YR -BERREEBIDAERRET
DRI

BT AR BBRRI 2K
BHIR (ABREE A
4E)

HEMERE TAEHIPR sk 54F
(UNREHBE)

R EER 20%

PN = RAE
E HEEREB 25%%E20%
¥ 03 E5 g 12.5%%20%

HZE2013F3A31H1LFE EF0THASE
EHAEMERE - GR - - RERRAERE
NREHERTBEAREEREEB 2K
BTEE BETZSEEERE-AL AR
REBEEREBSB2HEMERE R
HENHAEZRBEARBEHERHCERRE
BB 48 15,243,000 - HBBA B & 2 7] W [T
CHEENFEEZFHEEET -RBEED
EEE G EERPAEREBEUREHE
Wims TEFRAEESEIHATNEREA
15.86% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. 1R E W

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Investment properties, stated at fair value RRrEIEZIREYE
At 1 April R4A1H 26,825 8,621
Addition A= - 15,839
Exchange realignment b 5 S 157 329
Increase in fair value NAEE 1,737 2,036
At 31 March M3A31H 28,719 26,825
Detail of geographical locations and tenure of REMEZMBALER
investment properties were: FHFFBHOT:
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
PRC investment properties held under FE-FREEEET 2
medium-term leases BEME 28,719 26,825

R2013F &201293A31H KEEIKEY
EZARBEIREBIABREEGERMPB
HEEENEBEMERAR (BEASEILE
BE)EZEET o mESH - hREEE
BEEMBRARATBIEMEBGT €8
ﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁéﬁ*%&#‘ﬁﬁﬂﬁtﬁﬁaimﬂﬁzxﬁﬂu
MERETHEZLER BEFEERGHESE

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31 March
2013 and 2012 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that day by Asset Appraisal Limited, independent
qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group.
Asset Appraisal Limited is a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, and has appropriate qualifications and recent
experience in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations. The valuation, which conforms to International BT 2 (1B - TIR 2 E R 54 M8 B 0 B R iR
Valuation Standards, was arrived at by reference to market SR ZBUNEZRSBRZ THEER
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in the same 5

locations and conditions.

AEERBLELHELHEETREME &
VNHRE3FESF LS TEBRENEHS
GBS AEERMANEEHENARE
B S WA REERBER G 2 MERE
SEUNRAABEBRAGFE XNE/REME
AfRe

The Group leases out certain investment properties under
operating leases, for an initial period of three to eight years, with
an option to renew on renegotiated terms. All of the Group’s
property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

REZE2013F3A31BILFE  KREREWE
2 HTEE WAL BE524,0007T (20124 ¢
FE#264,0007T) ©

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the gross rental
income from investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$524,000 (2013: HK$264,000).

FRERERAT
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19.PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 19.78FH =

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost BN
At 1 April R4A18 55,729 32,352
Exchange realignment ME W A 317 1,189
Acquisition of jointly controlled entities W B H R 175 ) & B 8,497 -
Acquisition of additional interest in jointly Ui B 2[Rl 2 ) E 88 2 BB AN
controlled entities e 5,131 -
Additions NE 17,798 22,188
At 31 March M3A31H 87,472 55,729
Accumulated amortisation 2T
At 1 April R4A18 4,635 3,669
Exchange realignment ME W 35 140
Charge for the year NEZ B 1,492 826
At 31 March MR3H31H 6,162 4,635
Carrying values BREAE 81,310 51,094
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RRHRE DT
Current portion B ER SR> 2,391 1,224
Non-current portion SERNERER 78,919 49,870
81,310 51,094

The amounts represented medium-term land use rights in the PRC
and are amortised over the terms of the respective land use rights
on a straight-line basis.

The Group's prepaid lease payments with carrying values of
approximately HK$15,108,000 (2012: HK$1,163,000) represent
interest in land use rights in respect of which official land use
certificate have not yet been issued by relevant local government
authorities. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group’s
rights and interest in respect of such land lots will not be
therefore severely prejudiced.

ZESRENIRTE 2P+ E AR
WA B GEREM L E A FH 7 IS

N B BREE 4B #15,108,0007T (2012
& HE%1,163,000T) 2FENHESRER L
{5 FARE 2 RES - AR RE Hb )7 IR T R R A ok B
HEBEXNLIFEREE -S=2RE ALE
REZER 2 A iEETe A X BRE
BE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 aizowim 31HIELFE

19.PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (continvea)

20.

At 31 March 2013, the Group’s prepaid lease payments
amounting to approximately HK$10,144,000 (2012:

19.58 < =

A2013F3A310  AEB ZEMEE LB
10,144,0007T (20124 : /& ﬁi%€<10 336,0007T)

HK$10,336,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted to BT EFIEAR T RS BRITER ZER (M
the Group (Note 41). F41) o
GOODWILL R
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Carrying value RHEE
At 1 April R4A1H 138,301 95,114
Exchange realignment MEH A 524 1,886
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE (41,301) -
Goodwill arising from acquisition of subsidiaries UK EEM B D A E 4 2 &
(Note 37¢) (M¥3E37¢) - 41,301
At 31 March M3A31H 97,524 138,301

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired.

The management considers each subsidiary and jointly controlled
entities represents a separate cash-generating unit (“CGU") for
the purpose of goodwill impairment testing. At the end of the
reporting period, the carrying value of goodwill mainly represents
goodwill arising from the acquisitions of following subsidiaries
(lottery agency) and jointly controlled entities (provision of piped
Gas Fuel):

PRERBRQF

142 2012201355

AEEFFRAMHERE HHETRER
E R BEERE - A SRR RORDRLE -

= EEJEM CHEBREAETE SR B
ARAEHNERRX —EABLZ2REE
$$ﬁ ( [(REELEM]) RBEHR B
BZREEFEEREBETIIMBERR (¥
ERE)RARZHER (HEEBMR)E
ErEE:



20 G OO DWI LL (Continued)

—_

20. & (&)

2013 2012
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BEF T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEEERR
Fujian Province An Ran Gas Investment Co., Ltd. BEELZAMRELEERQRR
and its subsidiaries (“Fujian An Ran Group") HEHEra ([RELAKEH]) 85,767 85,516
Long Yan City Changning Gas Co., Ltd. EETMEEMRRBR LA 3,027 2,804
88,794 88,320
Transportation distribution and Em- o#ERRE
bottled retail of LPG ZERER
Yunnan Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. EEFRMRAERAF 8,730 8,680
Lottery agency FEARRE
Grand Destiny Group Limited (“Grand Destiny”) ZEFEBEBERAG ([EFE) R
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to HEWBAR (MBI RESE])
as the “Grand Destiny Group”) (Note 37¢) (F$5E37¢) = 41,301
97,524 138,301

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value-in-use calculation with reference to a valuation performed
by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer not
connected with the Group. The value-in-use calculation uses
cashflow forecast of the relevant CGUs. The key assumptions for
the value-in-use calculations are those regarding the discount
rates and expected changes to selling price and direct costs
during the period. Management estimates discount rates using
pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Changes in
selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectation of future changes in the market.

ReELBU s NEEEN2EEAEE
VEBEZBIEERGEN (PHEEE
FHEBRARRIR) AATEEZFTEER
BEMEET HtHERAEEEREHATE
FEBEM RS RER - BEREEMKA
ZEIBBRAPAZFHB MR E EE
NRERKA 2B EE - EIEEN AR R
MEHEREREEUNNRSELEN 2R
TE R\ 2 R G RO BR T A A R R A ETREZR =X -
EERERKRA B ES B EEH R
BTS2 BREHHEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

20 G OO DWI LL (Continued)

Provision of piped Gas Fuel/Transportation,
distribution and bottled retail of LPG

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the management of the
Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by the management of the Group
for the next 5 years period. The financial budgets are estimated
according to the stage of each operation with reference to the
development curve of the natural gas and LPG industry in the PRC
region. The pre-tax discount rate and growth rate has been used
in discounting the cash flow forecast for CGUs is 14.65% (2012:
15.00%) and zero (2012: nil) respectively.

Lottery agency

As at 31 March 2013, the management of the Group prepares
cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial
budgets approved by Directors for the next 5 years period. Cash
flow beyond 5 years period is extrapolated using an estimated
growth rates of 14.05% to 3.00% (2012: 16.00% to 4.00%)
which does not exceed the long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry and a pre-tax discount rate of 15.86% (2012: 21.00%).
Accordingly, an impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$41,301,000 (2012: nil) was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2013.

FRERERAT
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HEEE

ERIER

HE2013F3A3MBULEFE AEEERETD
BIEBEARNEEETEER R KSFEHEEL 2
B—ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁi‘ﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬁfﬁiﬁéﬁiﬁﬂ°E\7IEHE

ERBESEBIHEE C2EhEME XA
REBERITEZERBRED G -8R
ReEEEM RS RETERER 2T AT
BRI R MR ER DR A14.65% (20124 ¢
15.00% ) & Z (20124 - #&) ©
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21.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1. B EE
Exclusive Exclusive
Exclusive rights of rights of
rights of operations of  operation of
purchase piped Gas Fuel lottery sales Total
BREERR BRERHE
BREBEF B ER R R a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BT T BT IT BB T IT
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(MfsEa) (MfEDb ) (Mt5Ec)
Cost N
At 1 April 2011 MR2011F4 /16 13,076 106,667 - 119,743
Acquisition of subsidiaries W R B BB~ &) (Bt
(Note 37¢) ¥37¢) - - 781,646 781,646
Exchange realignment ME 53R 435 3,980 3,899 8,314
At 31 March 2012 and 1 M201293H31H
April 2012 N2012F4A31H 13,511 110,647 785,545 909,703
Acquisition of jointly Uit i 2 5] 4% 1l
controlled entities "
(Note 37a) (Mi5E37a) - 131 - 131
Exchange realignment VE 5 % 70 640 4,475 5,185
At 31 March 2013 20133 H31H 13,581 111,418 790,020 915,019

Accumulated amoritsation Rt ERRE

and impairment loss &8
At 1 April 2011 MR2011F4 /18 1,616 16,413 - 18,029
Charge for the year REFZ R 555 3,982 16,350 20,887
Exchange realignment ME 3, B 63 647 97 807
At 31 March 2012 and 201293 A31H
1 April 2012 N2012F431H 2,234 21,042 16,447 39,723
Charge for the year IREFEHBR 559 4,015 39,278 43,852
Impairment loss recognised B R (E &5 18 10,718 - 729,820 740,538
Exchange realignment TE 5 35 70 146 4,475 4,691
At 31 March 2013 201393 A31H 13,581 25,203 790,020 828,804
CARRYING VALUES EREAE
At 31 March 2013 M2013F3H31H - 86,215 - 86,215
At 31 March 2012 72012438318 11,277 89,605 769,098 869,980
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

21 . INTANG I B LE ASS ETS (Continued)

Notes:

a)

It represented the exclusive rights of purchase of natural gas
explored in Yanji Basin, which is located in Yanji, Long Jing and
Long City of Yan Bian Korean Nation Autonomous Area in the
eastern part of Jilin Province, from an ex-associate — Yan Bian Hua
Xin Oil Exploitation Company Limited, for a period of 10 to 60
years.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Directors, after taking
into account the development prospect, had considered that the
gross operating loss incurred during the years indicated impairment
loss for the Group's intangible assets and therefore conducted
an impairment review on the carrying amounts of the intangible
assets. The Group has performed annual impairment tests for the
exclusive rights by comparing the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which it belongs to its carrying amount and concluded that
impairment loss of HK$10,718,000 is recognised for the year ended
31 March 2013 (2012: nil).

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations with reference to a valuation performed
by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer not
connected to the Group. The value-in-use calculations use cash
flow projections based on a five-year financial budget approved by
the Directors. A pre-tax discount rate of 19.42% (2012: 15.00%)
has been used in discounting the projected cash flows for the
impairment test as at 31 March 2013.

It represented the exclusive rights to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped Gas Fuel granted by local
government in various cities in the PRC for a period of 10 to 60
years.

The Group has performed annual impairment tests for the exclusive
rights by comparing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
it belongs to its carrying amount and concluded that there is no
impairment loss should be recognised as at 31 March 2013. The
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-
in-use calculations with reference to a valuation performed by
Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer not
connected to the Group. The value-in-use calculations use cash
flow projections based on a five-year financial budget approved by
the Directors. A pre-tax discount rate of 19.42% (2012: 15.00%)
and zero (2012: zero) growth rate has been used in discounting the
projected cash flows for the impairment test as at 31 March 2013.
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MR E QAR RN ERLORFEAR
NEEE IR SR RS E R B
AMEE EHEERZESR2MREZR
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HZE2013F3A31A LLFE Lt REREF
B2k BEFRAFARIZHBKEBREE
TAEBEFEEZRERE AEiE
FEEZEHEERTHRESRSE -ASEBHB
BB EEESEM 2 AIREEEEEY
IREESBREEEFETFERENR
W HEFEREZE2013F3 8318 L FERERR

BB 1875 %10,718,0007T (20124F : ) o

BeESEN A KECHEENFEREE
FTEET KR AEEVEREZEY
BERGEM (PHRELEFEBHARA
B FTRITZHE - EREETEEAER
EEWMAEZSFYREE 2R REEA -
BLAR2013F3 A31H 2 EE A 8L 3R 78 8138
SMERBEABIATANR %19.42% (2012
% :15.00% ) °

EEFBRETRM 2 A BFR FELRA
BEEMBERRREERR 2 BRERN
BHI0E60%4F -

AEERBLERASEABU ZTKRE SR
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ZEﬁ@fﬁ%‘fﬁ%i‘“M%ﬂ LTTEF

ﬁﬁ’w Wﬁﬁi‘ﬂaoiﬁﬁ%i uZTuﬂz@ﬁ%
BENEABEENEET K2ZHAKE
WHEREZ B AERGERM (PREEE
FEBEBBRAR)FMMITZEE-FRE
B EERENAEEEEER EZSFH
BEEZHE S RETER - FRMN2013F3A31
BZRENRIRENR S REREFEAR
AT BE 38 £19.42% (20124F : 15.00% ) & &
(Q0N2F :T)HERE-



21 . INTANG I B LE ASS ETS (Continued)

Q

It represents the license of operating lottery agency business
in Shenzhen, PRC. On 1 August 2011, Shenzhen Yongheng Le
Cai Technology Development Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Le Cai”) and
Shenzhen Welfare Lottery Issuing Centre entered into a framework
agreement in relation to the appointment of Shenzhen Le Cai
by Shenzhen Welfare Lottery Issuing Centre as its sole agent
to distribute Keno Games Lottery and as its agent to distribute
Welfare Lotteries in Shenzhen for a term of 20 years.

As at 31 March 2013, the Directors performed an impairment
assessment on the license of operating lottery agency business
in Shenzhen acquired through the acquisition of Grand Destiny,
and considered that the entire amount of the license of operating
lottery agency business in Shenzhen was irrecoverable due to
respective carrying amount exceed its recoverable amount as at
31 March 2013, which is determinate on the basis of value-in-
use calculation with reference to a valuation performed by an
independent professional qualified valuers not connected to the
Group. And also the management of the Group prepares cash flow
forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved
by the Directors for the next 5-year period. Cash flow beyond
5-year period is extrapolated using an estimated growth rates
of 14.05% to 3.00% (2012: 16.00% to 4.00%) which does not
exceed the long-term growth rate for the relevant industry and a
pre-tax discount rate of 15.86% (2012: 21.00%). Accordingly, an
impairment loss on the exclusive rights of operation of lottery sales
in Shenzhen of approximately HK$729,820,000 (2012: nil) was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2013.

At 31 March 2013, the Group's exclusive rights of operations of
piped Gas Fuel amounting to approximately HK$2,139,000 (2012:
HK$2,238,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted to the
Group (Note 41).

v/, S
21. 8B EE &)

o]

FERFABRYITTEE R ZER 2B R
K fﬁxmﬂ&ﬁﬂ?‘ﬁﬁﬁ a ([RYIER])
BRI R REITHRONR20114F8A1H
RI ZER B B FIIT R E%
THROLBRERIERE N FINAED HIRER
ZH—RERSHEEMEERE  HR A20
¢o

M2013F3A318 - EEHFEBWEZ TR
BZRRYEET EREER ZRRETTR
B G TREBRM2013F3A318EH
ZEREESBEEAMKESE  NE2EH
N2 A B 2 B S B E S B ERD T
EOIZEEEREREENEEEET R
R ERERBEEB BB 2 22T
ARE e fih AREEEBENRBLES
BARKSFHMEI 2 R AT BEE R
REeEREBEA -NBBESFHEACZESRE
FAEEHR14.05%23.00% KK =R (2012
F:16.00%%4.00% ) (WHEBBFELE
MiHHRAPERE) A RBIATA R %£15.86%
(20124 : 21.00% ) #ET 7 L REXFRB
SmETER - Bt - REZE2013F3A3181E
FEERRAYBRELEE RHEENR
R EEIE 478 %729,820,0007T (20124 ¢
=) o

M2013F3A31H  AEEBHRE BRAK
BN 475 2,139,0007T (20124 B 1
2,238,000t ) B T HEIFIEAE TAREBERTT
Bz ER (3Ea1) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 E£2013F3H831H L FE
22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. N B E N R fE aR
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cost of unlisted investments I ETRE KA 8,905 8,905
Share of post-acquisition results and other SMEIEREERAMEERA
comprehensive income, net of dividends received  (#1F 2 U EL 2 I 8.) 24,096 21,824
Exchange realignment b 5 B 8,316 8,082
41,317 38,811
Amount due from an associate (Note 38d) fE UL — B N RIFRIE (BP5E38d)
1,038 1,032
Amount due to an associate (Note 38d) JE A — R B & A B)5R08 (I 7E38d) - 1

The amounts due from/to an associate are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 March 2013 and 2012

A20134 &201243A31H

AIREREER 28

CAREEZHE

are as follows: NEFFBOT
Form of Place of
business establishment Class of  Group's effective
Name of company structure and operation  shares held interest Principal activities
RIK
NEEE EREEKL  RERMEN RBEROEE AEEERER TEEH
2013 2012
BLERRAREBRAR ([E Limited liability PRC  Contributed 25% 25%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
{EE% ) (Dehua Guang company M capital and gas pipeline construction
An Natural Gas Co., Ltd.*) BEREFATA BEHER HERDHRERMAE ERE
("Dehua Guang An")
BNEAREEMRERAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 25% 25%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
([%Z%ZE]) (Fuzhou An Ran company i capital and gas pipeline construction
Ju Pipeline Gas Co., Ltd.*) BBREAEATA BEHER HERDHRRARMAE ERE
(“"An Ran Ju")
EMEZRRERAA ([EM%  Limited liability PRC  Contributed 25% 25%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
%) (Xiamen Jia An Gas Co., company f capital and gas pipeline construction
Ltd.*) (“Xiamen Jia An") BBEAEAT BEHER HERDHRERRMAE ERE

*  For identification purpose only
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22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvesy ~ 22.JABEE NTIRER =)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's REEBE R M BERBMNT

associates is set out below:

2013 2012
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Total assets BEEHE 253,218 258,517
Total liabilities BfERRE (87,950) (103,273)
Net assets BEEFE 165,268 155,244
Group's share of net assets of associates NEEE(REE R EETE 41,317 38,811
Total revenue g A 4858 256,339 239,544
Total profit for the year AN E N 4R EE 21,372 42,744
Total other comprehensive income for the year NEEFEEMEE AL 885 8,117
Group's share of profit and other comprehensive ~ ANE&E B JE(FHE L AR AFEEE N
income of associates for the year HEip 2wk A 5,564 12,114
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 E£2013F3H831H L FE

23.INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

As at 31 March 2013 and 2012, the Group had interests in the
following significant jointly controlled entities:

ZRHAREFHERZKRE

HA2013¢ N20123A318  KEEK T 5
HEZSIEERE AR

Effective percentage

Form of Place of of registered capital
business establishment Class of indirectly held by the
Name of company structure and operation shares held Group Principal activities
BIK rEEEEEEL
NRAEH EBRBEPL  KEREN FEROEE IMERZERLH TEXRE
2013 2012

BRAZAMBREERRA ([48  Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Investment holding
EZ%]) ("Fujian Province An company F capital  (Notea)  (Notea) RE R
Ran Gas Investment Co., Ltd.*") BB ET AR EHEAR  (WaEa)  (Mdta)

("Fujian An Ran")

DELRRRRERAF Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Sha County An Ran Gas Co., company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREARAA BHER HERRRERMREER

BEZLZARRERD A Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Jiangle County An Ran Gas company F capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Co., Ltd.*") BREAERF EHER HERRRERRREBRE

BNAZEEREZAEEMAE  Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
YNGIL company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
("Fuzhou Development Area BEREMLRA BHER HEME R ERMTEERE
Futie An Ran Pipe Gas Co.,

Ltd.*")

BIZARRERLA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Nanping An Ran Gas Co., company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BEREAEAF EQER HERRRERMRE BRI
LRRMREBBLOA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Changle An Ran Gas Co., company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREAERAA BHER HERRRERMREER

XEZREBRRERDA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 46% 46%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Yong'an An Ran Pipe Gas Co., company F capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREAERAF EHER HERRRERRREBRNE

PRERBRAR
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23.INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY . RHEBEZEFIERE 2RE
CONTROLLED ENTITI ES (Continued) (#&)

Effective percentage

Form of Place of of registered capital
business establishment Class of indirectly held by the
Name of company structure and operation  shares held Group Principal activities
BRIk rEEEEERL
DNEER ABRBEA  KEREE BAROGEE HEREFZERLA TEREH
2013 2012

BETRAMBERRFA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 13% 13%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Fuding City An Ran Gas Co., company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREERA EZER HERRARERRREERNE
BEZAMBERRE ("Long Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
Yan An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.*") company F capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
AREEATA EHER HEMRRRERMRE BRI

BRZAEEMIBRAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Luoyuan An Ran Pipeline Gas company e capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Co., Ltd.*") BREAERAF EHER HERRRERMRE BRI
BNAERZARRERARE Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Fuzhou Development Area An company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ran Gas Co., Ltd.*") BREERA EgER HERRRERRREERE
BMNEARRERAF Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Zhangzhou An Ran Gas Co., company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREERF EHER HERRRERMRE BRI
EIRAMRERRF Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Lianjiang An Ran Gas Co., company F capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREAERAF EHER HERRRERMRE BRI
HEBLZAARRBRAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Minging Guang An Natural company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Gas Co., Ltd.*") BREERA EZER HERRRERRREERNE
EEZAMBRERAA] Limited liability PRC  Contributed 26% 26%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Ningde An Ran Gas Co., company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREERF EHER HEMRRRERMRE BRI
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23.INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY R HAREFHER 2KRE
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continuea (%)
Effective percentage
Form of Place of of registered capital
business establishment Class of indirectly held by the
Name of company structure and operation  shares held Group Principal activities
BRIk rEEEEERL
ARER ABRBEA  KEREE BAROGEE HEREFZERLA TEER
2013 2012
BREAMBRERRE] Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Zhangpu An Ran Gas Co., company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREERA EHEXR HERRRERRREERNE
EERARRERAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Longhai An Ran Gas Co., company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREERF EHER HEMRRRERMRE BRI
BEMEEMRARLAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 38% 38% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Long Yan City Changning company F capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Gas Co., Ltd.*") BREAERAF EHER HERRRERMRE BRI
KEEERMMAEEEBRAR  Limited liability PRC  Contributed 38% 38% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Yongding Changning Clty company H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Gas Development Co., Ltd.*")  BREERA EZER HERRRERRREERNE
EMBEZRARBBAA Limited PRC  Contributed 38% 38% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Zhangzhou Long'an Natural liability H capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Gas Co., Ltd.*") company EHER HERRAREERAEBHRE
BREERA
AELZARRERAF) Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% - Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(Datian An Ran Gas Co., company R capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Ltd.*") BREARAA EHER HERRRERMRE BRI
BIREMRERRA ([EIT Limited liability PRC  Contributed 49.9% - Transportation, distribution and
#r ) ("Southwest Panva company e capital  (note b) bottled retail of LPG
Gas Co., Ltd.*") ("Southwest BBEAEATA EHER  (MEb) Bl HHETERILR
Panva”)
EEBIMRARAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 49.9% - Transportation, distribution and
(“Zunyi Panva Gas Co., Ltd.*") company H capital bottled retail of LPG
BREERA EHER BE OHIARTERLR
PRERBRAR
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23.INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)
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Form of

Place of

business establishment

Effective percentage
of registered capital
Class of indirectly held by the

Name of company structure and operation  shares held Group Principal activities
BRIk rEERERELZ
AREH EREEKS  REREE BEROEE IMELAZERLA TEEH
2013 2012

EMBIMRARLR([ZE  Limited liability PRC  Contributed  48.53% - Transportation, distribution and
BI]) ("Yunnan Panva Gas company e capital  (note ¢) bottled retail of LPG
Co., Ltd.*") ("Yunan Panva") BBEAEATA EHER (M) BH HERAETERLR

RUTBEIREERATY Limited liability PRC Contributed ~ 48.53% - Transportation, distribution and
(“Baoshan City Panva Gas Co., company H capital bottled retail of LPG
Ltd.*") BBREAEAT BHER BH HERAEZERILER

i A subsidiary of Fujian An Ran BERAZHEBRF

i A wholly-owned subsidiary of Southwest Panva i BIAMZE2EAWNERR]

*

Southwest Panva held 56.94% (2012: nil) interest in Yunnan Panva
and the Group directly held 20.12% (2012: nil) interest in Yunnan
Panva through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Beijing Zhonglian Huaan
Investment Co., Ltd.

A wholly-owned subsidiary of Yunnan Panva

For identification purpose only

The above table lists the jointly controlled entities of the Group,
which in the opinion of the Directors, principally affects the
results for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other jointly controlled entities would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

(a)

Fujian An Ran was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. During
the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group disposed of its 49%
equity interest in Fujian An Ran to an independent third party.
Upon the completion of the disposal, the Group holds 51% of the
equity interest of Fujian An Ran. According to the memorandum
of association of Fujian An Ran, 4 out of 7 directors of Fujian An
Ran are appointed by the Group. Further, 4 out of 7 shareholders’
representatives of Fujian An Ran are appointed by the Group.
Hence the Group controls approximately 57% of the voting power
in the board of directors meeting and shareholders meeting. As all
the major decisions made in the board of directors meeting and
shareholders meeting of Fujian An Ran require at least 2/3 votes
from all of the directors and shareholders’ representative, Fujian An
Ran is accounted for as a jointly controlled entity.

i I EEEREA1256.94% (20124 ¢
EIRZRAEBMER—WE2EKB AR
FHBMERREBRAREEFEEEAT
220.12% (20124 : ) #E 25

v REEIZZAMBAA

* EHES

EERB LR 2 AREE LR F TS Y
NEEEH E2013F M2012F3A31B L FE
CEBEAEAVEIERNAEBEEFREY
BAE o Wi A A FEIEHIEE 215
EERAEFEENBRTR

W

(@ BEZABLAEEZ2EMBRAR REZR
2010F3A31HIEFE - AEBR —ZBE L
FE-FHEERBRELTAZAO%RME - R
ERNE AEERBRET ARSI %BRE-
BEEELANER BELZRTEZESHY
AZBAEER T -BE BELZATBRE
REEPIZHAEBZF - B NEEE
SlEEEEBE LRI GHE LOS7T%IEERE-
HRERLREZg R MRESE L2 —
DNEBREHNFTEL2REERBERREK23
ZHHAEL MR LT ARYIERRZESE

petic]
Az ©
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23.INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

(b)

On 25 March 2011, Beijing Zhonglian Huaan Investment Co., Ltd.
(“Zhonglian Huaan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
acquired 49.9% of equity interest in Southwest Panva through a
bid auction, at a consideration of RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$43,257,000). On the same day, Zhonglian Huaan
entered into an equity management contract with a PRC company
(the “Manager”), an independent third party of the Group, for
the management of the equity interests in Southwest Panva for a
period of one year from the completion date. The transaction was
completed on 8 October 2011. During the management period,
the share of distributable profit or loss from Southwest Panva is
attributable to the Manager whereas Zhonglian Huaan received
a fixed return of RMB8,600,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$10,569,000). For the year ended 31 March 2012, the
investment in Southwest Panva was classified as AFS financial
assets under non-current assets. Upon the expiry of the equity
management contract on 7 October 2012, the Group holds 49.9%
equity interests in Southwest Panva and exercise of shareholders’
rights in accordance with the laws and regulations and the
Articles of Association of the Southwest Panva. According to the
memorandum of association of Southwest Panva, and 2 out of 5
directors of Southwest Panva are appointed by the Group. Hence
the Group controls approximately 40% of the voting power in the
board of directors meeting. As all the major decisions made in the
board of directors meeting of Southwest Panva require at least 2/3
votes from all directors’ representative. Thus. Southwest Panva and
its subsidiaries are accounted for as jointly controlled entities.

On 9 June 2011, Zhonglian Huaan acquired 20.12% of equity
interest in Yunnan Panva through a bid auction, at a consideration
of RMB26,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,951,000).
On the same day, Zhonglian Huaan entered into an equity
management contract with the Manager, for the management
of the equity interest in Yunnan Panva for a period of one year
from the completion date. The transaction was completed on
17 February 2012. Zhonglian Huaan received a fixed return of
RMB2,700,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,318,000). For
the year ended 31 March 2012, the investment in Yunnan Panva
was classified as AFS financial assets under non-current assets.
Upon the expiry of the equity management contract on 16 February
2013, the Group holds effective 48.53% equity interests (of which
28.41% is through the investment in Southwest Panva) in Yunnan
Panva and exercise of shareholders’ rights in accordance with the
laws and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Yunnan
Panva. According to the memorandum of association of Yunnan
Panva, and 4 out of 9 directors of Yunan Panva are appointed
by the Group. Hence the Group controls approximately 44.4%
of the voting power in the board of directors meeting. As all the
major decisions make in the board of directors meeting of Yunnan
Panva require at least 8/9 votes from all directors’ representative.
Thus, Yunna Panva and its subsidiary are accounted for as jointly
controlled entities.
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23.INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued) (%)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's REERHFRE
interests in the jointly controlled entities which are accounted for LAE T8

using proportionate consolidation with the line-by-line reporting

format is set out below:

& 8

Zawi7 s atlione)

Al
X E

o

I

HER R ZMBEERTD
R BEatan T

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
Non-current assets FmBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WE M 681,980 524,250
Investment properties "EYE 11,169 10,235
Prepaid lease payments AR 51,020 30,323
Goodwill B 3,027 2,804
Intangible assets mIVEE 61,192 63,604
Interests in associates i ENCIE 41,317 38,811
AFS financial assets AHEESREE 410 407
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant HBEME WENMEE
and equipment and prepaid lease payments NREMNESE MikE 7,519 8,235
857,634 678,669
Current assets MBEE
Inventories AT 37,756 13,146
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H M FE W RIA 148,640 82,876
Amount due from an associate JE U — BB & R B 3RIE 1,038 1,032
Prepaid lease payments A 1,129 769
Pledged bank deposits BEFIRITHER 6,311 5,390
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 69,033 29,980
263,907 133,193
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E b e T8 218,396 173,354
Tax liabilities HIEAE 23,463 13,864
Amount due to a joint venturer ER—HEErEEE T HIAE - 28
Amount due to an associate JE A — I & A B2 58 - 1
Bank borrowings — due within one year —FARIBHZRITEE 105,262 44,185
347,121 231,432
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23.INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY 3N HEBEEFHEREZRE
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continvea ()
The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's REBPHRIZEGERE < EZ B ERTY
interests in the jointly controlled entities which are accounted for NE B E R NI FlERE AR - SlaltmT
using proportionate consolidation with the line-by-line reporting (%)
format is set out below: (Continued)
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Non-current liabilities FnBarE
Bank borrowings — due after one year —FRINEZRITEE 215,991 217,635
Deferred tax liabilities LT BEE 13,618 14,030
229,609 231,665
Turnover X 581,062 338,154
Cost of sales 5 A (387,227) (219,414)
Gross profit EH 193,835 118,740
Other operating income g A 6,574 3,207
Selling and administrative expenses $HE MATHR B X (75,749) (45,906)
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERZREZ
equipment (fFE18) W= (497) 332
Share of results of associates iy AN e 5,343 11,673
Finance costs RO (4,272) (2,769)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and = 5t & 5 & H b JE U B
other receivables R ZBIEEE (452) (5,945)
Profit before tax B 150 Al g A 124,782 79,332
Income tax expenses P8’ 2 (29,252) (19,787)
Profit for the year F R 95,530 59,545
Other comprehensive income for the year NEEFEEMEEA 1,992 9,370
Upon the adoption of equity method, as required by HKFRS 11 PNEAEZREE BT M HEEER 2
effective in the coming financial period, each line item prescribed EAVEREEANENTFZRE L& 1T
above will be aggregated into single line items to be presented in Fr%5I|1E B i 82 E1TI8 B AR R & WA
the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement FKUREEHBARABR AR

of financial position.
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24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 24.7[ftHESRERE
ASSETS
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Listed securities FWEE
Securities listed in Hong Kong, at fair value RER LT 2ESF RARE
(Note 6¢) (FfFzE6C) 54 54
Unlisted securities FEHESF
Equity securities, at cost (Note) AT S LA (K sE) 15,830 90,703
Impairment loss recognised BEHERREEE (6,836) (6,796)
8,994 83,907
Total At 9,048 83,961
Note: I

25.

The unlisted investment represents investment in unlisted equity interests
in private entities incorporated in the PRC. They are measured at cost
less impairment at the end of the reporting period because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the Directors are of
the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

INVENTORIES

FLEMEERNPREMRLZAAERZIEL
MR ZIRE - ARNEE AR E-FTHERER
NHEERBEQABETRAI RIS SUERIKR
BEREHRERABREE -

25. 78

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Welfare lottery tickets BA R 2,087 1,029
Construction materials, spare parts and BEDE - EHRERED

consumables 56,779 41,053

Gas appliances MR E 1,829 205

Gas fuel, including natural gas and LPG MRE (BREAXARIBEER) 16,555 5,567

77,250 47,854
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 aizowim 31HIELFE

26.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  26.

B 5 & H R RRIR

2013 2012

HK$000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Trade and bill receivables B 5 W A K e U R R 118,860 73,184
Less: Impairment loss recognised in respect of B ERE S EWEIE

trade receivables R ZREEE (13,860) (11,401)

105,000 61,783

Other receivables E b FEWRIA 259,925 129,940

Less: Impairment loss recognised in respect of BB E fh R U R IE

other receivables BERRZBERE (23,662) (23,458)

236,263 106,482

341,263 168,265

The Group allows its trade customers with credit periods normally
ranging from 30 days to 90 days and extending to 180 days for
major customers. The Group does not hold any collateral over the
balances.

An aged analysis of the trade and bill receivables (net of
impairment loss recognised) as at the end of the reporting period,
presented based on the invoice date which approximated the
respective revenue recognition dates is as follows:

AEEGKTHESEPZEEH—KH30A
Z20HAE  NATERFIERZE180H A&
SERZEERTEFSEMAERR-

BHRYFANEYRER OREERZRIE
BR)NBERRZRED T RIEZHZAH
(EERNKAERBBEE) 2HRET:

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current to 90 days ENEZE90H 64,267 41,862
91 days to 180 days 91H Z=180H 10,858 8,559
Over 180 days 180H A |+ 29,875 11,362
105,000 61,783
PRERERAR
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26.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26.5 H 1t JE W FRIE ()
(Continued)
The movements in the impairment loss recognised in respect of EREFEWBRERR 2 BEBEZE N
trade receivables are as follows: N
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BB TIT
At 1 April m4RA1R 11,401 6,820
Impairment loss recognised EERZBEEE 3,006 4,672
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in previous © 5ti@F & [E #ER
years Rl (B &5 18 O] (627) (368)
Exchange realignment b 5B 80 277
At 31 March M3 A31H 13,860 11,401
Included in the impairment loss recognised are individually ERRAREBEREENERECE SRR
impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance of RIE - S8 A HE 475 113,860,0007T (2012
approximately HK$13,860,000 (2012: HK$11,401,000). The E-,%ﬁ%ﬂ 401,0007T) ° B Bl 2 & (B FE W 5k
individually impaired receivables mainly related to debtors that are EXrZEEH RSN EELETECE

in financial difficulties or of poor credit history.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses a system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed on
a regular basis. Over 72% of the trade receivables were neither
past due nor impaired at 31 March 2013 (2012: 82%).

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

BABR-

ERMNEFFEPA AEBERA—

(EES

KHEEEEPZ EEEERATHEEER

B-BEFZEERES
FIRAZEERSR

FHEZ RIEAEE
"FA201343A31H B 5

FEUL AR FNHBE172% (20124F  82% ) 14 Ak 180 Hf

NORAE

BB HRBIE 2 B 5 18 WA AR iR

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BB T IT

Within 90 days 90H K 22,624 5,899
91 days to 180 days 91HZE180H - 37
181 days to 365 days 181HZE365H 3,135 2,686
Over 365 days #BiB365H 4,116 2,759
29,875 11,381
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

26.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26.Z HEWFIE 2)

(Continued)

At 31 March 2013, included in the Group's trade receivable M201363A318  NEE 2 & 5 EWGRIAL

balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$29,875,000 (2012: HK$11,381,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the amounts were still considered
recoverable.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a

#R B IR ABR A 475 #529,875,0007T (2012
F 5 111,381,00070) < FEMBR X - i 5 BR
TRHEAHE AR AEEMAEZER
FETRAEEE RAZEEEZTERE
ERECARZERIBINHAE A UE -

HARBHEREZBRHBRESEEFE

M ZEXPROLERERLHE-

wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

HAth B SOR ORE MR RERER) RS
IRz DM RBEEEDT

An analysis of the other receivables by nature (net of impairment
loss recognised) as at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Prepayments FE A 19,510 16,967
Deposits paid/payment in advance to suppliers Bk AN T HER 2 KB 108,415 71,970
Amount due from Yongheng Development EUCKEZEREEBR A A

Corporation Limited (" Yongheng Development") (k1B RE | ) ZIE (M 5Ei)

(Note i) 108 108
Loan receivable ERER 7,415 -
Compensation receivable (Note ii) Jelg i E 2 (KYsEi) 74,154
Other tax receivables H e W A 18 9,478 7,977
Others Hith 17,183 9,460

236,263 106,482

B N XM E SN AREY B BZE

Other than mentioned in the notes below, the Group does not

hold any collateral over these balances. HER 2 IR e
Notes: B 5 -
() The amount due from Yongheng Development is unsecured, () EUOKEZBRFELAEER 2ERER

DREFEEZE -NEZE2013F3A31B LFE
HMzReAEESFEL A B E108,0007T
(20124 : 7#108,0007T) °

interest-free and repayable on demand. The maximum amount
outstanding was approximately HK$108,000 (2012: HK$108,000)
during the year ended 31 March 2013.
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26.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26.ZEZ N E#MEWTIIE »

(Continued)

(i) Pursuant to the agreement, Yongheng Development has given
a profit guarantee to the Company that the net profits after
tax of Grand Destiny as shown in the audited consolidated
financial statement of Grand Destiny for the period from the
date of completion of 1 September 2011 to 31 March 2013 shall
be not less than RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$74,154,000) (the “Profit Guarantee”) and will compensate
the Company for any shortfall between the Profit Guarantee and
the actual profits after tax as shown in the audited consolidated
financial statements of Grand Destiny. Further details of the
acquisition of Grand Destiny are set out in Note 37(c). The amount
represents compensation receivable from Yongheng Development
for the shortfall of Profit Guarantee. The amount is secured by the
charge of 297,654,321 consideration shares of the Company held
by Yongheng Development. Such share charge shall be released
upon the fulfilment of the Profit Guarantee.

On 8 April 2013, the Company and Yongheng Development
entered into a settlement deed (as supplemented by a supplemental
settlement deed on 16 May 2013) which waived the Profit
Guarantee obligation of Yongheng Development and released the
share charge. Further details are set out in Note 42(b). Upon the
time when such waiver becoming effective, the amount will be
derecognised.

The movements in the impairment loss recognised in respect of
other receivables are as follows:

(i)  WRIEWE KEREDRAABELFBER
& Bl ek B #320114F9 818 201343
A31B M AT 2 EBERRAMBHRE
FTBTZBRBEEFNFEETEIORAR
#60,000,0007T, (18 & #4978 #74,154,000
7o) ([FBRE]) W RAA R EFE
RBEEREZEBRGAVBEREMIIZE
BHRBRESH M2 EAEE - 2o BEM
FBRBZEZEBOKEEREHBES Z&
HAKBEREF A A ARZ297,654,3210%
EERARERDIER B BRGIERER
KR BR BB R -

HR2013F4A8H AR RIEK BB L4
B (2013558168 2 RS E 2%
W) Bl SEZBHREKEEEETF
BREZEBREGRBEOEFE EEBRHRE
g Ze BTV ER

EREMENRIERR Z BREBEZSN
T

2013 2012

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 April R4H1R 23,458 25,542

Impairment loss recognised R IBEREE 297 1,578

Amount written-off as uncollectible J 85 S AT U 21 5RIB - (4,576)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in previous & #ti8 4 F E #E R 2 B E E 185 D

years (154) (31

Exchange realignment ME 3 B 61 945

At 31 March M3HA31H 23,662 23,458

Included in the impairment loss recognised are individually
impaired other receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$23,662,000 (2012: HK$23,458,000) which
have been placed in severe financial difficulties.

B HERR R (B B3 48 B 45 TE % R B8 B PR 2 2
Al B ORE E A R IE - RS A B
23,662,0007T (20124 : B ¥ 23,458,000

JT) °
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27.

28.

29.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A
JOINT VENTURER/A JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITY

The balances are unsecured,
demand.

interest-free and repayable on

HELD-TO-MATURITY

27@4&/11 Feﬁ EEBLES
7 RS B R IE

BRGHRAERT 28 MARELEER

285 B 2RHIRE

INVESTMENTS
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Held-to-maturity investments consist of: BEZIBEERSE:
— structured deposit —EHEMER = 40,554

At 31 March 2012, held-to-maturity investments represents a
structured deposit with fixed interest which ranging from 4.6%
to 5% per annum which has a maturity of 1 month with a
nominal amount of RMB33,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$40,554,000).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

At the end of the reporting period, the bank balances and cash
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$354,720,000 (2012: HK$285,936,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland
China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short-term time deposit rates.

PRERBRQF
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29.B KB ITTF

M201263A310  HEEI R EREHEE
R ETFERRIERSE AH—EA
HE{E A R #33,000,0007T (HE R HE®
40,554,000 ) ©

//fETTmn
BRRRE

RIEHR NEBUARBLEE ZFE174
£ IR 4 H)7E #6354,720,0007T (20124F : %
#285,936,0007T) c AR TS AR AR A
HAb & ¥ o sR 1M - AR B i 2 HNE B 12 1
DI AETE - NEREEERMETE  AEEEE
BREFRELCEIINEEB 2 RITBARER
BAEEME .

RITRERBHRITES 7‘F'J+u+%'2/;c§ﬁﬂ
Rt B -HEHERFERZERAR—BE
EA BURRASEE 2 IR EF R Bzﬁ%ﬁ
Z R AR R E B
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29.PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK

30.

BALANCES AND CASH (continved)

Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

29.C IR ITIER SRITH

BRIAE @

RABR  RITEBRESBEAT o
AT B ) A LS
SHE

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
HK$ ikt 20,091 49,331
usD ETT 20,037 19,857

The pledged bank deposits carried prevailing market interest rate
at 0.36% per annum (2012: 0.36% per annum) and represented
deposits pledged with a bank to secure for the letter of credit
issued to a supplier.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of major components of the balance
with aged analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date at
the end of the report period:

30.

BEHE M IRITIF I F £ %0.36% (20124 :
0.36% ) ZMITMH AR B - IR EM TR
TERRAEERELERRZERZFR-

B 5 K HAENIE

RBERR REZZAHE HENKIAE
BEIEMLY ZAMEEREZDWAT

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables, falling due in: B ZEMNFIE BEHBAMT:
Current to 90 days BIERZE90H 37,250 40,760
91 to 180 days 91H=180H 11,583 11,182
Over 180 days 1808 A 36,865 27,288
Trade payables B 5N IE 85,698 79,230
Deposits received from customers (Note) WBREFPZE® (M) 165,670 150,064
Customer Gas Fuel deposits and other deposit
received ERFEFMRREZEREMBRS 39,822 24,895
Gas Fuel income received in advance T8 BA S U A 36,151 24,695
Commission income from lottery sales received in  FEWH Z 8% 2 A4
advance 185 114
Other payables for the purchase of property, plant BB % - BERSZE B EE
and equipment and intangible assets and prepaid A R TETH & 2 E b FE 1 5E
lease payments - 1,700
Accrued charges and other payables FEFtE R KA ERNFRIE 42,425 35,952
369,951 316,650
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30.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31

(Continued)

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Note:

Deposits received from customers represent the gas pipeline connection
fee received but the pipelines have not yet been completed as at the end
of the reporting period.

. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

30.E %

HAtt I 5

IE(@)

RBEmcFHEENROB -AEETH
TR R B IEBUR  BRATA RN RIARE
EHINEE-

Bifat:

WEBEF ZReIEEWRZ RREBERBRA
HER 3R 5 B R B I M R FTRK ©

BNNEN—BEEFE

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

At 1 April »4aH1H 31,547 -

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37¢) U BB A /) (B RE37¢) - 30,759

Repayment B (3,963) -

Imputed interest e 55 A8 2,002 788

Exchange realignment ME 3B 192 -

At 31 March M3A31H 29,778 31,547
Analysed as: BATEED

Current liabilities mEEE 4,218 3,833

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 25,560 27,714

29,778 31,547

On 15 May 2011, Shenzhen Le Cai entered into equity transfer
agreements with Mr. Yang, the executive director of Shenzhen
Le Cai (subsequently appointed as executive director of the
Company on 19 December 2011), in which Shenzhen Le Cai
acquired 100% equity interest in Shenzhen Jin Cai Technology
Development Co., Ltd. ("Shenzhen Jin Cai") at an aggregate
consideration of approximately RMB51,006,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$62,681,000). Part of the consideration in
the amount of RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$43,012,000) payable to Mr. Yang will be settled in ten equal
annual installments amount of RMB3,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$4,326,000). The effective interest rate to
discount future cash payment is 7.05% (2012: 7.05%).

PRERBRQF
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2011458158 » F Y245 8 R Y1 245 > #
TESRHMESRE (HER2011F12H198 %
ZERBARRNITESR) R RS R
Hep ORYIEEE LR E L ARS1,006,000
7T (HEERHE162,681,0007T) Y iE R
KE#EEREREERAE (IFRIEZ])
100% A% HE - RIS IR A R A B REBLEA
R#35,000,0007 (M E N KB
43,012,00070) AR F SO B AR
3,500,000t (#8E R %)% #4,326,0007T ) 7£
T10F RN - BHIR R RIR SR Z BB FI R
7.05% (20124 : 7.05% ) °



Secured bank loans were secured by pledging of various assets of

the Group, details of which are set out in Note 41.

All bank loans (secured and unsecured) are floating rate
borrowings of which interest rates are in the range of 5.31%
to 7.21% per annum (2012: ranging from 5.31% to 8.53% per

annum).

HEPRES (pp)R SAN) =ENEN 2 NACRERRNAN ZE(1NRDD = e
: : T 3 :
1 = R e —— e =
jj-_ =
32.BANK BORROWINGS 32.8R17
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Secured bank loans BHEMBITER 303,864 238,674
Unsecured bank loans ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ%?f( 49,522 45,881
353,386 284,555
The bank loans are repayable: AR T 5 FEHEK??ZZ
RITER
Within one year or on demand *EW‘XE/\K*E# 20,108 29,316
In the second year NE ZF 27,103 15,355
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZZFRF
(BHEEREMF) 95,129 81,633
Over five years AFLE 93,759 120,647
236,099 246,951
Carrying amount of bank loans that are not mARREHRET —FA
repayable within one year from the end of the B3& - e BB P BERT 25K
reporting period but contain a repayment on BEREERZBITEXRREEAE
demand clause (shown under current liabilities) (MeERBEE) 117,287 37,604
353,386 284,555
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under & : —F R E| A5 ER B
current liabilities BlEz28 (137,395) (66,920)
Amounts due over one year —FRINBzeHE 215,991 217,635

BEARTERABRAEB 2 ETEEE
RER FEHINHIFEL -

FTARITER (BRI R EEHR) BFER RN
F531%%7.21% (2012F : T F5.31% =
853%) 2 FHBREE-
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33.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the

3R HERS

EXHRBRE ZHEKRED

HAE
Rl SRR

consolidated statement of financial position and the movements FKIER  ZFEARBONAFE 2 EBNT
during the year are as follows:
Property,
plant and Intangible Others
equipment assets (Note ¢) Total
ME- BE HAt
kEE BEEE (KigEc) &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETFIT BETT BT BT
At 1 April 2011 R2011F4818 983 13,310 5,266 19,559
Exchange realignment ERREEE 36 1,302 194 1,532
Additions arising from acquisiton ~ WEKBARMELZAE
of subsidiaries (Note 37¢) (P5E37¢) - 195,411 - 195,411
Credited to consolidated statement RAFE ZFE8 2B ARES
of comprehensive income for the 5T A (BifFE13)
year (Note 13) (122) (4,397) - (4,519)
At 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 7201234310
M2012F4F1H 897 205,626 5,460 211,983
Exchange realignment BEE 57, 3 B 5 3,333 31 3,369
Credited to consolidated statement RAARFE 2548 2 ERAHTEF
of comprehensive income for the 5T A (Bif3E13)
year (Note 13) (36) (196,097) - (196,133)
At 31 March 2013 M2013F3A31H 866 12,862 5,491 19,219
Note: B3 -
a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised tax a)  RIEER AEEA]AERHER K & F

losses of approximately HK$166,489,000 (2012: HK$117,749,000)
available to offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unrecognised tax losses due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Such unrecognised tax
losses will be carried forward for five years from respective dates of
origination.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$19,018,000 (2012:
HK$19,018,000). No deferred tax has been recognised in relation
to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised.

FRERERAT
166 2012-2013%%

2 R R T TE 5 18 4) 78 #166,489,0007T
(20124F - B %117,749,0007T) » A K K
o M Ty AT TERL MU A SR HER 2 B IE
BHRAECHIEELEE ZSAERZRIEE
1B A HRRAHE A B AR AT A5 o

RFEMR AEEREE MR R ZEH
7 #19,018,0007T (20124 : 7 #19,018,000
TO) o BB AT TR G = R SRR
IR - Jh AN B A AR B FI A R S AT 0
R B R PTE o



33.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continueq)

Note: (Continued)

) The deferred tax was recognised in respect of the gain on disposal
of certain property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments to the PRC government authority. According to the
respective EIT Law, the PRC government authority allows to defer
the EIT for gain on disposal of the assets in five years times after
considering any deductible reconstruction cost. As at 31 March
2013, the Group estimated the future cost of re-constructing a
new plant amounting to approximately HK$27,118,000 (2012:
HK$34,613,000). Re-constructing cost of HK$23,807,000 was

BIELEMIBEERE o)

s (4)

0 BEHULEETHE BWERRHEZWRE
RIENHEE THBIBFEPI ZELERIER
BHER - REABECEMSRE PRBRM
HARHERSFALEEEZ B MR R
FRAIRERZXABEEDEMER -
M20136F3A31H  AEE B EENERE
2R RAK AR 47 #27,118,0007T (20124 ¢
7 #34,613,0007T) < & £201343A31H
IFFE BEESEERAE23,807,0007T

incurred during the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: nil). (20126 - &) ©
il
34.SHARE CAPITAL 34. 7K
2013 2012 2013 2012
Number of Number of
shares shares HK$000 HK$'000
BHEE [& 10 & B BET T BT T
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.07 &R EEHE
each 0.077T 2 &E@®A% 7,999,999,999 7,999,999,999 560,000 560,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE:
At the beginning of the year REF] 5,809,954,136 4,082,224,554 406,697 285,756
Issue of consideration shares ZE1THREIRD
(Note) (PF3E) - 1,727,729,582 = 120,941
At the end of the year NG N 5,809,954,136 5,809,954,136 406,697 406,697

Note:

On 1 September 2011, 1,727,729,582 consideration shares with par
value of HK$0.07 each were allotted and issue to Yongheng Development
as part of the consideration for the acquisition of Grand Destiny (Note
37¢). The fair value of the 1,727,729,582 new ordinary shares of the
Company, determined using the closing market price of HK$0.194 per
share as the date of completion and exchange of control, amounted
to approximately HK$335,179,000. These shares rank pair passu in all
respects with other shares in issue.

None of the Company's subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the years ended 31
March 2013 and 2012.

M EE -

2011499818 1,727,729,582 8 (R B A% 15 2 A
BREITTKERR FREEABE.07TL A
ERBWEBRTE 2D RE (KiFE37c) - LRFERK A
B R i B i AR B #0194 L 2 I (B
TE o ANAR,727,729, 582 FT LB 2 AR BB
75 #335,179,0007T ° 2 E R0 BEL H b B B 1T 9
B FEZEREHAL-

REE2013F N20126F3A31H IEFE - &K
RAIZHBARMERE DEXKERAR
B A B AR ©
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35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT .M EBRZARS

TRANSACTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme") for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include full-time employees (including executive directors),
consultants, agents and advisors of the Group. The Share Option
Scheme became effective on 3 October 2006.

Terms of Share Option Scheme

As at 31 March 2013, the total number of shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme was 408,222,455 (2012:
408,222,455), representing approximately 7.03% (2012: 7.03%)
of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March
2013. Without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders,
the total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, and the
aggregate number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any year is not permitted to exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time.

No amount is payable on acceptance of an offer to grant an
option to subscribe for the shares of the Company granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the “Offer”). The Share
Option Scheme may be exercised at any time for a period of ten
years from the date of acceptance of the Offer, subject to the
conditions imposed by the board of the directors. The exercise
price of the option shares would be at a price equal to the
higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer
of the option; (ii) the average closing prices of the shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the options; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31 March
2013 and 2012.

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share
options held by category of participants (including Directors)
under Share Option Scheme and movements in such holdings for
both year.

FREZEREGRLT
168 2012-2013%%

AnrlRA —HEBRERS ([BRER
21 %Wi%ﬁ]&@ﬁ BAKBEZRINEZE

FHER A ER2HBE -BREFIZA
ER2EERRASEZ2RBER (BHEH

TEE) FAA - KREBEEM -BRETS
22006510 A3B A4k -
B IR RS B 2 R X

MR2013F3A31 8 RIEHE R ELT S 7] 877
2B 48 # 5408,222,4550% (20124 ¢
408,222,455) S M2013F3A31H AR
BB BITIANHI7.03% (20124 :7.03% ) °
KREARRQNFREE LU RERETEA]
%#mzmﬂw&zww@%w SHBBA

AR AT E B EITR M 210% @ AT
fA] 4F J& AT A @ B A 35 2 B IR 8 %
2R BEABBBARGNMEMERED
TRDZ1% °

BRARBEBRE RO RBARR RN
ZHEREZ2H (28] BABNKIE B
PR SR B AR X B 1R 10F R
BITE  AXRRES SN IRT B
BENZITEEERBSR TIZEEE ()
R ERE 2 BB e B RERMIIA
RARGZHWHE: (NBREELEREZ A
RISME X 5 B B 2 F A & B LD 2 713
Wi (8 5 R (i) A £ I {E »

RE E2013F K2012F3A31HIEFE - #
R E B
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ERSHERZEBER -
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35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ISR ERZNRS =
TRAN SACTI O N S (Continued)
Lapsed/ Lapsed/ Exercise
cancelled At 31 March cancelled price of
Category of Date of grant Redlassification duringthe 2012 and 1 duringthe At 31 March Exercise period of share
participant of share options At 1 April 2011 (Note 3) year April 2012 year 2013 share options options
Ra0ng
3A318R
ENNE EREN W012F ER%H R013%E BRE ERE
SEER ERERHAH 01154518 (K&3) /8 481R /8 38318 fTREE %@
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(1) iE7)
Directors 15 October 2007 11,960,000 2,500,000 (14,460,000) - - - 1 May 2008 to 0.514
gz 2007108158 14 April 2011
200855R10F
01154R148
12 April 2010 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 12 April 2010 to 0.385
201064128 11 April 2013
010547120
013548118
29 November 2010 35,650,000 5,000,000 - 40,650,000 - 40,650,000 1 December 2010 to 0.28
20106117298 30 November 2013
010512818%
20135115308
Continuous contract 15 October 2007 32,290,000 - (32,290,000) - - - 1 May 2008 to 0.514
employees 2007£108158 14 April 2011
FEANHIES 2008558182
011547148
2 November 2007 700,000 - (700,000) - - - 10 May 2008 to 0.632
2007511 A28 1 May 2011
2008557106 %
01155818
4 January 2008 20,000,000 - (20,000,000) - - - 17 July 2008 to 038
200851748 3 July 2011
0857 A17HE
01157438
12 April 2010 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 12 April 2010 to 0.385
2010647128 11 April 2013
20105451282
01354R118
29 November 2010 77,000,000 (5,000,000) - 72,000,000 - 72,000,000 1 December 2010 to 0.282
20105117297 30 November 2013
0105128182
20135118308
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35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT BRI ER NS )
TRAN SACT | O N S (Continued)
Lapsed/ Lapsed/ Exercise
cancelled At 31 March cancelled price of
Category of Date of grant Redlassification duringthe 2012 and 1 duringthe At 31 March Exercise period of share
participant of share options At 1 April 2011 (Note 3) year April 2012 year 2013 share options options
Ha012%
3A318R
L FREH 212% FREH RoBE BREE RRE
SEERN BRERHAH R011F4518 (W3) /i 4818 /a8 3A31A fTRESE %@
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(M) (Hf&t2)
Consultants 15 October 2007 18,750,000 {2,500,000) (16,250,000) - - -1 May 2008 to 0514
EEIN 2007108158 14 April 2011
200855R10E
011547148
12 April 2010 23,000,000 - - 23,000,000 - 23,000,000 12 April 20100 0.385
2010647128 11 April 2013
010548120 %
013548118
29 November 2010 34,700,000 - - 34,700,000 - 34,700,000 1 December 2010 o 0.282
2010611 H298 30 November 2013
W010512818%
20138114308
Agents 15 October 2007 8,740,000 - (8,740,000) - - -1 May 2008 to 0514
2 2007108158 14 April 2011
200855R10E
0114547148
29 November 2010 18,250,000 - - 18250,000 - 18250,000 1 December 2010 to 0.282
20106114298 30 November 2013
WI0E12A18E
20135114308
Advisors 15 October 2007 4,690,000 - (4,690,000) - - - 1 May 2008 to 0.514
Bl 2007104158 14 April 2011
2008E5R1RF
011547148
29 November 2010 9,000,000 - - 9,000,000 - 9,000,000 1 December 2010 to 0.28
20105114298 30 November 2013
010512818F
2013511 A308
298,730,000 - (97,130,0000 201,600,000 - 201,600,000
PRERBRAR
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35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRAN SACTl O N S (Continued)

35.

h
[\
1/
lll
'I‘ (L]
k.
-
|

ROBERZNTRS =

Lapsed/ Lapsed/ Exercise
cancelled At 31 March cancelled price of
Category of Date of grant Redlassification duringthe 2012 and 1 duringthe At 31 March Exercise period of share
participant of share options At 1 April 2011 (Note 3) year April 2012 year 2013 share options options
Ha0nE
331 R
L L FREH 0128 FREH RoBE BRE RRE
SEERN ERERH AN R011F4518 (W3) /a8 4A1R /a8 3A31A fTRESE %@
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(K1) (Hi&t2)
Exercisable at the end 298,730,000 201,600,000 201,600,000
of the year
RERT P
Weighted average 0.36 0.28 0.49 030 - 0.30
exercise price
METTRE
Notes: B 5
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the 1. EREzGEBEHAELBEETEBREFS
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. Wik
2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in 2. EARDAEBEITHER - BITAKRSCARR KRR

the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company'’s share capital.

3. During the year ended 31 March 2012, certain employees were
appointed as directors of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

None of the share options have been exercised during the years
ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

B R L BB - B IR T8 (B A A
A -

3. REZE2012F3831BILFE £ TEED
EZEAKAGES-

BREYERTHAEAZTAREINRBKRRX
GLERRZERN-

NE E2013F K2012F3A31H IEFE - #
EERNEETE
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36.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT

36.1& & R K18 A 51 2

SCHEMES

In April 2005, the Group enrolled all non-PRC employees in a
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group under
the control of trustees. The retirement benefit cost for the MPF
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
represents contributions payable to the fund by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group's subsidiaries operating in PRC have participated
in defined contribution retirement schemes organised by the
relevant local government authorities in PRC. All PRC employees
are entitled to an annual pension equal to a fixed portion of
their ending basic salaries at their retirement dates. The Group
is required to make specific contributions to the retirement
schemes at a rate of 12% to 25% percent of basic salary of its
PRC employees and have no further obligation for post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions made.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of approximately HK$11,948,000 (2012:
HK$8,077,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013.
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37.ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY 37. WA R HIER B

CONTROLLED ENTITIES/ N
SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Further to the details of acquisition of Southwest Panva (a) WEBHIAMZE—FFHBEHINAMGE
set out in Note 23(b), the fair value of assets acquired 23(b) RIKEEH BB W EE LB R
and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are as BEZARBENT:
follows:
Fair values of
identifiable
assets and
liabilities
R EER
EEZARE
HK$'000
BT T
Intangible assets | EE 131
Property, plant and equipment W BE MR E 34,900
Prepaid lease payments B 8,497
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 18,748
Trade and other receivables 5 R E A U R IE 26,207
Inventories FE 15,437
Trade and other payables 2 5 R EMEN IR (31,347)
Tax liabilities HEAE (1,719)
70,854
Bargain purchase gain for acquisition of WERRAEHEE 2 & E
jointly controlled entities e B s = (27,441)
Exchange realignment TE 53R (156)
Total consideration RE®E 43,257
Satisfied by: BTAARE:
AFS financial assets At ESREE 43,257
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEEMEA 2R R A FEE:
Bank balances and cash acquired EMERITESR LIRS 18,748
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37.ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES/
SUBS'D'AR'ES (Continued)

(b)

Further to the details of increase of equity interest of
Yunnan Panva set out in Note 23(c), the carrying value
of the equity interests of Yunnan Panva acquired on
17 February 2013 was approximately RMB22,299,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$27,403,000). The
difference between the consideration and the carrying value
of the equity interests acquired has been recognised in
other reserves within equity. The net cash inflow arising on
the acquisition is approximately HK$8,749,000.

On 13 June 2011, the Company, as a purchaser, entered
into the agreement with Yongheng Development, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase
and Yongheng Development has conditionally agreed to sell
the entire interest in Grand Destiny for a total consideration
of approximately HK$380,568,000, which is satisfied by (i)
allot and issue of 1,727,729,582 consideration shares of the
Company of HK$0.194 each determined using the closing
market price of 1 September 2011, the date of acquisition
and exchange of control, amount to HK$335,179,000;
and (ii) set-off against the loan due from Yongheng
Development amounting to HK$43,050,000 and the related
accrued interest up to 10 June 2011 of approximately
HK$2,339,000. Before the acquisition, the Group held
40% equity interest in Shenzhen Le Cai and upon the
completion of the acquisition, Grand Destiny indirectly held
the remaining 60% equity interest in Shenzhen Le Cai. The
transaction had been completed on 1 September 2011.
Grand Destiny was acquired so as to continue the expansion
of the Group's lottery agency business. Details of the
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and the calculation
of goodwill are as follows:

PRERBRQF
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By IS REBEITER201149H1H
(BPUeBE REA e e el H HF) 2 Wi
BET AFIRAEE0.194T  BstASB
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37.ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES/
SUBS'D'AR'ES (Continued)

(c) (Continued) () (%)

Fair values of

identifiable

assets and

liabilities

ARNEER

EBEzARE

HK$'000

BT T

Intangible assets mEE 781,646
Property, plant and equipment ME HE LR 3,782
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 18,506
Trade and other receivables Z 5 I Eth fE Uk F08 144,507
Inventories FE 226
Trade and other payables 5 R EMENFKIA (95,490)
Amount due to a director B —REENRIEA (30,759)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE (195,411)
627,007

Goodwill (Note 20) & (MiFE20) 41,301
Total consideration REEFE 668,308

Satisfied by: BT3RS
Fair value of previously held interest in Grand Destiny  %&RIRNEEHE 2 S 2 AL E 287,740
Set-off of amount due from Yongheng Development % $5 & Ug 5k 1B 3% & FUE 45,389
Consideration shares KRER D 335,179
668,308

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:
Bank balances and cash acquired

The intangible assets represent the license of operating
lottery business in Shenzhen, the PRC. The fair value is HER N A

WEMEEZRERAFRE
ERRRITEKRNAES

18,506

BRAERNTRRIICENREERZ
BEHBLEAERRA

fMEM(PHREEEFEBRFABRA
DR URBEEEEERMAZR
TREER FERLL R RABRE N
Z R BR WA E -

estimated by an independent and professionally qualified
valuer, Asset Appraisal Limited, and calculated using multi-
purpose excess earning method based on the cash flow
projection, royalty rate and discount rate adopted by the
management of Grand Destiny.
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37.ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES/
SUBS'D'AR'ES (Continued)

(0

(Continued)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Grand Destiny because
the cost of the combination included a control premium.
In addition, the consideration paid for the combination
effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of
expected revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of Grand Destiny. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because
they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected
to be deductible for tax purpose.

The fair value of the previously held interest in Grand
Destiny held by the Group which is approximated to
the proportion of fair value of the assets and liabilities
attributable to the Group on the acquisition date, was
estimated by an independent and professionally qualified
valuer, Assets Appraisal Limited. The fair value estimates
are calculated using discounted cash flow method based
on cash flow projection, growth rate and discount rate
adopted by the management of Grand Destiny. The Group
recognised a gain of approximately HK$235,663,000 as a
result of the remeasurement of previously held interest.
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37.ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES/
SUBS'D'AR'ES (Continued)

(0

(Continued)

There is a Profit Guarantee by Yongheng Development for
Grand Destiny as disclosed in Note 26 (ii). No asset from the
Profit Guarantee has been recognised in the consolidated
financial statements as at 31 March 2012 as, after reviewed
the business plan of Grand Destiny and with reference
to the valuation report prepared by an independent
professional valuer of the Company, the Directors are of the
opinion that the estimated profit of Grand Destiny can meet
the amount of the Profit Guarantee and the fair value of it
was insignificant.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2012
was loss of approximately HK$26,492,000 attributable
to the additional business generated by Grand Destiny.
Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2012 included
approximately HK$432,000 was generated from Grand
Destiny.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2011,
total Group revenue for the year ended 31 March 2012
would have been approximately HK$1,119,043,000, profit
for the year ended 31 March 2012 would have been
approximately HK$299,960,000. The pro-forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 April 2011, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

Soo
JHit
\

tEEFIE RIS

KIBEERE R TE R 2 FIER B
26(iI EE - W F2012F3A31H 2 47
BV BBRRERREFBREZEMWE
E BAARKREREREZEGENLS
EARRNBBLEEGEMRR 2 (HER
Lk EERERT G EF REME
BRI BRELEAENRBELTEKA-

SFAEE2012F3A831HIEFE 2%
M BEFTEEZEINEBEREEBEES
4774 #26,492,0007T ° & =201243 A
3THIEFERABIERTEES 2 LB
432,0007T °

HMEEER2011F481HTK B E
20123 H31 B IEFEAREE A= B
B #)71,119,043,0007T K & 2012
FIANBILEFEZ MG HBLHEE
299,960,000~ HEERHER- S E - I
TRIAMEWER201MF4A18 THK
REBERAED 2 &8 W NS
MMIERBEE ZIBA -
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37.ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY 37
CONTROLLED ENTITIES/
SUBS'D'AR'ES (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of the
Group had Grand Destiny been acquired at the beginning of
the current year, the Directors have:

- calculated amortisation of intangible assets acquired
on the basis of the fair values arising in the initial
accounting for the business combination rather than
the carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition
financial statements; and

- determined borrowing costs based on the funding
levels, credit ratings and debt/equity position of the
Group after the business combination.

38.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38.E2

During the reporting period, the Group entered into the following
transactions with its related party:

(a) Transactions during the reporting period:

WEBEHEEER WS

NE] )

© (%)

R ERAFREZ TREEE  REER
SEZ [BE ] Walafk E50:

- BUOFARERBEHMELEZAR
S AE T FE UK BB = T8 A B 7% K
ERREEZEEFERE
EIVEE CBH M

- REEXBAHRAKREZEENK
¥ ERARRER AR RE
ERERA-

EREEALTZRS

WEHA AERBEEFBR TR LA TRS

1

(a) BEHMAZRS:

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Rental expense paid to Yongheng yxEER (M) R
Development (Note i) and its subsidiary EffE mzHEMX 765 1,020
Fair value change of contingent consideration K&k B3 E (HzFi) 2
from Yongheng Development (Note i) FARBRARES 74,154 -
Other loan interest income received from BYCKEBEERE (M) 2
Yongheng Development (Note i) H At B A B WA - (428)
74,919 592

The above transactions were made on terms mutually
agreed between both parties.

Note:

Yongheng Development is a substantial shareholder of the
Company.
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38.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration of key management personnel and Directors
is disclosed in Note 11 and the Directors considered they
are the sole management personnel of the Group. The
remuneration of the Directors and other members of key
management is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individual and market
trends.

Amount due from Yongheng Development and compensation
receivable are included in other receivables and the details of
terms are set out in Note 26.

Amounts due from (to) an associate / a jointly controlled
entity and a joint venture are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The details of terms are set
out in Notes 22 and 27 respectively.

[\
1/
lll
'“ (L]
k.
-
|

3BEABEEBEALTZRS @

(b)

(c)

(d)

TEEBEAEME

TZERABREZTZMENMENA
BE-EFRREERAEEE—NE
BAR - EERHEMTEEEARBZH
M HME S REENALTZRRR

MZBEEE -

FEMOK 1B 8 R KIA R B E S &
AN E A W TR B R AR R B A
26 °

FEU (FEFH) —MB & AR/ —HER
THEER—EEEADESEHRIER
AERE B SRR3R - HEE AR D 5
AR FE22 827 ©

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2012-2013 Annual Report 179



r
- g8 ==
- N

d

—_—

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n‘/-_r\

ST RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2013 & Z2013F3831H L EE

Lk 2O AT
39.0PERATING LEASES 30.ESHERH
ARRANGEMENTS
(a) The Group as lessor (a) *EBEHEAHBAA
The Group leased its investment properties, as set out in MK FE18FTE  REBIRBLEHER
Note 18, under operating lease arrangements with leases HHMAEREME KHrEAEFTH
negotiated for terms ranging from 3 to 8 years. The terms R3EBF - MHERK—MMEKEL,IK
of the leases generally also require the tenants to pay ERNTHEL BRXRELS REE
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments A
according to the prevailing market conditions.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RBERR AEBEEBEFITBEEHNZ
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum REFEHEESWET -
lease payments.
2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BETT
Within one year 1F K 884 168
In the second to fifth years, inclusive BE2EESF (BEEREWSF) 3,401 12
Over five years 5L E 2,337 -

6,622 180

(b)

Net property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$502,000 (2012: HK$238,000). Properties
held at the end of the reporting period are expected to
generate rental yields of 1% to 4% (2012: 1% to 4%) on
an ongoing basis. All of the properties held have committed
tenants for the next 1 year to 8 years (2012: next 1 year to
6 years).

The Group as lessee

Certain office premises of the Group were leased under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms of 1 to 7 years. Rentals are fixed for
the relevant lease term. The minimum lease payment under
operating lease for rented premises during the year ended
31 March 2013 is HK$5,832,000 (2012: HK$5,491,000).

FRERERAT
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39.0PERATING LEASES
ARRANG E M E NTS (Continued)

(b) The Group as lessee (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under

30.8EHEZH @

(b) AEBEREMEA ()

RB|ERR AEERBETEIUELZ
HEZRKRZEESAZDNHB RN

non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: N
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year 1R 10,413 5,197
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FL2EFSF (BIEERWE) 8,380 7,318
Over five years S E 3,833 2,017
22,626 14,532
40.COMMITMENTS 40,7 IE
2013 2012
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Contracted for but not provided in the EHENBRNGEEMBERE L
consolidated financial statements B
Capital expenditure in respect of: BEARFX:
Investment in an associate REtE AR ZI8E 140,893 140,095
Property, plant and equipment Y- B MEE 94,622 18,671
235,515 158,766
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41.PLEDGE OF ASSETS MEERH
Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged to THREEEECERAERARERERT
secure bank borrowings of the Group. BEZER
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Property, plant and equipment LERN N 8,741 2,410
Intangible assets — exclusive rights of operations of EFEE—BRE BRR
piped Gas Fuel 4 RE A 2,139 2,238
Bank deposits |ITFER 6,311 5,390
Prepaid lease payments in respect of land use TR zENES
rights 10,144 10,336
27,335 20,374
42.EVENTS AFTER THE END OF 2. EHARRBRSIE
REPORTING PERIOD
(a) Equity transfer agreement (a) REEZEH=

On 3 April 2013, Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Civigas"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Xi'an Yanliang District Government (“Yanliang
Government”, the minority shareholder of Xi‘an Zhongmin
Gas Co., Limited (“Xi'an Zhongmin”), a 70.00% owned
subsidiary of the Group), entered into an equity transfer
agreement pursuant to which Yanliang Government
agreed to transfer its 9.15% equity interests in Xi'an
Zhongmin to Beijing Civigas at the consideration of
approximately RMB9,103,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,250,000). The consideration will be settled by the
transfer of not more than 29.00% equity interests in Fu
Ping Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. ("Fu Ping"), an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to Yanliang
Government.
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42.EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity transfer agreement (Continued)

On the same day, Shaanxi Provincial Natural Gas Co.,
Ltd. (“Shaanxi Gas”), an independent third party to the
Group, and Yanliang Government also entered into an
equity transfer agreement pursuant to which Yanliang
Government agreed to transfer its 6.88% equity interests
in Xi'an Zhongmin to Shaanxi Gas. Beijing Civigas; Yanliang
Government and Shaanxi Gas then entered into the
capital injection agreement pursuant to which Shaanxi
Gas subscribed the registered capital of RMB22,080,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$27,289,000) by injecting
the assets capital of approximately RMB54,902,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$67,853,000) into Xi‘an
Zhongmin, increasing its equity interests in Xi‘an Zhongmin
from 6.88% to 40.00%. Beijing Civigas and Yanliang
Government maintain registered capital and equity interests
in Xi'an Zhongmin decrease from 79.15% to 51.00% and
13.97% to 9.00%, respectively. After completion of the
capital injection transaction, the total registered capital of
Xi'an Zhongmin increased from RMB40,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$49,436,000) to RMB62,080,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$76,725,000) and will
remain as a subsidiary of the Group.

Settlement deed for Profit Guarantee

On 8 April 2013, the Company and Yongheng Development
entered into the settlement deed (as supplemented by
the supplemental settlement deed on 16 May 2013)
pursuant to which, among others, (i) the security created
by the share charge shall be discharged and released in
the manner provided in the release; and (i) the Company
shall waive the compliance by Yongheng Development of
its obligations under the agreement dated 13 June 2011
respect of the acquisition of the sale share in relation
to the Profit Guarantee in the manner provided in the
release; (iii) Yongheng Development and the Company
shall appoint the escrow agent to hold and deal with the
Consideration Shares of 1,727,729,582 of the Company's
shares in accordance with the terms of the escrow letter;
and (iv) the consideration shares shall be held and dealt
with by the escrow agent in accordance with the terms of
the settlement deed. Further details of the settlement deed
are set out in the Company’s circular dated 8 July 2013.The
settlement deed was approved by the members in special
general meeting date 24 July 2013.

A2 REBARESIEH 2

(a) REERIHZH &)

RH NEBZBYE=TREE XA
[ AER AR ([BEAXAR]) LM
REME] — M RESE T Bt
BREBRNAEEZRESEALTHPR
6.88% M A FTRAXAR LR F
R B RET AR RARIREGE LI
BB WE BIRAXRARIGAEE
B AR AR 54,902,000 (FE R L
75 #67,853,000T) IEABRALZFRR
REA LR R ARK22,080,0007T (#8
B A 27,289,000 ) W A
K-HERALZHRRORA#E RS @
6.88%IENNZE40.00% -t R REM R
BRSHEFEEERALTHR ZEME
K EERAZRROBRAERED R
H79.15% ~ & £51.00%13.97% ~
[£%E9.00% - TR IBEER R F& A
ZHRZEAAMEARAEBR AR
40,000,00070 (& R & B
49,436,000 ) MME AR E
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EIPAEPNGIE
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(b) FMBERREZEHFRE
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B (K2013F5A16H 2
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HRBETHEA2011E6A138EBY
BEEROZHEBETEBEIBRE
£ (K EERERQRBIZRBLE
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42.EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Warrants subscription agreement

On 8 April 2013, the Company and Ping Da Development
Limited (the “Subscriber”), a company wholly-owned by
Dr. Mo Shikang, an executive director of the Company,
entered into a warrants subscription agreement pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
issue and allot to the Subscriber, and the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, an aggregate of
1,135,000,000 warrants conferring the rights to subscribe
for an aggregate of 1,135,000,000 subscription shares at
the initial subscription price of HK$0.205 per subscription
share (subject to adjustment). The warrants issue price is
HK$0.01 per warrant and the gross proceeds from the
warrants subscription of HK$11,350,000 will be payable by
the Subscriber in cash upon warrants completion. Further
details of the warrants subscription agreement are set out
in the Company's circular dated 8 July 2013. The warrants
subscription agreement was approved by the members in
special general meeting date 24 July 2013.

Other matters

On 25 April 2013, Fujian An Ran Gas Investment Co., Ltd.,
a jointly controlled entity of the Group, established F¥%
BZL R B REERABMRAF (Nanjing County An Ra Clean
Energy Co., Ltd.*) in Nanjing County, Fujian Province.
The registered capital is RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,180,000). It is principally engaged in
the research and development of clean energy.

On 4 May 2013, Mian Zhu Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, established and
registered PU)IlH RSB B 2 E (Sichuan Zhongmin Gas
Co., Ltd.*) in Chengdu, Sichuan Province. Its registered
capital is RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,472,000). It is principally engaged in LPG business.

On 9 May 2013, Yunnan Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, established and registered
EEEmPRBLIABMRAE (Yunnan Kunlun Zhongmin
Gas Co., Ltd.*) in Kunming, Yunnan Province. Its registered
capital is RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,359,000). It is principally engaged in LPG business.

* For identification purpose only
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43.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 43.75 N A) Z B #E AR R &k
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the RABRBMERAR P BARRBE BT

reporting period includes:

2013 2012
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz BB N 604 1,033
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR Z8E a 519,192 889,559
AFS financial assets AN ESHEE 54 54
519,850 890,646
Current assets mEEE
Deposits, prepayment and Ee BRAFRER
other receivables H b fE W K18 75,378 1,161
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE U B /BB A B R IE b 98,121 111,545
Bank balances and cash SRITEBRNES 34,632 68,454
208,131 181,160
Current liability BB (E
Other payables and accruals Hh FE 5 5R00A K FE AT RUIR 2,193 2,232
Net current assets mEBEEFE 205,938 178,928
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTEEME 725,788 1,069,574
Capital and reserves A& A K 7
Share capital il 406,697 406,697
Reserves & c 319,091 662,877
Total equity Mg 725,788 1,069,574
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR B R R M aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 i Z2013F3A31HILLFE

43.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 43.78 N B Z B AR R #R &=
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (a) ABARZERE
2013 2012
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
3T BET T BT T
Unlisted investments, at cost JEETIRE KK 889,559 889,559

Less: Impairment loss recognised on W BMIRE 2B ERREEE

investment (370,367) -
519,192 888,559
(b) Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) FEURFIE A BIFRIE
The balances are unsecured, interest free and repayable on EHBEER 2B RNEKREE-
demand.
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43.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
(c) Reserves

The following table sets out the components of the reserves
of the Company and the movements thereof during the
current and prior year.

22 AQRERBRIN 2 BERRE= )R
U :

4378 1 8] 2 B F5 AR O ¥R 3=

(%)

(c) B

TREHIAR R FEE 2 AR RER
REERBEFEZES-

Contributed Share-based  Investments
Share surplus Capital compensation  revaluation ~ Accumulated
premium (Note) reserve reserve reserve losses Total
E4RH URBZ T2
B EE (zE) ERGE HemE REERRE ZitER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB BT BB BB BB BB
At 1 April 2011 R2011E4A1H 615,523 101,688 7,482 22,878 21 (276,993) 470,599
Loss for the year rEEBR - - - - - (21,958) (21,958)
Other comprehensive ~ RFEELM2HE
expenses for the year ~ FIY
Loss on fair value THEESHE
changes of AFS BERR
financial assets 2y EE - - - - 2) - 2)
Total other rEEEMER
comprehensive FYBE
expenses for the
year - - - - 2) - 2)
Total comprehensive TEE2AAY
expense for the year i - - - - 2) (21,958) (21,960)
Issue of consideration  E{THRERH
shares 214,238 - - - - - 214238
Effect of share options ~ ERRIEX N F &
lapsed - - - (6,260) - 6,260 -
At31March 2012 and ~ #201243A31H
1 April 2012 R2012F4A1H 829,761 101,688 7,482 16,618 19 (292,691) 662,877
Loss and other rEEBRRAM
comprehensive 2ERX
expense for the year - - - - - (343,786) (343,786)
At 31 March 2013 B2013E3A31H 829,761 101,688 7,482 16,618 19 (636,477) 319,091
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ir e IR AR AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 & £2013F3H31HILLEE

43.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 43.75 N A) Z B #E AR R &k

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(c) Reserves (Continued)

Note:

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the
nominal value of the Company's shares issued and the value
of net assets of the underlying subsidiaries acquired. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a company
may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for believing
that (i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; (ii) the realisable value of the
Company'’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium account.

44 NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group had
received dividend income from an associate of approximately
HK$12,211,000 which was settled through a current account
with the associate included in the amount due from an associate
(Note 22) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Part of the consideration for the acquisition of a subsidiary
that occurred during the year ended 31 March 2012 comprised
issuance of shares and set-off of other loan to Yongheng
Development. Further details of the acquisition are set out in
Note 37c.

As at 31 March 2013, the distribution from available-for-sale
investments of approximately HK$13,887,000 is net-off with
corresponding other payable in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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HZE2012F3A318LEFE  AEEE 5 —H
& N B UER A% B UL A 49 8 12,211,000
TL R BR B S 1B B E N B 2 1 R BR 4
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45.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. T 2B F

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 March M20135F R201263HA31H A AR 2 X &

2013 and 2012 are as follows: MEARFELT
Place of
incorporation/  Capital contributed  Group effective

Name of company establishment by the Group interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
EMRL/

AL RIS rEEEE FREERESR H# g TEEHR

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

ERPRBFERAH PRCY US$60,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% - - Investment holding
(Beijing Civigas*) e 60,000,000% 7. REER

BUMEERREBRAR  PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of
(Mian Zhu City Han Wang ¥ AR 5,000,000 Gas Fuel
Natural Gas Co., Ltd.*) PEREERT

e RMRBBLE Man PRCH RMB16,308,800  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of
Zhu Zhongmin Gas Co,, B¢ AE16,308,8007 Gas Fuel
Ltd.*) PERBERE

BUMERRAZRERR PRC RMB15,000,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Installation of Gas Fuel
{E/AR] (Mian Zhu City Long 7 EI* AR 15,000,007 distribution facilities
Teng Gas Installation Co., ERMREBRE
Ltd.*)

HEMERMFAERAA (Yan  PRCY RMB20,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of
Ting Zhongmin Gas Co.,  #E* A K %520,000,0007T Gas Fuel and installation
Ltd.*) of Gas Fuel distribution

facilities
PERBERRREZMR
EiERIE

ENGRRIERERAE (Bei PRCY RMB6,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of
Chuan County Zhongmin R E# AE6,000,0007T Gas Fuel
Gas Co., Ltd.®) PERAEERR

BERTRMAFRAA PRC* RMB20,080,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of
(Chongging Zhongmin Gas ¥ AE%20,080,00070 Gas Fuel and installation
Co., Ltd.*) of Gas Fuel distribution

facilities
PEREERAREEZRR
EiERIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR B R R M aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 aizowim 31HIELFE

45.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continved) A5. F BB A A (@)

Place of
incorporation/  Capital contributed  Group effective
Name of company establishment by the Group interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
EMARL/
NAER [oRich3 FEEIE AEEEREZ E# B TEEHR
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
BETEPRIMRBRAA  PRCH RMB10,000,000  80% 80% - - 80% 80% Distribution and supply of
(Fu Ping) i AR 10,000,000 Gas Fuel
PEREERE
BRREMAERAF (Xan PRC RMB40,000,000  70% 70% - - 10% 70% Sales and distribution of
Zhongmin*) HE AR %40,000,00070 Gas Fuel, design of Gas
Fuel pipeline and related
maintenance
HERDHME  REHER
BERETREER
EEPRMAERAH (Yan  PRC RMB10,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of
Bian Zhongmin Gas Co.,,  FE AE10,000,0007 Gas Fuel
Ltd. ) PEREERE
BlrRAETERD A PRC RMB18,180,000  55% 55% - - 55% 55% Transportation, distribution
(MElLHRR]) ("Huaihua B AR18,180,0007C and retail of bottled LPG
Zhongmin”) (" Huaihua Bg PHERAETER
Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*) &)
EMERAAERAA PRC RMB76,000,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution
(Guizhou Zhongmin Gas AR 76,000,000 and retail of bottled LPG
Co, Ltd.%) B HHRRETER
R
EETRMAERAA PRC RMB7,560,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution
(Yunnan Zhongmin Gas Co., & AR 7,560,000 and retail of bottled LPG
Ltd.*) BR DERRKTER
R
BlhERARERER  PRC RMB26,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution
A7) (Huaihua Zhongmin & AR 26,000,000 and retail of bottled LPG
Petroleum Gas Supply Co., Bl P HERRETER
Ltd.*) ¢

FRERERAT
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45.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continved)

A5. F BB A A (@)

Place of
incorporation/  Capital contributed  Group effective
Name of company establishment by the Group interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
EMARL/
NAER Rt FEEEE FEEERER E# B TEEHR
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
BETRMABRAT™  PRC RMB1,000,000  28%  28% - - 8%  28% Wholesale and retail of LPG
(Xupu Zhongmin Gas Co., AR #1,000,0007C BERTERLE
Ltd.*)
FNTKEBLERHEERER PRC RMB125,000,000  100% - - - 100% - Lottery agency
A8 (Shenzhen Le Cai*) AR 125,000,000 PERE
AT EEFRSEREER PRC RMB10,800,000  100% - - - 100% - Lottery agency
A7) (Shenzhen Jin Cai*) & AE10,800,0007 VERE
RNFHEBTFREREFAE PRC RMB18,000,000  100% - 45% - 55% - Lottery agency
BRAA (CaiCailer) AR 18,000,000 PERE

# Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC.
#  Sino-foreign joint equity enterprises registered in the PRC.

##  The Group obtained control through investment in non
wholly-owned subsidiary, Huaihua Zhongmin.

*  For identification purpose only

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the
years and at the end of both years.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their respective
place of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

fORPEEMZINEBEERE-
o RPEEMzFIEEREDREK

W REEEBNIFEEREMBARIRE
FREERGEE-

* EHES

FAMBEEAFE TS WEARBMERETT
EAEBES-

ERFmEMBAREIEAEEZBMEMAKL
/PRI B o

EERRLERMIIZARB 2B RRHE A
KEZXEREEFEREATE WHiEH
HMBARZHIF EERREEERB
NI
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Five-Year Financial Summary

T FBBFEE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 8{£2013%3A31BILFE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the five
financial years ended 31 March 2013.

REEBZ2013F3A3 1B LR EAMBEFE 22 H
BXENEE BENMFERERBENT

Year ended 31 March

BZE3AMBLEE
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT AT A%Tr AETT
RESULTS E |
Turnover ] 1,518,889 1,119,002 853,868 706,250 579,510
(Loss) profit before tax BrEiAT (E598) & 7 (542,742) 349,156 71,475 330,006 51,283
Income tax (credit) expenses s’ (e X 141,171 (43,728) (23,832) (20,248) (12,046)
(Loss) profit for the year RNEF (BE)EN (401,571) 305,428 47,643 309,758 39,237
Attributable to: T L
Owners of the Company RAEHER A (421,502) 296,815 45,639 300,614 35,902
Non-controlling interests FEVERR B 2R 19,931 8,613 2,004 9,144 3,335
(401,571) 305,428 47,643 309,758 39,237
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- &E- -&8fF &
CONTROLLING INTERESTS FEFE AR
Total assets BEBE 2,268,701 2,730,973 1,769,743 1,481,764 1,530,375
Total liabilities BERR (839,179)  (900,700)  (615,188)  (489,117)  (828,237)
Net assets BEEFE 1,429,522 1,830,273 1,154,555 992,647 702,138
Non-controlling interests IEIE A (109,833) (81,760) (71,049) (64,041) (68,810)
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Principal Activities |
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Piped Gas Fuel
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Lottery Agency
FERE

Structure

ZR18

Bottle Retail
mETE
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City Gas Pipeline
Network
ReEpmmREERS

Provision of
Piped Gas Fuel

RHUEERR

Construction of
Gas Pipelines
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Traditional
Welfare Lottery
BHRENER

Keno Games Lottery
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